MOUNT CARMEL

9‘(,0/(:“: % pot A pa ot 4G s

BOARD OF MAYOR AND ALDERMEN MEETING AGENDA

March 27, 2025 - 5:30 P.M.
City Hall, 100 East Main St.
1. Call to Order

2. Invocation

3. Pledge of Allegiance

4. Roll Call

5. Welcome from the Mayor

8. Approval and/or Correction of the minutes of the Board of Mayor and Aldermen Meeting dated February
27, 2025, monthly financial report, and department reports.

7. Visitors’ Comments:

8. Old Business:
NONE

9. New Business:

A. DISCUSSION AND CONSIDERATION: Police Department Surplus Vehicle Disposal

B. DISCUSSION AND CONSIDERATION: Interlocal Agreement with City of Kingsport for Residential Refuse
Collection Services

C. DISCUSSION AND CONSIDERATION: Resolution 25-647- A Resolution to set the Sewer Rate and
Charges for the Town of Mount Carmel, TN with an effective date of April 1, 2025

D. DISCUSSION AND CONSIDERATION: Resolution 25-648: A Resolution of the Town of Mount Carmel, TN
Adopting a Public Records Policy

E. DISCUSSION AND CONSIDERATION: Resolution 25-649: A Resolution of the Town of Mount Carmel, TN
Adopting a Cybersecurity Policy

F. DISCUSSION AND CONSIDERATION: Resolution 25-650: A Resolution of the Town of Mount Carmel, TN
Adopting a Fund Balance Policy

G. DISCUSSION AND CONSIDERATION: Parks Committee Meeting

10. Board Comments: Mayor, Vice-Mayor, Aldermen, Staff Comments: City Manager, Asst. City Manager,
City Attorney

11. Adjourn



MOUNT CARMEL

Q«/;duz Ve /u.t(/cauu Adac?)

TOWN OF MOUNT CARMEL

BOARD OF MAYOR AND ALDERMEN MEETING MINUTES

A regularly scheduled meeting of the Town of Mount Carmel, Tennessee Board of Mayor and Aldermen
was held at Town of Mount Carmel City Hall, 100 East Main Street, on February 27, 2025, at 5:30pm

CALL TO ORDER
5:30 pm by Mayor John Gibson

INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
Led by Vice-Mayor Bare and Alderman Shugart

ROLL CALL:

BMA Present | Absent City Administration Present
Alderman Darby Patrick Jim Stables, City Manager
Alderman Philip Binstock Allen Coup, City Attomey
Alderman James Cross Tyler Williams, Asst. City Manager/CFO/Recorder
Alderman Mindy Shugart
Alderman Jim Gilliam
Vice-Mayor Jim Bare
Mayor John Gibson

ANRNANENANANAN

WELCOME FROM THE MAYOR
Mayor Gibson welcomed everyone

APPROVAL and/or correction of the January 23, 2025, Board of Mayor and Aldermen meeting
minutes, departmental and financial reports.

Motion: Alderman Shugart

Second: Alderman Binstock

Approved: All present voting in favor

VISITOR COMMENTS
NONE



OLD BUSINESS

NONE

NEW BUSINESS

A

DISCUSSION AND CONSIDERATION: Town Administrator/Manager Agreement by Resolution 25-
645

This resolution concludes James Stables interim time as Town Administrator-Town Manager, and
establishes certain benefits, certain conditions of employment, and set working conditions for him
as the permanent Town Administrator-Town Manager.

Motion: Alderman Shugart
Second: Alderman Binstock

AYES NAYS OTHER

Alderman Darby Patrick

Alderman Philip Binstock

Alderman James Cross

Alderman Mindy Shugart

Alderman Jim Gilliam

Vice-Mayor Jim Bare

ANIANINE NI NENEN

Mayor John Gibson

DISCUSSION AND CONSIDERATION: FEMA Hazard Mitigation Assistance Grant program
participation by Resolution 25-646

This resolution authorizes the Town to participate in the FEMA Hazard Mitigation Assistance Grant
Program. The Town is seeking to obtain federal/state grant assistance to acquire backup
generators for City Hall, EMS building, and Police/Fire Station. Grant is funded 75% from FEMA,
12.5% from TEMA, and 12.5% local match.

Motion: Vice-Mayor Bare
Second: Alderman Patrick

AYES NAYS OTHER

Alderman Darby Patrick

Alderman Philip Binstock

Alderman James Cross

Alderman Mindy Shugart

Alderman Jim Gilliam

Vice-Mayor Jim Bare

SHSNSE SN S S

Mayor John Gibson




C. DISCUSSION AND CONSIDERATION: Acquisition of Rental Press for Wastewater Plant
Solids Management/Handling

The purpose of this consideration and authorization is to continue bridging the gap of services
(bio-solids handling), ensuring we are regulatorily compliant and responsibly functional a the

wastewater facility, while we continue to seek more permanent solutions. Recommendation is
Option 1. Provider is PW Tech. Cost is $97,000 for six months ($15,000.00 per month) and a

$7,000.00 one-time mobilization fee. Up to $10,000 of monthly rental fee applied to the future

purchase of a new unit.

Motion: Vice-Mayor Bare
Second: Alderman Binstock

AYES NAYS OTHER

\

Alderman Darby Patrick

Alderman Philip Binstock

Alderman James Cross

Alderman Mindy Shugart

Alderman Jim Gilliam

Vice-Mayor Jim Bare

SNENANENENEN

Mayor John Gibson

ADJOURN
Motion: Alderman Shugart at 5:47 pm
Second: Alderman Binstock
Approved: All present voting in favor

Approve:

John Gibson, Mayor

Attest:

Tyler Williams, City Recorder



GENERAL FUND:

MOUNT CARMEL

e

L] /o/-/.»~i et Aot i

FINANCIAL REPORT

TOWN OF MOUNT CARMEL, TN

Month ending 02/28/2025

Checking Account (First Community)

Checking Account (First Horizon)

LGIP Investment Account

Capital Outlay Savings (First Horizon)

Drug Fund (First Horizon)

Special Drug Fund (First Horizon)

TOTAL:

SEWER FUND:

Checking Account (First Horizon)

Savings/Bond Reserve 2014 (First Horizon)

Savings/Sewer Savings 2014 (First Horizon)

TOTAL:

BALANCE:

$2,148.15

$2,625,941.86

$5,079,060.98

$389,096.15

$10,034.16

$1,038.95

$8,107,320.25

BALANCE:

$1,077,042.99

$104,743.02

$528,607.55

$1,710,393.56

GRAND TOTAL CASH ON HAND:

Current Savings Rate: 3.20%
Current LGIP Rate: 4.34%

$9,817,713.81



%81 TTE- (£0's€7'29) (£0°5€228) (zoeer'T) 00°000'02 SONURASY SNOSUE|[3DSIA 0669¢
%SE'LSE- (6£'9€€'68) (6£:9€€'TT) (96'9v8'12) 00°000'sZ sBuiuies 1581931 00T9€
%00'007 00'005'T 00'0 00'0 00'005'T suonngLuo) bnia 00zsE
%E0'6L 09'085'T (ov'6TH) 00°0 00°000C 51500 puy S3Ul4 1N AUN0D 0915€
%00'00T 00°000°T 00°0 000 00°000'T sauld pajey Bnug ob1SE
%6069 06'2LT'LT (o1°22L's) 00'0 00"000°5¢ JUSWADI0JUT PI3CS OJ0Yd XaUpay [48 £
%96'SL 6€086'£€ (19'610'21) (05'¥68'0) 00°000°0S $1S0D) puy saul4 HNoD A 0TTSE
%00°00T 00°08 000 000 00708 SRS 104 sabiey) - [04U0) [ewiuy 01SbE
%00'001 00008 00°0 00’0 00008 994 uoneyD 1111 24223
%00°00T 00°000°€€ 000 000 00°000°c€ penuo) AemybiH 2115 0TEVE
%86°6¢- (00°566'2) (00'566'22) 000 00°000'02 anuaAzYy jJuslpedsq a4 T 743
%000 000 (00°000's) 000 00°000°S suoneuoq Asesqn 6T/E€
%T1T'8- (££959) (€£'959'8) (¢1'esL's) 000008 spuny eaiy pedw] jenads 765€€
%65 b 98'¥52'92 (b1'SpT'ee) 000 00°000°09 Sexel JO Nay] ul sjuawAeq eal 165€€
196png on (6p'2es'T) (6v"2eS'T) (b8'v61) 000 uonez|uIspoly uonepodsuel| 865€€
%T6'8C 0486901 (0g°10€'90) (60'602'€) 00°000'2€ Xe] 2uljoses 3jels 785¢€€
%08'67 €6'2L9'ty (¢ozeg'zin) (90°088'€T) 00°000°091 SNUASY PiY 333135 Aels TSGEE
%00'00T 000041 00°0 000 0070021 xe| l99g 81eI5 0ESEE
Y% L'8C ¥1'828'981 (98'1L1'E9%) (2b'051'29) 00°000'055 Xe| saes aels 015€€
%EL'LLT- (09'9v5's) (09'9v5°2) (09°9%5'2) 00'000°C 12-0ZAd ALNIEGYSIA TH OSHD 6THEE
%00'00T 00°000'002 000 000 00°000'00Z ANV Sdd1 3LV1S X423
%EE'EE 00°009'T (00'002') 00'0 00°008'% Aed aweiddns 1e15 0THEE
%LTLT 00'v€9'S (00°920°sT) (57'88'T) 0009907 PeIUo) |BIS0d 16T
%00°00T 00°000°0¥C 000 000 00°000°0+T sjueln Sjels 06TEE
%92'G- (00°89¢) (00'89¢€'2) (00°5€2) 00°000'2 syuuRd bulpjing 019¢€
%0L'TY S9°'16T'62 (se'808'0) (¢T'eo0’eT) 00°000°0£ Xe| ssiyoueld AL S(qed [403 53
%ISbb 16'28b'¥C (60°215'0€) (69°52£'1) 00°'000'sS Xel J33g 3[ess|joum ALY
%9£°SC 00'9%5'96T (00'p5p'848) (5£'60159) 00°000'ZL xe| sajes (200 0191¢
%/6'88 00'¥IT'E (00°98¢€) (00"98€) 00°005°€ e, doid UQ 350D HNoD puy ‘1sa433u] 00€1€
%EL'ET §/'06b'6 (S52'605'0€) (ev'ees’e) 00°000°0 (s1eap Joid) sexey Apadold 00zIE
%952 ¥6'+9L'8€ (90°SET'vLH'T) (00'096'08¢) 00°000°€TS"T (uaunD) sexel Apsdoud 00TT€
pazijeayun % pazijeaiun pazijesy dlA pozieay AL pajewysy jejol

%£9'99 aanetedwo) Ajyjuoly puny |esausn : pund
€40 1 Sbed sz0z Meniged

Wd £€:7 520Z/9/¢ :awil /ajeq K10 - senuaaay jo Juswisjels iAq paaeas)
SWwel|iIp 1SJAL HEL

[ow.e) JUNOY JO UMO]

SBNUBASY JO JuaWRjels Do :awep aejdwea)



%TS'ET L9'SLT'8V6 (E€PET'P80'E) (8£°€56'88S) 00'01€'TE0Y 0TT :pung.od [e30)
%ST'pT 86'€8T (zo'911'1) (€€°¥ST) 00°00€'T SNUIASY SUOREIUNLIWIOI[BL 1669€
pazijeajun % pazijeaiun pazijeay Q1A pazijesy QLW pajeuwisy |ejo)

%L9°99 aanesedwo) Ajyjuopw pund |eiausy OTT :pung
€ 40 7 9bey ST0Z Aeniqoay

Wd ££:Z §202/9/¢ :2wi)/3eq A1) - sanuaAay Jo Juswnels oM :Aq pajeas)
Swelljip 1AL HE

|ow.1e) JUNO JO UMOL SONUDATY JO JUaWRlR)S DO :oweN ajejdwal



%L£9'0L 00°000'bTL'T (000g€114) (18°85t'£8) 00°0£E’'STY'T TIby ipund 104 [R30L
%60'£292¢- (60°229'2€) (60°222'2€) (00°052) 00°00T 1aMaS - SNO3UE|(SISily 662.€
%L9'9T- (00°000'T) (00°0002) 000 000009 sea4 dey Jamas 962LE
%00'00T 00'0£L'8¥¥'T 000 00'0 00°0£4'8VH'T vdav sezLE
%002t 00°092'1 (o0'ok2'T) (00°081) 00°000°€ s34 Bupunoxny v6TLE
%5628 95'+00'81€ (b¥'566'919) (80°251'c8) 00°000'596 sableyD a0IAIBS JaMIS o1zsE
%0, Y18~ (Lb'£9¢'02) (Lb'198'22) (e£71L8'€) 00°005°C sbulules s3] 0079¢€
pazijeayun % pazijeasun pazijeay GLA pazijeay AL pejewysy |ejol

%/£9°99

aanesedwo) A|YIuoW

pund 2mas ¢TIy i pund

€ Jo ¢ abed
Wd €€ 5202/9/¢
SWelllIm JRIAL

aun ] /a3eq

esn

SZ0Z Aenigay
A1) - senuaAy JO JULWIRIRIS
[owIe) JUNO 4O UMO L

291 :Aq pajeas)

SaNUDAYY JO JUBWSIRLS DO :awep djejdwa)



000 000 0070 aAWATY
00'0 %0070 (007009'T) 00°0 {00°009'1) (00'009'T) 9zs
00'0 000 000 22J9WW0) JO Joquey) 0D supmeH
00°0 %00°00T 00'0 00°00S°Z (00"005‘2) (00'005'7) oL
00'0 00'0 00'0 uoneuoQ suszgl) 10iuss
00°000°€E %00°00T 00°0 00'000°€€ (00'000"cE) (00°000°cE) A
000 000 00°0 Aouaby 904nosay ueuny N1 1sd14
000 %00°0 (000050 000 (00°005?) (00°005°2) (444
00°0 000 00'0 PUISI JuswdoRAQ UL Isiid
000 %8196 (00°59) 00°S€9'T (00700£'T) (00"00£'1) 0z
000 00°0 000 sab.ey) 0IAIRS Hueg
€9°2LV'T %6Z'20TE SE'€09'e sereeL's (00'021) (00°0zT) 169
000 000 00°0 weibold Aajes
000 %00'0 (00"005'27) 00°0 (00"005'2) (00°005'2) £6S
00'0 00°0 000 $350)) |esieiddeay
00'0 %66°S8 (z9'092'1) 8E'6EL'L (00'000’6) (00"000'6) 185
000 000 0070 sdueINsuL
00°0 %bE'89 (5z°e/5'6€) SL'9TH'S8 (00'000'52T) (00°000‘s21) 018
000 00°0 00°0 sa2IAIRS Bullasulbug
00°0 %00°0 (00'000"%) 000 (00°000"%) (00'000") T
000 00°0 000 S3DIAJDS UOIEDIUNWIWOD J3Y10 puy auoyda|al
ST'T6T %S9'2E (09'0/8'1) 0b'621'T (00'000°¢) (00°000'E) 74
000 000 000
ST'T9L'T %E6 9 (0€°£55'6) 0L°97b'8 (007000°8T) (00"000'81) ove
00°0 0070 00'0 uonej@y JNqnd
00'592 %09°68 (€6'665T) £0'00¥'22 (00°000'52) (00°000'527) 9€z
000 00'0 000 sang
000 %08'28 (00"889) 00721E'E (00°000'v) (00°000"%) 4
JUDWILLIBAOY) [BIBURSY) (Q00TH
asueIqUNDU] pasn % ajqejieAy spung sasuelquinoug 396png |ejoL sjuswpusawy »[qo 13jua) »3([qo0
/lempy /saanyipuadxy [326png Jeuiblig qns 150D
aiW alA

%£9°99 tanpesedwo?) Alyyuop 01T : pund
LT Jo T abed ST0Z Aienigay
Wd S€:2 5202/9/€ awy) /ajeq sadueIqunNdUg pue sainjipuadxy Jo Juswidlels 091 'Aq pajeal)
SWwey||Ipn JejAL HEL [dwae) JUNOLY JO UMOL

aInjipuadxg Jo Juswsalels Do awel ejdwa]



000 00'0 0070 SSDIAIBS [RDIPSIN
00°0 %0052 (00°0sT1) 00'0S (00'002) (00°002) 152
00'0 00°0 000 abpnr AD
00°00% %£9°99 (007009'T) 00°002'¢ (00°008%) (00"008'%) 0S¢
00°0 0070 000 BuisiHaapy
0v'L6 %L0'LY (06'285'1) 0T'2ZTH'T (00"000'€) (00'000°¢) LET
000 000 00'0 sang
00°0 %6b'8L (er'sto) 88°v8L (00'000'T) (00°000T) SET
00°0 0070 0070 SADINIBS GIM
000 %000 (00"000'1) 00'0 (00°000°1) (00'000°1) 12
00°0 0070 00'0 SIOIAIRS JRUIAIU]
[¥'06 % St (81°259) 8'TS (00700Z'1) (po'00Z'T) 91z
00'0 00°0 00°0 JoAe|y puy URWIRPIY JO S9-4
89916 %0989 (65'56€"Y) 409’6 (00'000%T) (00°000+T) 191
000 000 00°0 Bululel) puy uonednpg asAojdwg
00552 %0S"L (00°5¢25) 00°S/b (00°000°T) (00'000'T) 8b1
00'0 00’0 00'0 aouednsu] JuawAojdwsun
£6'09 %96°9Z1T 64'VET 6/'%€9 (00°008) (00°009) L1
0070 00°0 00°0 ueld Juawuainay aakoidwz
PE'60E'T %66'8T (26'€10'20) 80'986'8 (00"000°1€) (00'000'1€) vl
000 00'0 00'0 oouelnsuy aakojdwg
167/95'S %6268 (29'%1+'9) 8€'6G85'8€ (00"000'sY) (00°000'5P) Wl
00°0 00°0 00°0 (adeys sJakodwia) 1seO
0£'6/%'T %20°SS (£8'966'8) €T°€00'TT (00700002) (00'000'02) Wl
00°0 00'0 00°0 sabep
9E'EEY'0T %£9°85 (66°0€€’€0T) 10°699'9T (00'000°0S2) (00'000'052) 121
uonensiulWpY jepueuly  QOSTY
000 000 000 juswdinbg
00°0 %09'TH (00"000"9%T) 00°000"+0T (00°000°052) (00°000°052) 0v6
Jduelquindug pasn % alqe|ieAy spung sadueIqUnOU] 39bpng |ejoL sjulLIpuUlWyY p[q0 1ajua) Pa[qo
/tenpy /seanyipuadxa /326png JeuibLo qns 150D
alW alA

%Z£9°99 :aAReledwo) Alyuop OTT : pund
L1 Jo 7 abed §z0z Aeniqgad
Wd GE'Z §202/9/¢ }awl)/aeq saduelquindug pue sainjpuadxy Jo Juswslels 91 :Aq pajeas)
SWelf|Iip J91AL HEL [owLIe) JUNO JO UMO |

ainypuadx3 Jo Juswajeis Do ewep a3ejdwa)



00°0 000 0070 sabem
L£'092'92 %b9°ZS (86°26b'0LT) 707205'681 (00°000°09€) (00°000'09€) 14!
awnedsqg @llod 00TZY
00°0 00°0 000 Juawdinb3/poddns/ieindwo) maN
00'0 %/8'ET (co'eyt'T) 86£S€E (00°005'T) (00°005'1T) L¥6
00'0 00°0 000 juawdinbz
000 %ET'LE (129180 6°S8H'T (00°000%) (00'000't) 0v6
00'0 000 00'0 J21do) ases bunessdo
06'2L %+8'0b (Sv'£88) §5°219 (00°00S°T) (00°005'T) S79
00°0 00°0 00°0 Ssnosuej[EsIn
£¥'866 %T19'65T ¥T'P8E"T ¥Z'¥8E9 (00'000%) (00°000'%) 6Lt
000 00°0 00°0 sal|ddns samog Asuld
£9°€8¢ %90°'SS (99°886) YETITT (00'002'0) (00'002'D) [413
00°0 00°0 00'0 abesog puy saiddns o0
6LbLS %08'L (€6'510'2) L0%86'S (00°000'8) (00°000°8) 01€
00'0 000 000 S994 UOISSILWILLIOD)
L¥'69 %971°20T [4%57 [AN3 4 (007000'0) (00°000'2) 86¢
00'0 00°0 000 [oneL
000 %L9'6E (b7'805'T) 9/'166 (00'005'2) (00°005'2) 08z
000 000 0070 sBuiping aoueuajulely puy tiedsy
96'¥9¢ %29, (86°68T9) T0°018°E (00'000°0%) (00°000'05) 99¢
000 00°0 000 SRS Buluoz puy Buuueld
00522 %00"€0T 00°0S% 00°0St'ST (00°000'sT) (00°000'sT) V4
00’0 go'0 00'0 poddng alemyos/aiempley Joindwo)
T€00£'S %06'pE (€T°£12'9€) £8'789'61 (00°00%795) (00 00%'95) (474
00'0 000 00°0 s994 bunipny puy bBuiunosoy
000£24 %ST'S6 (5£'6681) §2°007'8€ (00°000°0%) (00°000'0) €5¢
00°0 000 00’0 SDIARS |eba
0526y %TE €] (05°£00°S) 057266'vC (00 000°0€) (00°000°0€) 414
Iguelquinduz pasn % a|qe|jieAay spung saoueliqundugz 326png |ejolL sjuswpuswy palqo 49JUd) P2[q0
/lenpy /seimypuadxy /3°6png Jeuiblio qns 150D
alw alA

%£9'99 taApRIRdWO) A|YIUO} OTT : pung
LT jo ¢ abed §Z0Z Atenigay
IWd §€°Z §20T/9/¢€ :Pwil/ajeq SsadoueIquINDUZ pue saJnjipuadxy Jo Juawslels Il :Aq p;yeal)
Sl J9IAL HEL [owae) Junop Jo uUMmo

ain)ipuadx3 Jo Juswalr)S DO :dweN ejdwa)



00'0 00'0 00'0 abeisod puy sayjddns 2210
9/°GTT %6811 T2°695 7T695°E (00°000°€) (00°000°€) 01€
00’0 000 000 [oAedL
000 %St"8E (s8'8€5'T) ST'196 (00°0057) (00"005"2) 08z
00°0 000 000 sBuipjing soueusiulely puy Jleday
06'6€T %96'76 (z6'550'1) 80b¥6'ET (00°000°ST) (00°000'ST) 992
000 00'0 000 Hoddng aiemyos/aiempiey Jandwo)
89°€/S %E9"98 (89'500'2) TEH66'CT {00°'000°sT) (00°000'ST) SsT
00°0 000 00°0 SIIAISS [BIIPBIN
00°0S %00°20T 000t 00°0TS (00°00%) (00°005) TS¢
000 000 00°0 SIDIAIRS UOHRDIUNWIWIOY) JSYIO puy suoydajel
ST'6ES %8T°€S (£0'6087) 16°06T'E (00°000"9) (00'000'9) 44
000 0070 000 sang
00'0 19bpng oN 05261 0S°26T 000 00°0 SEC
000 000 00’0 woo3
000 %CS¥6 (s2:92) ST'ETET (00"00b'T) (o0'00%'1) 6T¢C
00’0 000 000 SVIARS JRuBWI]
86'6L %66"Lb (z1°025) 886/ (00°000'T) (00°000'T) 91
000 000 000 Buurey). puy uoneonp3 s94ojdwy
00'048'S %/9°0C¢E 00°0€6'6 00°0EY b1 (00°005"%) (00'005"%) 8bT
00’0 000 000 3oUeINSU] JuaWAojdwaun
€9720T %86°0L (01°SbT) 06'bS€ (00°008) (00°008) fa4!
000 000 000 ue|d JuswaIny S940jdwg
08'166'T %ET 6C (61'610'PE) 18'086'€T (00"0008%) (00'000'8#) 134}
00'0 00'0 00'0 9ouesnsuy a9Aojdwig
L1'99T°€ %61°0€ (86'60£'25) 70°064'2Z (00°005°52) (00°005's£) 44!
000 00°0 00'0 (a1eys sehoidwa) iIseQ
8b'vL6'T %Ch' 8y (6L72Lp'ST) 1C°L2S'v1 (00°00070%) (00'000°0€) I
00’0 000 000 sabem awipsA0
96’6t %0T'C9 (0b"095°7) 09'6€H'TT (0000002} (00°00002) [44!
douelquindug pasn % a|qejieay spung saduelqunduy 326png |ej0L sjuslpuluwy »3Iqo 31ul) »alqo
/lenpy /sainyipuadxg /1abpng Jeuibuo qns 350D
[¢B17] ala

%£9'99 1aAnesedwo) Ajyuoly o e
L1 4o t abed Sz0T AMeniqag
Wd S£:Z §202/9/¢€ Wil /a3eq s@JueJquNoU3 pue sainyipusdxg jo Juswele}s I :Aq pajeas)
SWE||IM SBJAL HEEY {oluie) Junojy Jo umojp

2/mIpuadx3 Jo JuUsWNR)S DO :Pwep ajejdwa)



000 000 0070 sabep
$1°098' %9T°0S (99'758'SH) ¥E'SHT o (00"000°26) (00'000°26) 121
judwpedaq =14 00T
00'0 000 00'0 juswdinbg
00°0 %000 (00'0007) 000 (00'000'2) (00°000'0) 0v6
punj Bniga 6ZITH
00°0 000 0070 juswdinby
96°0ST %€£9°S6 (¥0'229'D) 96°LLE"LS (00700009} (00"000°09) ov6
00'0 00'0 00'0 12-0C AJ INVYO ALTTIGISIA IH OSHL
00°0 %E6'0ST 09°995°C 09'9%5°L (007000'S) (00"000's) S0L
00'0 00'0 00'0 4a1do)) ases Gupetsdo
6149 %0T1'9Z (80°84H'1T) 26'1¢S (00'0002) (00°0002) S79
00'0 000 000 sabieyp A1ajes 40O 1deq
£6'00T %ET'CT (85°112'S) 88 (00°005'9) (00°005°9) 09S
00°0 0070 00°0 SNo3UE([RDSIy
00°0S %Zb 88 (zsreL1) 8C'97E'T (00'00S'T) (00°005'1T) 6/t
00°0 000 000 asuadx] olpey
00'0 %T0'S (95"22'b) L T44 (00'005"%) (00°005"v) 9g€
000 000 000 asuadx3 jon4
€5°795'1 %78'SE (8e'5£8'21) 99T, (00°000°02) (00"000°02) T€€
000 000 000 asuadx3 bunesado pIyA
so'zer'e %TIT'SE (b1°€22'9T) 98'9//'8 (007000'52) (00"000'52) 0ge
000 00°0 000 SATddNS 1PIOLL-3
00°0 %000 (00"008) 000 (00'008) (00'008) 62¢
0070 000 00°0 suliojiun puy buipop
ST'969 % PET 05'69€'T 0S°69€'S (00°000"v) (00°000) 9z¢
0070 00°0 000 IS8 J004d 39)Ing
00'0 %SG/ €9 (00'szL) 00'5£2'1 (00°0002) (00°0002) Y43
00°0 000 000 soiddns bupessdo
05°0Z %b6'16 (g6'z01) 10°/6S'y (00°000'S) (00"000°3) (1743
soueIquinouy pasn % ajqejleAy spung sasueiquindug jobpng |ejoL sjuswpuswy wa[qo 133u3) walqo
/rempy /sainyipuadxy /3°bpng JeuibliQ qns 150D
aln ala
%L£9'99 rannesedwo) Ajyuop oTT :pund
LT Jo g abed Szoc Aeniqed
Wd §€:T §202/9/¢ :awiL/a3eq sadueIquUINOU3 pue saimipuadxy jo Juswelels 91 :Aq pajear)
SWEl[IIM BJAL HEL] [Pw.ie) JUNoj JO UMOo |

aInypuadx3 Jo Juswiaiels o Pwep ajejdwa



00'0 00'0 00'0 saliddns Bunesado
96'60% %6L'€9 (zzvee) 8L°5/T'T (00°000'0) (00°000'0) 0zZ¢
000 0070 000 abesod puy salddns 00
000 %S55°T9 (9v'¥8¢) ¥5°S19 (00000°T) (00°000T) 01€
000 00°0 00°0 SDIAISS [BNPRIUOD
000 %05°L9 (00°059) 00°0SE'T (0070002 (00'000'2) 062
000 00'0 00'0 Bunsa) eyso
000 %EE"6CT 9T'9bE’T 9T'9E£"0T (00°000'8) (00'000°8) 182
00°0 00°0 000 [erelL
00°0 %60'85 (01°6TH) 06085 (00°000"T) (00°000°T) 08¢
00°0 00’0 00°0 sBuipjing saueusiulely puy Jledsy
000 %LT'T0T T0°€€S T0°€ES2y (00°0002k) (00°0002k) 99¢
000 000 00'0 Hoddng alemyos/aiempley tandwo)
000 %8 TT (€£'559'0) LTHbE (00°000°€) (00°000€) 174
000 00°0 00°0 SIDIAIIS [P
00'0 %00°0T (00°05t) 00°0S (00'00%) (00"008) 15
000 000 00'0 SIDIAIRS LUOHEIIUNWIWIOY B0 puy auoydsial
9049 %09"%S (61°€9€) 18'9¢t (00°008) (00°008) Sk
00°0 000 00°0 SemIIRN
8/'856 %1 ZE (¢1zee’s) 88Ty (00"000°€T) (00'000°cT) (124
000 000 00°0 apeleq/suoiey J1qnd
000 %SHTT S GEEP'E (00°000°€) (00000'€) 8¢
000 00°0 000 sanq
00'0 %00°0T (00°05p) 000§ (00'00%) (00°00%) SET
000 000 00°0 Buiuies) puy uoneanps saojduil
12599 %ET'TS (6c'2€6'D) 19°290°€ (00°000'9) (00'000'9) 8b1
00’0 000 000 souelnsuT JuswAoidwiaun
ST'6¢C %Tb'SC (s6'2L8) S0zt (00°00%) (00°005) Yag!
000 000 000 (e4eys staAoidwl) IseQ
08'T€E %9€°0S (86'vLb'E) 70°'525'E (00°000°2) (00°0002) i
souelquniug pPasn % ajqejleAy spung sadueIqUINDUZ 3obpng |ejoL sjusWpUSdWY »alqo 13jua) walqo
/lenpy /sain3ipuadxg /3ebpng feuiblip qns 150D
aiw ala

%Z£9°99 taAneIedwo) AjLuoy OTT :pund
L1 40 9 abed 70z AMeniqag
Wd S€:Z 5202/9/¢ :awil/aneq saduelquunoug pue saimjipuadxy Jo Juswelels I :Aq pageas)
SWelip J9)AL 119sM) |owae) JUNo JO UMoL

ainypuadxg Jo JUaWeIS o7 awep djejdwa)



000 00°0 000
00'0 %0070 (0o'o0T1) 000 (00'001) (00°00T1) ove
000 00'0 0070 senq
000 %000 (00"00T) 000 (00"00T) (00°001) GET
00'0 00'0 0070 5394
00’052 %0009 (00700Z°¢) 00°008'v (00°000'8) (00"000'8) 041
000 000 00'0 Bujuielj puy uonesnpg asAojduwig
000 %00°0 (00 ooT) 00°0 (00*001) (00'001) 8bT
000 000 00'0 2ouRINSUT JUSWAo|dwaun
GE'T %95 (s¢'v6) ¥9'S (00'00T) (00"00T) Vi
00'0 000 000 (s1eys sehodw3) IseQ
10°0¢ %216k (9z°£97) pL9gL (007005°T) (00°005'1) b1
000 000 000 sabem
SC'T6E %G9'95 (1%°69€'2) 65'0£9°6 (00°000°2T) (00°000'21) 121
juawpedaq joljuo) [ewiluy  0OLZY
000 00'0 00'0 juswdinbg
00'0 %601 1281, 14821281 (007000's%T) (00°000'5H1) 0v6
00°0 000 0070 SNo3UR|[RISIA
00'0 %0T'EET 0072€€’1 00'2€£T (00'000'T) (00"000'T) 6/Y
00'0 000 000 uswdinb3 jusuedaq au14
60'50T %TH'4L8 (£8'992'0) ET°eeL'sT (007000'8T) (00"000'81) be
00'0 00°0 00'0 asuadx3 olpey
000 %0T'¥8 (00°s62) 00°S0Z'y (00°000'S) (00'000'S) oge
000 000 00'0 asuadx3 |an4
0£'s2€ %0T1'Gt (z0'v67'E) €6'S0£L'T (00"000'9) (00°000%9) 1€€
000 00°0 000 asuadx3 Bunesado apiysp
00'0 %59 ¥ (9€°509°9T) P9 b6EET (00"000°0€) (00 000°0€) (13
000 000 00’0 swuojiun puy Buiyop
69'€79 %85'99 (99°200°1) ¥EL66'T (00’000'€) (00'000°€) 9z€
Jdueiquindul pasn % slqejieay spunyg sIdueIqUINDUZ jabpng |ejol sjuawpuswy 19[q0 l2qua) P3[qo
/1lenpy /saanypuadxy /326png jeuiblio qns 350D
ain alA

%£9'99 :aAjjeledWOo) AlYjuol OTT : puny
L1 40 £ abed §z0z Aenigag
Wd §€:Z §202/9/¢ 2wyl /a1eq saouelquinduz pue sainjipuadxy o Jualudjels 91 :Aq pajeasd
SWeljlIM JSIAL esn [Pwie) JUNOo JO UMO L

ainypusdxy Jo wawaeis Ho awep ajejdwal



000 00°0 00°'0 sabep
2168191 %S6°ZS (09'5€5'50T) OF'¥9¥'SHT (00°000'152) {00'000'152) 14!
s}9a.1s puy sAemybiH  00TEY
000 00°0 000 Snoaue|[33sIN
00°0 %092 (0Z'805) 08'TY (00'0SS) (00°055) 6/
000 00°0 000 saiddng Bunessdo
00'0 %09'C (10°8v6'1) 661G (00°000'0) (00°000'2) 0ze
000 000 000 uorjowsq
00'0 %000 (00'000'52) 00°0 (00°000'52) {(00'000'52) 697
000 00°0 000 sang
00'0£b°0T %G8'€ST Y9'STLLT ¥9°519°05 (00°006'2€) (00'0062€) 134
00'0 000 000 Bujuiel) puy uoneanp3 sahojdw3
00'0 %00°0 (00°009'2) 000 (0070050 (00'009'20) 8yl
juwabeueyy JojemuLio}s/uonpadsur bupjing 0ZbTy
000 00'0 00'0 juawudinby
00'0 %00'0 (007005'Y) 00°0 (00°00Sy) (00°00S'y) ov6
000 00’0 000 SNoBUE|[SISI
89'6 396png oN 89'6 89'6 000 000 6Lb
000 000 000 #suadxd jond
09'€9 %0L'SE (08'129'T) 0Z'826 (00'009'2) (00'009'2) T€€
00°0 000 00°0 asuadx3y buneladp apiysp
00'0 %9E"TZT 00'5€2 00'SEE'T (0000T'D) (00001'T) 0g€
000 00°0 000 swiojun puy buipo)d
00°0 %000 (00'001) 00°0 (00"00m) (00°00T) 9z¢
000 00'0 000 sa||ddng bunesado
00'0 %000 (00°00T) 000 (00'001) (00°00T) oze
00'0 000 000 SEDIAISS [EIIPII
00°0 %000 (00°001) 000 (00-00T) (00°00T) 15¢
000 00°0 00’0 S3DIAIDS LOMEDIUNWILOD J3LI0 PUY duoydaaL
86°0% %L6'LY (61°218) 18282 (00'009) (00'009) 174
aouelquInougy pasn % a|qejieAy spung s9doueIqUINDU] 12bpng |ejoL sjuswipuawy pslqo 13U3) P3[q0
/1lempy /seamipuadxy /3e6png Jeuiblio qns 150D
alnw alr
%/£9'99 taAjRIRdWOD AJYIUOH OTT : puny
L1 jo g 3bed Szoz Menigay
IWd §€:2 520T/9/¢ :awiL/s3eq sadueiquinoul pue sainjipuadxy jo Juswalelrs 91 :Aq pajeat)
SWel|Ip J9IAL HELT) [owIe) JUNORW JO UMO ]

aunypuadx3 Jo JusweIs Jo7 Pwep aejdwag



00'0 000 00°0 abelsod puy saliddns 3510
00'0 %07'69 (00'¥ST) 00°9b€ (00°008) (00°005) 01€
000 000 000 Buiseaq juswdinbg
000 %Z8'vT (¢z'186'T) €£'815 (00°00s°€) (00'00S°€) 62
000 00°0 000 [oneaL
000 %000 (00°000'T) 000 (00°000'T) (00'000'1) 08¢
00°0 00°0 00°0 5199115 puy Speoy SoUeuUS3UIR puy Jleday
000 %00°C (00700£'+T) 00°00€ (00°000'sT) (00'000'sT) 897
000 000 00'0 sbuipjing soueudluiely puy Jieday
85°658 Y%lbp1T 96°€ED 96°€EY'E (00"000€) (00 000°€} 992
000 000 000 SVIAIAS [eDIPBY
00°00T %00"9L (o0"ozm) 00°08¢ (00°00%) (00'00S) 15¢
000 0070 000 SADIA19S LOREDILUNUIWIOD JBLRO pUy duoydajaL
85'TET %LT'TS (z5'9e€’T) 8p°E9b'T (00'008'2) (00'008'2) 174
00°0 00’0 000 saman
vL'6/6 %TT'6€ (88's£1'9) [A% 743 (007005'8) (00°005'8) ove
00°0 000 000 SBDIAISS JRUIuT
€T1LT %LETS (2972£6) 8€/20'T (007000'0) (00'000'0) 114
00°0 000 000 Buutes) puy uopednp3 ssAojduwz
00'0 %00'0 (00'005°T) 000 (00°005'T) (00°00S'1T) 8p1
00°0 00'0 00°0 SoueInsuy JuawAojdwsaun
S %L0'6€ (99'%0€) GE'S6T (00°008) (00°00%) Yaa!
00'0 000 000 ue|d Juslualey sako|dwg
08'CTT'T %68"vE (10'¥81°02) 66'S18'0T (00"000'1€) (00000'1£) 2!
00'0 000 000 doueInsuy a9Aojdwz
Sp1ee’s %92'£9 (F8'1SLET) 91°8¥2'8C (00°000°2h) (00"000°2h) [a2!
00'0 00°0 000 (a1eys sJakoidw3l) 1seQ
6ELST'T %8T'€S (Hbv02'6) 95°G61°0T (00°00£6T) (00°00L'6T) T
00’0 000 000 sabep, WILIBAQ
96'8.€ %90°001 ST'E ST'€00°S (00°000s) (00'000's) [44}
sduesquindugy p3sn % ajqejieAy spung sIdueIGUINdUZ 1°6png [ejol sjusapuswy Pafqo 19ud) P3[qo
/1enpy /sainypuadxy /396png feuibiio qns 150D
aln ain

%£9'99 :annesedwo) Alyuon OTT :pund
L1 Jo 6 9bed §Z0Z Aenigay
Wd S€:Z 5202/9/¢ 2wl /ajeq sadueIqUINdUY pue salinjipuadxg jo Juswajels J91 :Aq pajeas)
SWEI|IM 1B1AL HE |owIe) JUNOR JO UMO]

2Imypuadx3 Jo Juswels Do awen ejdwa)



00°0 000 000 juawdinb3
00091 %09'11Z £€0°085°S €0°085°0T (00°000°s) (00"000°5) 0v6
000 000 000 buined
EUTTH %/5'8 (SS'€TL'SP) Sb'98¢'Y (00"000°0S) (00"000°0%) 1€6
00°0 0070 00°0 sa|ddng puy sjeLisien
00°0 %0L'1S (eriey'vT) 88'805'ST (00°000°0¢) (00°000"0€) 00t
000 000 000 aoueuajulely Y617 Jel]
000 %0261 (00°919'T) 00°8¢ (00°000'0) (00000'7) £vE
000 000 000 sal|ddns puy speq ubls
11'LL6 %98' T (85'159'%) Tepe’s (00'000°8) (00°000°8) 43
00°0 000 00°0 Bunybr 39945
TL9.T %bE S (e0'0eL'et) £6'697'9¢ (00°00008) (00°000°08) Va4
Plv 192G 31e3S  O6IED
00'0 00'0 00'0 uswdinb3
80°0€ %b6°'S6 (ge'se€’s) £9'199'02¢ (00"000°0£2) (00°000°0£7) 0t6
000 00°0 00'0 Buineq
000 %LS5°8L (0zveL'os) 08'992'65¢ (00°000"0€€) (00°000°0¢€) €6
000 000 00'0 Jledey sbeujeig
000 %000 (00°000'T) 00°0 (00°000°T) (00°000'T) 4314
00’0 000 00'0 SNOBUR|BISIN
000 %E6°T6 (b20L) 92’626 (00°000'T) (00°000'1) 6Ly
000 000 000 asuadxg [ony
£9'000'¢ %ZT'TS (¢s'1z'9m) £p'8/2'8T (00°000's€) (00'000's€) £33
00°0 000 00°0 asuadxg Bunesado 3pPIyaA
£6'659'C %T6'0S (¢eroLT'en) £9°62L'CT (00°000's2) (00°000's7) oge
000 00°0 00'0 swioiun puy Buiyopn
000 %T19°€9 (b2e9'1) £€6'798'C (00°00S'y) (00°00S") 9z¢
000 000 00'0 saijddns Bunessdo
97°0bC %L8'ES (£€'069') £9'60€"y (00"000°8) (00"000'8) 0ze
soueiquInouy pasn % 9lqejieAy spung sadueIquINdUg ebpng |ejol sjuswpuawy [qo Ul »alqo
/lenpy /sainypuadx3 /3°6png Jeuiblio qns 150D
QiKW aia
%/9'99 :aAneedwo) Afyjuoly OTT : puny
LT 4o 0T 2bey Szoz Aeniqed
Wd SE:2 §202/9/¢ 2w /ajeq sadueiquUNOUg pue sainjipuadxy Jo JuswialeIS 91 :Ag pajeal)

SWel|jipm JRJAL

HET

[owWwieD JUNOY JO UMOL

2unypuadxy Jo Juswalels HO awenN ajejdwiat



000 000 000 SNosUe||2ISIW
00°0 %05"€6T YLEET vLEBY (0o0'052) (00'052) 6Lb
000 00'0 000 saddns Sunelado
00°0 %ES 61 (09°252) Ob'LiL (00°005'T) (00°00S'T) 0ze
0070 0070 000 Jled [eLIOWBI Jep UBISISA
000 %581 (zs'L18) 8v'281 (007000T) (00'0001) 00€
00°0 000 000 senllnn
(83 VA %L6'TT (zroop1) 88'€65°C (00"000'02) (00°000'02) ove
uoneansy Oty
000 000 00'0 asuadxy Bunesado spIysA
8EOVTTT %LSVL (65°8v8'S) WIST'LT (00°000'€2) (00°000'€2) 0ge
000 000 000 sa)jddns bupesado
000 %56’ Ty (5z'062) §/°60¢C (00'005) (00°005) (1143
00°0 00°0 00°0 S30IAIBS [eN1oE.QUOD
SL1TT'0T %8b'LS (s£7791'v01) STLE8'OYT (00°000'5627) (00°000'5¥2) 062
000 00°0 00°0 SBOIAIRS |EDIPRI
000 %000 (00 00T) 000 (00'001) (00°001) 152
000 000 00'0 3oueINsuf JuswAoldwaun
85°L1 %00'Cy (00'8%) 002y (00"00m) (00’001) yaa!
00°0 00°0 000 ueld JuaLuaIRay 3240idwy
T6'LLT %9L°0€ (€56€5'S) L¥'09b'C (00"000'8) (00'000'8) €91
000 000 00°0 2oueInsuU] 32A0|dw3
09'6£0'T %1899 (00'STE) 00°589°8 (00°000°€T) (00°000°€T) wl
00'0 000 000 (s4eys sJaholdw) 1seO
82°0S¢ %0b'SS (zz7828'T) 8T'1LT'T (007001"%) (00'001'%) TH1
000 00°0 000 sabepy SWIRIBAQ
00°0 %ES 6t (91°v52'T) ¥8'SHT'T (00'005'D) (007005'2) 44}
000 00°0 000 sabiep
08'964'€ %€E0"¥9 (98'06%'81) ¥1'606'7€ (00°00%'15) (00'00+'15) £4!
BulppAday puy a3sem pllos  00ZEY
Jdueiquindug pasn % ajqejieAy spung saduelqunoug j26png [ejoL sjuswpuawy Pafqo 19U walqo
/lenpy /seamypuadxy /396png JeuibLo qns 150D
ain aiLA
%/9'99 :aAneledwo) Ajyuop OTT : pund
LT Jo 1T abeg ST0Z Aeniqad
Wd §€:T 5202/9/¢ syl /ajeq saoueIquINdU] pue saJnjipuadx] jo Juswajels VI :Aq pajeas)
SLUBI||IA JSJAL HEL ) Jowie) JUNO JO UMOY

a.njlpuadx3 Jo Juswaiels )97 awen ejdwa )



000

0070 0070 (ELCAT
000 %000 (00"009) 000 (007008) (00°009) 08¢
000 0070 00°0 sbuiping Soueuajuiely puy Jiedsy
000 %05'7¢C (00's2€'D) 00°629 (00'000°€) (00°000°€) 992
000 000 000 Hoddns alemyos/aiempiey Jandwo)
00'0 %S9 (€0"820'T) L6'TL (007001'1T) (00'001'1) 51°r4
0070 00°0 00'0 SIS [E21P3A
00°0 %00°0 (00'00m) 0070 (00'001) (0000T) 15¢
00°0 00'0 00°0 SDIAIDS LONEDIUNWIWOD J2YIQ puy suoydajal
9/'€T %79, (z8°cz6) 81'9/ (00"000'1) (00°000'1) (74
00°0 000 000 saMN
6£'79C %b8'97 (16°£59'5) 607TvE'T (00°000°s) (00"000°S) (0174
000 000 0070 SSWMIRS JRUIAIU]
1/°691 %LTLE (z0'z88'T) 86LTT'T (00"000"¢) (00'000°¢) 91z
000 000 000 Buluel] puy uopeanpy safojdwy
000 %000 (00"000'T) 000 (00°000°T) (007000'T) 8bT
00'0 000 000 2oueJnsUT JuswAojdwaun
P61 %ET'ES (29°'59) 8E'b/ (00°0v1) (00'op1) aqs
00'0 00°0 00'0 (s4eys suohodw3) IseQ
1286 %9E"¥S (Sb'528'T) SSYL1'T (00"000"%) (00'000"%) Wl
00'0 00'0 00'0 sabem
05HbT'e %LY'T9 (69'%£0'LT) 1€'S2H'8C (00°005'S¥) (00°005'st) 121
Aseiqr1  oosvb
000 000 000 pue
0070 %00°0 (00°000'002) 00°0 (007000°002) (00'000'002) 016
000 00°0 000 uoneredp puy Juswdolsaaq led
00'000'T %9 Tt (e gen'se) £9'9/8'vC (00°000°09) (00°000'09) s
00’0 00°0 000 aseyaing pueq
00°0 %000 (00"000‘00%) 00°0 (00°000°00%) (00'000°00%) ST/
adueIquInduly pPasn % ajqejieAy spung sadueIqundul jobpng |ej0L sjusWpUdIWY pPa(q0 19ju’) P3{q0
/lenpy /saanypuadxz /196png [euiblio qns 350D
aln aia
%£9"99 :anfjesedwo) Ajyguoly OTT : pung
LT jo 21 abed §z0z Aenigay
Wd SE:T §202/9/¢ awil/aeq saouelquindu3 pue saimipuadxy Jo Judwdlels I :Aq pajeasd
SWel||IM SIAL HELT] jowie) Junoy Jo umoyl

ainypuadx3 Jo JuswLNels Do awen ajejdwa)



000 00°0 00°0
£€'792'9€T %/L8°ES (£8'8¥2'STT'D) €1'115°04b'2 (00°092'585"%) (00"092'585'%) OTT :pung.od jejoL
000 000 000 welbold buipesy Jswwng
00’0 %ST°0T (90°264'1) +6720C (00"000'2) (00'000°2) T2,
000 000 000 Joido) sses bunelado
JA*YAS %bb'¥9 (82'241) weee (00°008) (00°003) S29
000 000 000 12-0Z 3ueto Bululey), Ateig
00°0 %00°0 (00'0002) 00°0 (00’000'2) {(00'000'2) 619
00°0 000 000 SX00d
YILIE %TT9L (097092'1) 0b'6€0"y (00°00€'s) (00°00€'s) 06t
00’0 00°0 000 SNOBUBRISIW
000 %05°L¢C (66'682) T0°01T (00"00%) (00 00v) [S744
000 000 000 abejsod puy sa)jddns 200
10°191 %6+'18 (e2LLd) 82'7¢T'T (00°005°T) (00°005'T) 01¢
aoueIqUINDUZ pasn % 3lqejieAy spung sadueIquIndUl] jo6png |ej01 sjudWwpuawWyY 03(q0 Jagua) »a[q0
/lenppy /seinypuadxy /39bpng JewibLio qns 350D
aln ala

%£9°99 ‘anpesedwo) Ajyuon OTT : pund
LT 4o €1 abed 5z0z Aeniqgod
Wd S€1Z §702/9/¢ :aun] faeq S20UBIqUINOUZ pue saInjIpuadx] Jo Juswisyels 291 :Aq pajeal)
SWeliip J9JAL wasn [owIe) JUNO JO UMOL

ainypuadx3 Jo JuswslelS DO :awep ajejdws]



00'0 000 00°0 sa0|nIsS [eba
00°0 %L6'08T 05840y 05°'8%0'6 (00°000°s) (00'000's) (414
000 00°0 000 S30IAIDS [EIPSIY
000 %000 (00'05€) 00°0ST (00°008) (00°008) 152
000 000 000 SS2IAJRS LOREDIUNWIWOD) 330 puy auoyds|al
62°582 %88'8€ (11°950"¢) 68°E¥6'T (00°000°5) (00°000's) 574
00'0 0070 00’0 SN
€1'SLT'S %09'€9 (25" ev0'0b) 85'956'69 (oo'ooo’0TT) (00'000'07T) ove
00'0 000 000 sang
00'0 %16'Sh (00"061'1) 00°0T0'T (00°002'0) (00'002'0) x4
00'0 00'0 000 S9DIAIRS JRUIRIU]
85°99 %LT'8S (P9'peE) 9€°59% (00'008) (00°008) 154
0070 000 00°0 buure] puy uonesnp3 sakoduz
000 %000 (00°000'2) 000 (00°000'2) (00'000°2) 8v1
00'0 000 00'0 2oueansu JuswAojduaun
[4413 %86'€C (80°08€) 6611 (00°009) (00°005) 1
000 000 00°0 uopesuadwoy) S,uauniop
00°0 %09"985 £8°62€'%C £8'67€'62 (00°000's) (00°000°S) 9bT
000 000 000 Ueld jusLua.nay 2240|dw3
82°€SS %T19'€C (o1'262'9T) ¥8'797'8 (00°000's€) (00'000's€) 34!
00°0 000 000 doueinsuy aaAc|dwz
SO'TPT'T %8.'TT (v8ece'or) 97'999°¢1 (00'000"09) (00°00009) wi
000 00°0 00'0 (ateys staholdws) 1seO
1T°SbS %IE T (65'8€£'1T) 51928 (00°000°02) (00°00002) 142!
000 000 000 sebem SWIHRAQ
€488 %6.'79 (€z'185'S) L1'8TH'6 (00°000'ST) (00°000'sT) [44s
000 00°0 000 sabem
80'+£9'9 %88'8V (8¥'¥16'60T) 75°580'S0T (00°000's12) (00'000'512) X4
1amas  00ZZs
asueIqWNIUg pasn % a|qejieAy spung sadueIqUINdUY jebpng |ejol sjuswpuswy pafqo I3jua) P2(qo
/1enpy /seamypuadx3 /3ebpng jeuibLio qns 350D
alw air

%£9°99 ‘aAReIedwo) Ajyiuop ZTb ¢ pun
LT Jo T abeg Sz0T Aeniqay
Wd §€:2 §202/9/¢ awil/ajeq saduelquindu3 pue sainjipuadxy Jo Judrdjels 91 :Aq pajeas)
SLUBI||IA J3JAL HET [2wie) Junop Jo umoy

ainypuadx3 Jo JusLLIRIS DO

pwepN sjejdwa}



00'0 000 00'0 adueURURK puy Jiedsy uolels dwnd
£6'L6L %L9T (95'866'2) ¥#'T00'C (00000'52) (00°000'54) 19¢
000 00°0 00°0 asuadxg [ond
§7'895 %88'1S (92'9%9'2) ¥T'€58'C (00°005'S) (00°005'9) 1€
00'0 00°0 000 asuadx3 bufieladQ apiyaA
P8 1vL %TT'ST (oz'6€L'€) 08'09Z'T (007000°s) (00'000's) (113
000 00°0 0070 suuojlun puy Buiyio)
7508 %b6' b1 (£8'408'9) €1°S6T'T (00°000'8) (00°000°8) 9z¢
000 00'0 00'0 sjediway)
97'102'c %ZT'65 (17°921'8) 6L°€28'TT (00°000°02) (00°000'02) (443
00'0 00°0 00'0 sa|ddns Bupessdo
8€'596 %92'€6 (¢¥'070'T) £5'686'€T (00°000'ST) (00°000'ST) (043
000 000 000 abeisod puy sayddns 240
000 %TZ'80T ¥S'Eb ¥S'EPS (00°008) (00°008) 01€
00°0 000 00'0 334 UOISSIULIOD
00'0£0°C %90°18 (00'682'€) 00'T1Z'9T (00°000°02) (00'000'02) 86¢
000 00'0 00°0 S9DIAIDS |ENIIRAUOD
SL£1Te'e %ES" 668 8/'796'€9 8L°296'TL (00°000'8) {00°000'8) 06C
00°0 00°0 00'0 (EICIT
00'0 %000 (00'000'T) 00°0 (00°000°T) (00'000°T) 087
000 00'0 0070 S}eRlIS puy SPEOY SDUBRUSIUIRIY PUY Jleday
000 %6£0C (95'¥+5'S) ¥b'SSp'T (00°000°2) (00°0004) 89T
00°0 00°0 00'0 SIDIAIIS SDUBUSIUIRY puy Jleday
00°0 %bL 9ET 9€'pL9'E 9E'WLY'ET (0o0°000'0T) (00'000'0T) 09¢
000 000 000 yoddng asemyos/aiempiey Jsyndwo)
000 %00'0 (00°000'T) 000 (00'000'T) (00°000'T) 1°74
000 00'0 000 21195 Bunisaulbug
00'7€6'6 %YL 165 90°8v¢'86 90'8¥Z'8TT (00°00002) (00'000'02) T4
000 000 00°0 s394 bupmpny puy 6ununooy
000 %000 (00°000'7) 000 (00'000'2) (00'000'2) €57
aduelquindug P3SN % slqejieAy spung sadueIquindug 3ebpng |ejoL sjusWpudWYy Pslqo J2us) pa[qo
/lenpy /seanyipuadx3 /3e6png [euibrip qns 150D
alwW air

%£9°99 :anneledwo) Ajyyuojy ZIb : pund
LT Jo ST 9beg sZ0z AMenigag
Wd S€:Z §202/9/¢ w1 /s3eq SaoueIqUINOU3 pue Sain}ipuadxy Jo Juswlels Il :Aq pajeas)
SWel||Ip SIAL HETT Y [owae) JuUnoly Jo umo]

ainypusdx3y Jo JuswaleIs Ho awep 2yejdwa)



00'0 000 000 9JUBUBIUIR|A 12100y 030Y/S59.d Mo
¥9'06 %9C'TT (o1°1EE'T) ¥8'891 (007005'T) (00°00S'T) 856
000 00°0 00°'0 [esodsiq ab6pn|s g
81'58G %T6'9€ (81'6€5'1€) 78'09+'81 (00'000°0%) (00°000'05) 256
00°0 000 00°'0 JuRewdinby
000 %000 (00°000754) 0070 (00'000'52) (00'000'57) 0v6
0070 000 00°0 sabiiey) 0IAIRS ueg
000 %000 (o00zT) 00°0 (00"0zT) (00'0zT) 169
00°0 000 00°0 1s9.33u7 eplL
000 %08°9¢ (91°26E"+) $8'209'T (00°0009) (00°0009) G€9
00°0 000 000 spuog buipunyoy xe1/Asy £107
00°0 %00°0 (00°000'0%) 000 (00°000°0%) (00 000'0%) ¥19
000 00°0 00°0 334 HWIR4 2elS
000 %00°0 (00°005'€) 000 (00005€) (00°005°€) 965
00°0 000 000 uonenaidag
000 %00'0 (00°000°0+2) 000 (00°000°0+2) (00"000°0t2) obs
00°0 00'0 00°0 feway juswdinbg puy ABuiyoep
00°000°s %00°08 (00°000°S) 00°000°0¢ (00"000'S0) (00°000's2) €€S
000 00°0 00°'0 dueINSu
000 %00°0 (00700012} 0070 (00°000'12) (00'000'12) 01§
000 00°0 00°0 SNO3UB||JSI
88°CTH %8085 (zz61h) 827085 (00°000°T) (00'000'T) 6Lb
00°0 00°0 00'0 NOLLONYLSNOD
00'7€T'T %0E'LT (£4'065'80€'T) €5'600 16V (00°000008°1) {00'000°008'T) 0¥
00’0 000 000 ddueuajuel puy Jieday jueld J191emalsepm
€zI6L'e %86"+9 (9£7£052T) ¥T'T6Y'ZE (007000°0%) (00°000°08) $9€
00°0 000 00'0 9oUBUBIUIRI puy Jiedsy dur] James
000 %000 (00°005'1) 00°0 (00°008'T) (00°005°1) £€9¢
000 000 00°0 8oUBUS)UIR pUY l1edey duwing [ERUSPISSY
£8°'500's %8Y'LTT 9€L0T'ET 9¢7201'88 (00°000'52) (00°000'52) 79¢
duelqundug posn % o|qejieAy spund saduelqunduzy 1ebpng |ejoL sjuswipuauly paIq0 A9Ud)) P3[qo
/1enppy /sainypuadxy /3eb6png Jeuiblo qns 150D
alkn alA

%£9°99 :2AReIedwo) Ajyjuok ZIb : puny
LT Jo 91 abeg ST0Z Aeniqay
Wd §€:Z §202/9/¢ s /ajeq saoueJqUINOU] pue saimjipuadxy jo Juswalels 91 :Aq pajeas)
SWEY|IA 19IAL HE [owae) Junop Jo umo]

anyipuadxq Jo JusWSIRIS DO

Dwep ajejdway



00°0 000 000
9£°550°09 %96°LE (08'¥58€06'T) 0Z'S9L'¥IT'T (00'029'890°¢) (00'029'890°€) ¢TIy pundJod|ejol
000 000 000 SI9MO|g Jue|d JOMIS
000 %000 (00°000'5) 000 (00"000°S) (00°000°S) 956
@ouelquindugy pPasn % djqejieAy spung sadueIqundug 396png jejol sjuswpuswy walqo 19jua) pelqo
/1lenpy /seanypuadx3 [396png jeuibuo qns 150D
alW aia

%£9°99 ‘aAneledwo) AlLpuol 1P pund
L1 Jo /1 9bed SZOT Atenigey
Wd S€z §z0z/9/ swil/aeq sedue.qunoug pue sainjipuadxy Jo Juawelels 0] :Aq pajeasd
swellim J91AL uesn jowue) JUNo|Y JO UMO) ainjipuadx3 Jo Juswiajels DO :aweN ejdwa)



Mount Carmel Fire Department

Mitch Walker, Fire Chief

March 1st, 2025
To: James Stables, City Manager
Ref: February 2025 Monthly Report

The Mount Carmel Fire Department answered a total of 49 calls for service during the month of
February. Day shift personnel answered 19 calls, and 30 calls were answered by the volunteer
staff. Our volunteer staff has really stepped up this month, answering numerous calls. Our
average dispatch to arrival time was 5:40 with a 90™ percentile of 11:00. Calls for service
included multiple brush fires, vehicle accidents, and medical responses. February is historically

our slowest month, but that proved to be false this year.

When not responding to calls, members were busy working on multiple projects. We have
ordered our SCBA compressor and fill-station that was funded through the State Fire Marshall’s
Office. Station improvement projects are underway including installation of a system status TV in
the apparatus bay, new windows installed, and repairing roof leaks from the heavy rains. We are

preparing for spring with pre-incident planning over March and April.

Over February, members completed two courses covering rapid intervention and injured
firefighters. These classes allowed members to gain further understanding of our RIT pack. We
are also conducting our emergency medical responder course. This course is made up of
members of Mount Carmel and Church Hill Rescue Squad. We look forward to completing this
class in March and these students becoming licensed medical providers.

Thank you and the BMA for your continued support.

Respectfully,
Mitch Walker, Fire Chief

100 EAST MAIN STREET, MOUNT CARMEL, TENNESSEE 37645
(423) 444-1027 & MCFD@MOUNTCARMELTN.GOV



~ eso Toral Record Wolume By Incident Type

Custom v Feb €, 2025 - Feb 28,2025 v

55%
45%

49

CEDENTS

28

DAYS

e Y ad k822 ez iz Jn 28 Jul 24 Jan m

¢31)y Medical 1 5
assist

Ul

N

N
iy
il

B Emergency

mezlical 2
service (EMS}

incidert

[ &}
(]
~

(35} Extrication, 1 1
rescue

(36) Water or
we-related i
rescue

{43y

Combustible/f. 1
spills & leaks

(42} Chemical

refease, 1 1
reaction, or

toxic condition

(44) Electrical
wiring/equipme. 1 1 1 3
probl

(46) Accident,
potential 2 3 S
actident

{52) Water 1 1
problem

{55} Public
sennce 3 2 5
assistance

61}

Dispatched . B 2
and canceled '

en route

{63} Controlied 2 1
burning '

Page 1 of 2



Page 2 of 2






3/5/25, 7:57 AM

Incidents February 2025

Total Incidents

Total Arrests

Total Drug Charges

Total Murders

Total Rapes

Total Other Sexual Assaults

Total Kidnappings

Total Domestic Violence
Total Date Violence
Total Stalking

Parties

Individuals

oooooccomm1<

N oD | 2 0 & gWw|lo O|l0 o N O

Organizations
Juveniles

Expunged

Infectious

Quarantined

Complainants

Victims

Suspecis

Unsubs

Witnesses

Responders

Healthcare Professionals
Other

Arrests

Juveniles 0

o

Teens

Adults - 20s
Adults - 30s
Adults - 40s
Adults - 50s
Adults - 60s
Seniors - 65+

S =2 O - O

CivicEye - Incident Console

Incidents (February 2025)

i
: >

b4
‘s

O N R 0 S D PP
YT .

<

A I I

5 % 5 NN N N LY
NN A A U N NG gy F Y

2,

Arrest Race

Incident History (last 12 months)

20

# | slreet address or place name

https://mountcarmeltn.agisent.com/incidents/index.htm

search mapped incidents

Zoom: D




Hawkins County ECD
2291 E MAIN ST ROGERSVILLE , TN 37857

CFS By Department - Select Department By Date
For MOUNT CARMEL PD 02/01/2025 00:00 - 02/28/2025 23:59

MOUNT CARMEL PD Count Percent
911 UNKNOWN 4 3.05%
ANIMAL COMPLAINT 16 12.21%
ASSAULT 1 0.76%
ATTEMPT TO CONTACT 3 2.29%
BURGLARY-IN PROGRESS 1 0.76%
CARDIAC ARREST 1 0.76%
CITIZEN ASSIST 1 0.76%
DISTURBANCE 1 0.76%
DOMESTIC DISTURBANCE 2 1.53%
DRUG RELATED INCIDENT 1 0.76%
ESCORT 8 2.29%
FALL 2 1.53%
FIRE ALARM-RESIDENTIAL 1 0.76%
FOLLOW UP 8 6.11%
FRAUD 2 1.53%
HEART PROBLEM 1 0.76%
JUVENILE INCIDENT 2 1.53%
LE ALARM-COMMERCIAL 1 0.76%
LE ALARM-RESIDENTIAL 1 0.76%
LE INFORMATION 7 5.34%
LIFTING ASSISTANCE 1 0.76%
MISSING PERSON 1 0.76%
MOTORIST ASSIST 3 2.29%
MVC-INJURIES 1 0.76%
MVC-NO INJURIES 1 0.76%
MVC-NO INJURIES (COMMERCIAL) 1 0.76%
PROWLER 1 0.76%
RECKLESS DRIVER 5 3.82%
ROADWAY HAZARD 2 1.563%
STAB INJURY 1 0.76%
STOLEN VEHICLE 1 0.76%
SUICIDAL PERSON 1 0.76%
SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY 4 3.05%
THEFT 1 0.76%
TRAFFIC PROBLEM 1 0.76%
TRAFFIC STOP 42 32.06%
UNCONSCIOUS 1 0.76%
VANDALISM 1 0.76%
WARRANT SERVICE 2 1.53%
WELFARE CHECK 1 0.76%

Total Records For MOUNT CARMEL PD 131 Group/Total 100.00%

CAD Report 5 Page 1 of 2 03/18/2025 12:36



Total Records 131

CAD Report 5 Page 2 of 2 03/18/2025 12:36



Hawkins County ECD
2291 E MAIN ST ROGERSVILLE , TN 37857

CFS By ESN Type Department Summary Report
02/01/2029 - 02/28/2U

Call Type Count
911 UNKNOWN

‘ANIMAL COMPLAINT

ASSAULT

'ATTEMPT TO CONTACT
DISTURBANCE

DISTURBANCE W/WEAPON
DOMESTIC DISTURBANCE
DRUG RELATED INCIDENT
FOLLOW UP

GAS LEAK/ODOR

HARASSMENT

LE ALARM-RESIDENTIAL

LE INFORMATION

MOTORIST ASSIST
MVC-INJURIES

MVC-NO INJURIES

MVC-NO INJURIES (COMMERCIAL)
PATROL/PREMISE CHECK
RECKLESS DRIVER

SEVERE WEATHER INCIDENT
STRUCTURE FIRE-RESIDENTIAL

= Ol 2 a2 NNDA A a NN E A s aAa NN abdMONNNDN

'SUICIDAL PERSON WIWEAPON
SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY

TRAFFIC STOP 9
WARRANT SERVICE 20
Dept Sub Total 89

ESN Sub Total 89



S¥:80:1L

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

000

00:0

00:0

00:0

9¢-0¢

00-0

12:8¢
00:0

00:0

00:0
cvisa

AwL S VS22 AT

LeiL

00:0

6¢:l¢

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

6¥-¢

08

00:0

00:0

¥0:§

L1:0
AR

00:0

00-0
Iyjuz

Lel

00:0

62:lc

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0
6v'c

0g8

00:0

00:0

¥0:S

10
LY

00:0

00-0

Jy/sa u3/sa

000 110
00:0 10:0
00:0 810
00-0 Ly:GlL
00:0 10:0
000 100
00:0 200
00:0 820
00:0 Ge0
00:0 %]
000 00:0
00:0 ¥20
00:0 10:0
00:0 AR
00:0 120
00:0 820
$a/sd40

o1 :e

§202/¥0/20
0€:Ge:0)
§20¢/v0/20
C0:€£:60
§20¢/¥0/20
80:65:80
§20¢/¥0/20
y¥:L1:00
6202/v0/20

00:85:L¢
§¢0¢/€0/¢0
0G:11:1¢
§202/£0/20
86:6G¢1¢
§20¢/€0/20

Glegel
§20¢/€0/20

00:95:91
§20¢/e0/¢0

9¢:8¢:91
§20¢/€0/20

€l:Le:S)
§20¢/e0/20
[445)°p 18
$¢0¢/e0/20
62:vlcl
§20¢/€0/c0

9e:91:Cl
§202/€0/20
9€:L¥'60
§20¢/e0/20

pPaso|D sS40

NS3 Ag dnoig j9eyg pesidg swi] asuodsay Ad 1FINHVO LNNOW

gz:6v:cl GL:9L:ZL 0S'1S'hE 109 Ll 0€:80:L1L Q€801

0€:5e:0}
20:€£:60
80:8¢€:80

¥¥:Ly:00

00:85:t¢

6¥:LLiLe
8G:G¢:1.C

S RNA

¢5:69:91

9¢:8e:91

¥0:.2:G}

$0:65:G1

62:¥L€l

9€:91:et

9E:L¥'60

1e91D

20:8e:91

LE911GY

(44

6¥:,0:91

2e9lsL

s

§202/%0/20
z0:8Z:01

£0:82:01 £0:82:0L  §20Z/¥0/20
Y680

VE:11160 20:0S:80 20:0G'80  SZ0Z/v0/Z0
€0:66:20

piv1i80 PrivLiI80 GZ0Z/M0/20
LLE2:€T

81:£2:€2 gli€giez  G20Z/E0/20
LZ:07:1T

8Z:0¥:12 82:0¥:1  §20Z/€0/20
Zvi0liLe

6v:01:12 6v:0L:LZ  §20Z/£0/20
10:90:1Z

81:60:1Z 62:90:}Z 6Z:90:LZ  $Z0Z/E0/Z0
SYiLGLL

06:00:8 02:25:LL 0Z:2G'LL  GZOZ/E0/Z0
L:92:91

vzizegl  §202/€0/20

9£:20:91

9€:20:9L 9€:/0:9)  SZ0Z/E0/20
0L:01:G1

98:G1'GlL ¥E0L'GL PEOLSL  §202/E0/20
SLigED)

€e:8E:vlL 918yl OL:BEWL  §20Z/E0/Z0
00:90:€1

YE:0LEL LL:90EL LLIO0'EL  GZ0Z/E0/20
LE0L:ZL

8G6:01:Zk 850k $202/E0/20
12:2€60

6Y:LE60  §202/S0/20

1y ugz s PaAleday §19

506

G06

S06

006

¥06

Y06

v06
€06

€06

506

¥06

S06

¥06
506

G06

Qdon
Hun

BSZINVASY INNOW ‘LS AVE 82€
T3IWHEYO LNNOW
66 Sleb ‘1S NIVIN M 8€EL

TINAYO LNNOW

6SZ)ONVEY  'IAVY AOOMAWH ZLE
0 T3AYYD LNNOW Ha
6SCIDANEY  13dNVYT I4TOM L22
1S NIVIN

69¢ Slev M/ 3NV INONT39

T13NEVYO LNNOW

‘M 1L AYMHOIH

202 | (M 1L AYMHDIH)

652 Sley I YIS 6€ WIN
N1 NOILYNYVD

652 SIEv /1S 1SN201
TINEYD LNNOW

652108dEY ‘1S I1dVYIN 122
TINEYD

LINNOW ‘IAY

8SZANNLLE  IONIANIJIANI £2€
TINYYD

LINNOW ‘IAY

662 O4NISy  IONIANIAJIANI 902
TIWHYD

1W ‘IAY ANOWINVYH

¢1Z | INFWLYVd3Q

32110d

65¢ DS3cY TINEYD LNNOW
TANEYO

INNOW ‘3AY

6SZJANNLLE  IONIANIJIANI €28
TINHYD LNNOW

652 WOQtEY ‘LS NIVW 3 001
TINHYD LNNOW

652 O1VEY 'IAY NOSHI443r oLy
TAINEYO

LW ‘SAY ANOWWNVH

gtz | INTWLMYd3a

30110d

6S¢C OdNIEY J3NEVO LNNOW
JAY GOOMITONT

692 SHEY I M LL AVMHDIH
Ns3 adA] 1ed uonesoT

1682¢ NL ‘ 3TIASYIOON 1S NIVIN T 1622
aos3 funoH supimey

¥.9€00-520¢

¥99€00-5202

L¥9€00-5202
£¥9€00-520¢

£€29£00-520¢

¢19€00-5202

609€00-5202

909€00-5202

616€00-520C

£96£00-5202

155€00-5202

8¥5€00-G20¢

€$5€00-520C

0€£5€00-920¢C

916€00-5¢0¢C

¢05€00-5202

#Sd40
69¢

(QINW'MOTHOIH) NI Aonud



00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

[A%A4

000

00:¢0:L

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

PARAINS

00:0

00:0

00:0

e-h

bl-i)-

£500 o

00:0

90:01

[4 844

00:0

00:0

00:0

v0:

A5

6L

60:¢C

¥1:60:1

£6-Cl-

00:0

00:0 00:0
00:0 000
00:0 €00
00:0 L0
00:0 €00
00:0 00:0
90:0L 00:0
6l:€C LE0
00:0 00:0
00:0 000
00:0 000
$0:1  00:0
00:0:L:0L°1
6L:L 000
60:¢ 00:0
¥1:60:L  00:0
00:0 €611
00:0 00:0

00:0

00:0

10:0

00:0

00:0

€60

120

659G

00:0
00:0

610

lee

00-0

861

S€0

6€:0

00:0

250

02:6¥:80
§20¢/90/¢0
€0:00°€¢
§20¢/50/20

80:10:¢¢
§¢0¢/50/20

9loviie
§20¢/50/20
60:¢5:0¢
§202/50/20

80'vv:6L
§¢02/50/20

60:€5:81
§20¢/50/20

92:€5:L1
§¢0¢/50/20
yr9c:Ll
§202/50/20
9§l
§20¢/50/20

Jg6e Ll
§202/50/20
iLYiLe
§202/v0/20
80:€¥:0C
620¢/v0/¢0
0g:L16L
§20¢/¥0/20

82:91:81
§20¢/v0/2c0

81:65:81
§202/v0/20

LLivSLL
§202/v0/20

[A A1}
§202/v0/20
Ga:6v-Cl

02:6¥'80

€0:00:€¢

80:10:2¢

Sl-ovie

60:¢5:0¢

80:¥¥'6L

60-€5:8)

9¢:€S:LL

vv:9¢:L1

9Ch¥Sl

Lg6e:LL

65:G0:1.¢

80:€¥:0¢

0€:L1:6)

829181

81:65:8}

LLpGiLL

criiyGl

¥$:9€:80

2l6Giie

LE:9€1L¢

¥2:6€:02

96:¢G'81 00:.¥'8l 0§:G1:8l

L0°0S:L)

6S:vL:LL LYivyi9l 66:2L:91

Ge0vrGh

¥e:81:0¢
8€:0e'61

$0:20:61

85:11:81

GSvE8L

8iieeill 6G:90:L1 LEILESE

L¥'65-2¢

G1:6G:1¢

81:9€1¢

L¢:6€:02

P¥:650:84

Gelell

Ly0giL L

0€:L1-0¢

06:0¥:02

G¥:65°81

6¥:60-81

LGeCLL

yeiergl

S0-v2:Gl

P¥:92:80

Ly:65°2C

Cl66°1¢

LE:98:1¢C

¥2:5€:0e

€206}

y¥:50:81

8¥:92:L1

65:¢L:9l

GE0v:Gl

ly:0ciLl

0€:L¥:02

8€:0€'61

S1-65:81

6¥:60:81

LyseiL)

LEILE9L

G0¥2Sl

P¥:9€:80
§202/90/20
VAL HAA
§202/50/20

b1:GS1¢
§202/50/20

PRI A
§20¢/50/20
¥e:5e:0C
620¢/50/20

8c:10'61
§20¢/50/20

L1:50:81
§20¢/50/20

6y:0¢:LL
6202/50/20
65:CL9
§202/50/20

ge:01:G1
§202/50/20

ezl
$202/50/20
6G:€¥:0¢C
§202/v0/20
8€:0€:61
§202/v0/c0
FAZVAR ]S
§202/v0/20

¥1:60:81
§202/¥0/20

[AVETAVA%
§20¢/¥0/20

LE1E9L
$202/¥0/c0

€lLeegl
§¢0¢/v0/20
€1:80:L L

506

£06

¥06

¥06

¥06

addon

¥06

¥06

¥06
¥06

506

£06
$06

€06

¥06

€06

$06

G06

66C Slevy

69¢ ddl

65¢ 1SNSEY

66¢ Sl1ey

66¢ Sley

6GC 3IAYEY

69¢ 1SNSey

65¢ YONVEY

65¢ Slev
69¢ Sley

65¢ aydey

65¢ dUNN.LY

65¢ Siev

6GC dveEY

65¢ Olvey

65¢ O0S3EY

65¢ Sliev

652 OdNIEY

225 | (M 1L AYMHDIH)
I US 8 WIN

dy SSOHD AVM / QY
ATTIVA SHILHYD
TANYYD LNNOW

‘LS NIV M 991

} I3WHYD LN-NOINN
113340 NVINLSY3
TINYYD LNNOW

‘LS NIVIN M 991

[ 13NNYO LW-NOINN

11d34¥0 NYINLSYST

1S QVINNIM /ad
AITIVA SHILHYD
TANEYD

LINNOW ‘1S Nivn
M 0£Z | 308N0S
18414 s¥3ang
TANYYD

LINNOW ‘LS NIVIN
M 901 | 13NNYD
INNOW Z3dINS
TANEYD

INNOW ‘'81dVLINN
da 18340 812

1S 3 /N7 3470M
NT34T0M
/da 139NY1 3470M

THNAVYO

INNOW ‘1S AVS ISP
T3NEYO LNNOW
‘IAY AOOMAVH OLY
N1 SIT13 3/ 3AVY
JONIANIJIANI
T13INEVYD

INNOW ‘LS AVH LSP
THNAYO

INNOW ‘LS NIVIN

M 0€z | 30¥NoSs
1SHId s¥3ating

TAWHYD LNNOW ‘¥a

134NV 34T0M v22
TINTYO INNOW
'IAV IONIANILIANI

veel
T13INWAYO INNOW

‘LD SMOAav3an
JSIHNNS 801
13NEYD

¥06€00-520¢2

6.8€00-5202

¥.8€00-620¢C

€.8€00-520¢C

998€00-520C

698€00-5202

¥58€00-6202

8¥8€00-520¢2

6£8£00-5202

££8€00-520¢

608€00-6202

09.€00-520¢

§6.€00-6202

£6.£00-5202

¢v.€00-520C

L£.£00-520C

¥£.€00-5202

§21€00-G20e



00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0
00:0

00:0

¥0'§

¥Ze

0¥

00:0

00:0

({013

000

¥0:S

ZEE

j4'84

00:0

00:0
(d0h -4

00:0

00:0

800

00:0

00:0

00:0
000

00:0

8€:0

el6

910

L0

100
A0

00:0

§20¢/L0/20
cci8ral
SZ0e/90/20
05:5081
§20¢/90/20

81:81:9)

'GZ0E/90/20

aviLyiGL
5202/90/20
9ErLST1
$20¢/90/20

9g'gei Ll
§202/90/20

121260

c8rel

06:50°81

81819k

v LGl

9€:L52t

9e:6e L

§2:80:60 1Z:€0:60 |Z:€0:60
¥Z:60:8L 00:90:8) ZS'G0:8L

pEOvLL 0EERLL OEEviLl

cg:20:01 cZZ09L
GLi9E6] G1i92:G)
02:28:21 BLESZL BLESEL

LO'EZ L) 10:€cLL

G20Z/L0/20
6E:9G L1
5202/90/20

vlevLl
5€02/90/20

LZ:Z08L
S202/90/20
FLGES]
5202Z/90/20
LE:25:2)
5202/90/20

LOEZ L
§202/90/20

506

¥06

£06

G06

508

506

G06

B6SZ)YONVEY 0zst
13WHYD LNNOW

662 Svey '3AV NOSHIAHAr siy
TINEYO LNNOW

652 WOdEy  'LS OOMAIY 099
TANHYD LNNOW

‘LS NIVIA 3 L0%

652 Slev |3NIT 338 SIIINVA
3AV GOOMIIONT
I W L AYMHOIH

. TINEYD LNNOW
BGZ7VHNEY  ‘IAY ANOWWYH 00€E
T3IWHYD LNNOW
‘10 SMOQVIW
ISINNNS 0L
TIWHYD LNNOW
‘M 1L AVMHOIH

69C SLEP

65¢ 0der

920%00-520¢2

S96E00-5202
296£00-5202

8¥6€00-5202

¥¥6E00-5202

826800-6202

S16E00-5202



00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0
00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00-0

00:0

1519

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

ey

¥0:0

00:0

00:0
00:0

80:0

€09

00:0

60:0

00:0

00:0

Vi€
v0:0

vy

00:0

00:0

vy

¥0:0

00:0

00:0
00-0

80:0

£0:9

00:0

60:0

00-0

00:0

pL€

$0:0

e

VA4 4

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0
00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00-0

00:0

10:0

£v:0

00:0

Ll

00:0
00:0

000

00:9

10:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

¥S:0

Syve

128>

L¥:Ge

0Z:0

§20¢/01/20

0L:svch
G¢02/01/¢0
PriL0:LL
§202/0L/c0
6€:81:01
§20¢/01/20

6S:€0:€1
§202/60/20
2£:9¢11 1
§20¢/60/20
00:.¥:01
§20¢/80/20

05:10:01
§20¢/80/20
81:vE:60
§20¢/80/20

1£:6%80
§20¢/80/¢0

20:ev:80
G202/80/¢0

£5:1¥'2C
§20¢/L0/20
50:9¢2:1¢
§202/L0/20
11:20:02
§20z/L0/20
YXATAh 4
620¢/20/20
eeiLLGL
§20¢/20/¢0
SE:LL0L
620¢/L0/20

121260

8€91:L1

0S¢l

PriLOLL

6€:81:01

6S:€0:€L
1291

259701

}6:05:60

81:¥€:60

LE:6¥'80

¢0-£¥:80

£5:1¥'2C
¥0:92:1.¢
80:9¢€61
YXATAR 4
€5:€L:GL

yv:01:0L

LLibbiLL

6E¥2:Cl

184208

0e:¥S:Ch
6201

cr:LE:0L

EV:G¥:60

0+:82:60

9G:61:80

¥1:8€:80

220g'¢c L¥:90:¢C G¢8¢e-le
66:86:0¢
£1:0€6)
8y:EvivlL

9eLG v

gl:0zel

8G:EP:0L

2G:11:04

peLe0l

0v:6€:60

L6180

L¥:6G:0¢
60:0€:61
¥0:0v'vl
6¥:¢Sv)

0G:G€:60

bLibbiLL

§i:0c:cl

8G:E¥:0L

csiLiol

oevecl
62:0€:L 1

ye:Le01

0¥:6€:60

0%:82:60

L¥'G9'80

¥1:8€:80

Gc:8eie

1$:65:0¢

60:0€:61

v0:0¥'vi

6v:¢5vl

05°5€:60

§¢02/01120

ze6lich
G20¢/01/20
8G:ev:0l
§202/04/20
Ge:0L:01
§202/04/20

0e:ps-Cl
6¢02/60/20
6¢:0E:LL
§¢02/60/20
¥E:LE01
G20¢/80/20

0¥:€€:60
§¢0¢/80/20
6€:82:60
§202/80/20

L¥6¥:80
§20¢/80/20

¥1:8€:80
§202/80/20

§z:8eILT
§202/20/20
L¥$5:02
§202/.0/20
¥2:50:61
§202/20/20
0Z:9E:v1
202/.0/20
80:.Z:%L
§202/L0/20
0E:5€160
§202/20/20

€v:¢0:60

¥06

506

506

S06

G06
506

506

006

506

506

$06

¥06

06

06

S06

¥06

S06

65¢ SIEV

6G2)ONVEY

6G2)ONVEY

65¢ 104ey

65¢ Slev
65¢ Sley

65¢ YOWEY

65 441vZ.

65¢ Slevy

662 )IONVEY

652)ONVEY

65C Siev

65¢ VIOEY

662 iVIHLY

652 XOMEY

6S¢ NSMEY

6GZ)ONVEY

/ 3AY ONOWWVH

TINHYD
INNOW ‘3AY
JONIANIJIANI 902
1S SSAYMAD / AAY
3ONIANIJIANI
TIWHYD LNNOW
‘IAY TIVHSHVIN 622
TANYYO LNNOW
‘IAV IDONIANIJIANI
vzzl

IAY ANOWWYH

/1S NIV M

IAY AOOMITONI
/M 1L AYMHOIH
TAWHYD

INNOW ‘N7 SONINAS
MOQv3IN Z6L

JAY AOOMITONI
1M LL AYMHOIH
TIWHYD LNNOW
‘IAY JONIANILIANI
GEGH

J3IWEYD INNOW

‘10 SMOavIn
JSIUNNS Ot
REIS\%e)

LNNOW ‘LS NIVIA

M 901 | T3NAVYD
INNOW Z3dIMS

1S LNNTYM / 3AY
JONIANIJIANI
T3NEYD LNNOW

"4a ¥X3dOL p98
TANEYD LINNOW
‘IAVY INOW39 901
TANAYD

INNOW ‘LS AvE 9y
TIWIVYD LNNOW
‘JAV ¥3NOA 522

TINAVYO LNNOW
AV JONIANIJIANI

0Lv¥00-5202

29€¥00-520¢

96€¥00-520¢2

6¥c¥00-5202

¥.2¥00-6202

0.2v00-5202

291$00-520¢

§91¥00-620¢

€91¥00-5202

65 1100-520¢C

251+00-620C

9¢1¥00-5202

121$00-520C

801+00-520¢

690%00-6¢02

¥90¥00-G¢0¢

620v00-5202



00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

Sl

00:0

00:0

(187

00:0

§0:0

00:0

6EE

00:0

8¢:8

00:0

010

00:0

00:0

00:0

Sl

Gl

00:0

00:0

6¥y

00:0

G0-0

00:0

6€:€

00:0

8¢:8

00:0

0L:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00-0

00:0

00:0

00-0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

oe:e

652

00-0

00:0
€0:1

00:0

€19

00:0

1% 4

0v:0

(A% 44

00:0

Sy

00-0

00:0

00:0

LTAVAL 4TV

80:00:6)
§202/EL/20

0€:9¢:01
§¢0c/EL/co

91:6€'60
G¢0¢/eL/c0
8¥:2€:.0
Geoe/elieo

LGEvLL
Gcoc/elLeo

GG:2§'le
G202/ Lo
Lyiiv6l
§20¢/LL/c0
¥0:¢0:61
Gcoc/L Lo

81:6€:G1
Ge0ce/1L1i20

60:80'%1
§20e/LLico

8€:05:€¢
§20¢/01/20
(A VAR ¥4
G202/01/20
05861
G¢0¢/01/20

E:82:61
G202/0L/ec0
€0:1G:LL

§20¢/01L/20
€91 L1

L2101

¥2:95:G1

0e:9¢e:0!

G0°GE:60
(44 A1)

LGEViLL

§5:¢G'l¢

Lyily6l

¥0:20°61

81:6€:G)

8G:L0:%)

8€:05:€¢

A A B%4

05:8¥:61

ye:8e61

¢0:1G8:L)

6¢:00:01

gevhivl

0l:6z:04

61:G¥:90

§G:6eL)

LeLviLe

2ec0:6)

€1:0v'81

LG6G'€L

|3 2VRH 4

B4 T4

€2:6£:61

€€:¢261

Llevill

¥1:65:60

8LEV I

6¥'Lc60

0€:0%:90

9cL¥ile

pegegl

8¢:61'Gl

621Gt

syivyiLe

b1:65:60

8L Evvl

01:62:01

6¥:L¢-60

0£:0¥'90

GGGe Ll

9¢:Lyile

¢€:¢0:6}

veoe8l

826161

6Z:15:€l

LpiLEEC

shivbiLe

€¢:6€:6)

€€:¢C6)

Llieril)

§c0Z/v1i2o

6L:0v:v1
Gc0c/eLe0

01:6¢:01
etAVAA T AV

6y:,2:60
§¢0¢/eL/20
22:6£:90
G20z/EL/c0

§g:gerll
Gc0e/el/co

ELGET
§20¢/L Lo
A4 018
G2oe/L /20
o}:ze:8}
S202/LLiE0

8¥:81:GlL
620¢/1 L0

L1:62:€L
§20¢/L1/c0

AR T4
G¢0¢/0L/c0
€ciovile
G20¢/0L/co
£2:6E61
§¢0¢/0L/c0

£e:2e6l
G202/0L/20
(ARt4 274

G¢0¢/0L/c0
obiLLiLL

006

€06

¥06

¥06
006

v06

¥06

¥06

€06

€06

06

¥06

¥06
¥06

v06

¥06

652 Tivdiy

692 )NYAEY

652 Slev

65¢ Slev
65C3IVISLy

6GC ASMEY

65¢ VIiP

65¢ Slevy

65¢ TWHYEY

662 aydeEr

65¢ JOlvevy

66¢ SiEv

65¢ Slev

66¢ Sley

65¢ YOWEY

6G¢ Slev

1INN 1S NIVIN 3 001
T13NEYO LNNOW
‘IAY QOOMAWH

901 | S1¥vd

OLNV ATUITNO
JINEYD LNNOW
‘IAV IONIANILIAANI
521

+d

JASYHOHIAI / O
AITIVA SH3ILHYD
T3NYYD LNNOW ‘¥d
18343 A3TIVA 022
JANHVYD

INNOW ‘a4 AT TIVA
SYILHVYO 918S

TIWNHVYD LNNOW
“da IIMOYIHD €25
I3WHYD LNNOW
‘AAY ANOWWVYH 001}
1S LANTYM / 3AY
JONIANIJIANI
J3NHYD LNNOW

‘g LINN QY AITIVA
SHILMVD 916§
TAINHYD

LINNOW ‘¥ AT TIVA
SHILHVYO 9185
TJANYYD

LINNOW ‘LS NIV

M 0Z¥ | (FINNYD
LINNOW) AVMENS
IAV FONIANIS3ANI
I M Ll AYMHOIH
IAV INOWT3g

/ 1S NIV M
JANEYD INNOW

‘M Ll AVMHOIH

225 | (M 1L AVMHDIH)
L S 8€ NN

TIWHYD LNNOW ‘N1

NIMOVHIOON LLSI
1S A"Y3HO

15.¥00-520¢

¢.9v00-5202

1$9¥00-G202

§€9Y00-520¢C

L£9¥00-5202

965¥00-520¢

2¢5v00-5202

606¥00-520¢

905+00-5¢20¢

68¥100-5202

¥8¥¥00-620C

G¥v00-G20¢

6€¥¥00-5202

8¢vr00-520¢C

L2v¥00-G20¢c

¥1¥¥00-G20C



00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0
00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

65-¢C

86:6¢

00:0

GELL

00:0
00:0

86G'C

00:0

(484

£¥:9¢

6¥:1

00:0

WL

00:0

ov:9

00:0

65'¢

86:6C

00:0

Gell

00:0
00:0

86'¢C

00:0

sy

£¥:92

6¥:1

00:0

1529

00:0

0¥:9

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0
00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

6E:Sl

9¢g:0

00:0

120

00:0
ey0

Sc't

100

050

¥0:1

€50

00:0

1€:0

00:0

€20

Lc:0

§¢0c/0ereo
60:20:0¢
G20¢/61/20

9e:8l:8L
§20z/61/20
18l
§20¢/61/20

00:20:21
S202/61/20
EELET)
S20Z/61/20
£E:ZP0L
§20e/61/20

62:6€:02
G¢0¢/81/20
€0:80:61
G¢0z/81/20
GSpe8lL
§20¢/8L/20
(A% 21
5202/81/20
8E LY L1
§202/81/20

VL6181
§20Z/L1120

8c:1¥:8l
§¢0¢/LLIc0
Lp:Z19l
§20z/LLI20
PLiL0pL
G20¢/LL/20
PRATA RS

el

60:20:0¢

cL:gl:gl

1E€:€E:9)

00:20:C1
L1:9ETh

45:00:0¢

62:6€:0¢

€0:80:61

GG-ye:81

ClLEY'S)

8€LL)

£¥:.G'81

8¢-1v8l

VA AR

V1.0

26:92:¢l €5'eecl

pe:92:6L 9€:95'81

10:8¥iLL

818291 €L L9}

£0:45:LY
LE8YiLL

2£61:60 YE9L:60

2eee0e

0z:61'8l 8T:¥¥:8l

6¥:92:81 90:00:81

cTovGlL ££:8€:61

ov:L¥iLL

2571681 LLivv8l

c0-:8€'81

62:0€:Gl 6¥'€T:St

e 20l

£6:€C:Cl

9€:96'81

Lo8piLL

€L:L19L

€0:LG L1
LE8FILL

$£:91:60

[£ B A4

8¢-¥Pi8l

90:00-81

£€:8¢€:G1

or: Lyl

LLippi8L

c0:8¢8l

6¥:€C'G1

PE20vL

§¢02/02/20
00-99:81
STAVAL A

10:8¥:LL
G20¢/61/20
259191
6¢0¢/61/c0

£0:4G:})
5202/61/20
YGiLYLL
520Z/61/120
60'S1:60
§202/64/20

L€€T:0e
§20¢/81/c0
8cEV8l
§20z/81/20
20:65:L1
§c02/81/20
Ov:LESL
§202/8L1co
oviL¥iLL
G20e/81/co

orer:8l
§20¢/L1/20

20:8¢-81
G202/L1120
92:€e:Sl
STAVAVATAY)
€201
§202/.1120
¥:96:60

606

¥06

$06

Y06

G06
006

506

Y06

Y06

£06

¥06

506

¥06

¥06

06

€06

652 Jivey

652 OdNIEY

65¢ Siegv

652 )ONVEY

66¢ Slev
652 OANIEY

65210021y

65¢ Slev

65¢ T04EY

65C)ONVEY

65C1NNLL6

65 SlE¥

652 )ONVEY

65¢ Slevy

65¢ Siaey

69¢ NALSEV

'da AITHSY €S

TIH HOHNHD '¥a
1STHO ATTIVA LEL
TINHYD LNNOW

‘1S NIVIN M 991

| 73WHYD LW-NOINN
1i@340 NVYWLSY3
TIWHYD LNNOW "Ha
M3IIA NIVANNOW §£2
TINEVYD INNOW

‘M L AYMHOIH

L0€ | (M L1 AYMHOIH)
| ¥S 6€ WIN

TINEYO LNNOW ‘N
NNY SYILNNH 621
TANEYD LNNOW

‘N1 3S0N 082
REN)

LNNOW 'LS NIVIN
MZS)L I FnNevD
INNOW) NOHLYHYIN
TANHYD LNNOW 'V
LINN LS AYY3HD L02
TANEYD LNNOW 'V
LINN LS A¥Y3IHD 02
13WEYD LNNOW

‘1S ATIOH vep
TINEYD LNNOW
‘IAY ANOWWYH v0Z
TAWHYD INNOW
‘IAV FONIANIJIANI
GESL

TANHEYD

LNNOW ‘LS NIVIN
Mzs | 1Fanavo
INNOW) SF3axVYH
TINEYD LNNOW
‘JAV ITIAHSY V1€
TINEYD

INNOW ‘ad A3TIVA

SYIALHVO 0225
TINEVD INNOW ‘1

00%500-5202

¢¢€s00-920C

81£500-520¢

21£500-5202

#82500-5202
£82500-5202

0.2500-5202

8¢¢S00-5202
612¢500-620¢
912¢500-520¢
202500-5202

861500-520¢

€60500-5202

160500-G¢0C

920500-620C

290500-5¢0¢



00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0
00:0

0g:81:1

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

€re

00:0

ove

00:0

6¥-C

G0:0

(43

ye9

00:0

00:0

80:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

€12

00:0

810

ov:c

00:0
6¥:¢

500

{4273

12°8°)

00:0

000

80:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0
00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

1£4Y

00:0

00:0

L0

00:0
es'le

00:0

Ve

950

00:0

00:0

816

0Ll

00:0

€e0

10:8¢2:¢)
§¢0¢/veleo
L¥:60:CL
§20¢/¥2/20
[ XAVA R
Gc0c/ze/eco

0501
Sz0z/ezieo
0e-81:0}
ST TArAA LAY
91:45:90
5z0z/2elzo

PLiLE8L
§202/12/c0

121071
§20¢/Le/eo
80:¢ccEl
§20¢/1¢/co

2£:65:0C
§20¢/0¢/20

€€:60:6)
§¢0z/02/20
02:¢e:61
6¢0¢/02/20
L€16:91
§20¢2/02/20
LG6EEL
§¢0¢/0¢/c0
¢G50l
§¢0¢/0e/20

GZ'Lect

¥0-52:21

Ly:60:C)

YL LSEL

16901

0e:81:0)
91:26:90

vl:LE:8)

80:10:v1

8eiLeiel

L£65°0¢

L¥:80:61

£c:8y8l

1€:16:91

05:88:€l

yi:0L:EL

S120] 2V A R Y ATAATA

8¥SLicl GeElCl
€€:8G'L1

yregiel 9¢:eGEl

65:8L:01 61910l
16:90:01

2£:01:90 8%:,0:90

LG 1E:91 9P 1E8l

LILGPEL GELEEL

8G:9L€l ¥20lLEL

9€:06:02

L0:659:81
8€:G¢'81 0€:S5¢'8l
L0891

90:0¢€:El

6¢:80:€}

Ge€lc)

€€:8G 11

92:€G:€l

61:9L:01

1G:90:0}

84:L0:90

oy Le9l

SELEEL

y2:0lel

9€:05:02

£0°59°81

0€:6¢:81

L0891

90:0e:€l

62-80:€)

Lelel
§¢02/v2/c0
€e:85:11
§202/¥2/20
9CeGEL
BIAVALA4LAY

20:9Li0}
G20e/Zeieo
159001
ETAVATAALAN]
96:6%.60
§20¢/2eleo

o 1E91
§20¢/12/c0

vo:9e:€l
§20z/12/20
8¢C:60°€l
§¢0¢/12/20

9€:05:0e
§202/02/20

£0:65'81
$¢0¢/0¢/20
v§ligl
§202¢/02/c0
L59€91
G¢0¢/02/c0
90-0¢:€l
6¢0¢/02/20
96:/0:€l

G20¢/02/20
pL:80:cl

006

S06

06

¥06

G06

¥06

¥06

506

G06

Y06

06

¥06

€06

006

506

e t-)7e]

LA 'IAY ANOWWYH
€12 | INFWLEVYdaa
3I0N0d

TINHYD INNOW
3IAV IONIANIJIAN!
I M LL AYMHDIH
THH HOYNHD

657 Sley ‘IAV HYINNIIO 00€)
TANHYD LNNOW

‘M 1L AYMHOIH

2251 (M 1L AYMHDIH)
1 ¥S 95 W

IAY AOOMAVYA

/ M 1L AYMHDIH

Q¥ SSOYD AVM /O
BSTIDANZL  AJTIVA SHILAVD
TINEYD

INNOW ‘1S NIV

Mozy | InevD

652 Sley 1NNOW) AVMENS
J3WHEVO LNNOW

‘JAVY IONIANIJIANI
65C)ONVER GEGL

TIWHYD LNNOW
“4d ITODIN 9¢t
TINEVD

LINNOW ‘LS Nivn
M ¥zs | 3nsvYD
652 SLer  INNOW) S33AYVH

13NHYO
INNOW ‘Y AFTIVA

652 OdNIEY

65¢ Slev

6G¢C IDANEY

69¢ SLlEv

652 ANNLLE

66C SltEv SY31HVD 2098
13NHVYD

652 T1vdzP LNNOW ‘HID AAI 00EL
T3NEYO INNOW

652)ONVEYF  ¥A ANV1AOOM £Z9
13ANEYO LNNOW

6G¢ 1SNSEY ‘1S MOTTIM 10T
TANEYD LNNOW

652 104ch ¥a ATTHSY €51

J13WHEVYI INNOW

69/500-520C
29.500-6202

$659500-G20¢C

1.5500-G20¢C

9.9500-5202

695500-G20¢

£159500-520¢

86%500-5¢02

¥61500-G202

8€+¥500-5202

£€v500-5202
1€¥500-G20C

2¢v500-6202

90¥500-620¢

£0¥500-G20¢



00:0

00:0
00:0

00:0
00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

9z:L e 221 60:C
(W)

1e8|D/TaAlY (W) zoauy/dsia  (IN) ZaAuype (W) yo/enlly

ewi} abetany aw) abesaay oswl] aberony awi] abesany

¥1:60:1 00:0 ZLioLiL 00:0 Wisz 00:0

(W) eataydsig N) eatuydsia (W) Juzidsia (w) jugdsia (W) dsia/sdo (W) dsiarsdo

awi)] xep swil Uiy awli] xep awly U ouH] Xep

06:65:L1

00:0 00:0 00:0 L0:0 S202/L2/20  126S:L1 LGEGiLL LGESTLL
8L:90'vL

bpiL ¥l 000 (4214 GZ0Z/9Z/20 81:90:¥1 SYivSEl LOULYEL LOLYEL
00:EEZL

$0:0 ¥0:0 00:0 10:0 GZ0zZ/9z/rZ0  0Seec) 61:42¢l SlLgel Shileel
10:00:L1

00:0 00:0 00:0 00:c 6202/92/20 9¥:65:01 Ch:LG0L Z1:L5°0)
60:46:01

00:0 00:0 00:0 00:0 §202/92/20 8S:95:01 (YA kA1) 12:L2:01
212290

00:0 00:0 00:0 000 §202/92/20 |1 1:22:90 G1:91:90 §1:91:90
6L:2EEl

(484 ¢Sy 000 ¥2:0 G20zg/Sz/e0  6l:ee€l 8G:¥2:€l 90:02:€l 90:0Z:€l
(28420

G091  S0:9L 000 (4% 6202/52/20 LSp¥i0L 9¢:12'0L 1€:50:01 }€:G0:0L
¥1:2€:60

00-0 00:0 00:0 cco 620¢2/52r20  ¥1:L£:60 10:2€:60 10:¢€:60
S:21:80

00:0 00:0 00:0 00:0 G202/S2/20  GpTl:80 10:20:80 10:20:80
¥€:20:80

00:0 00:0 00:0 00:0 620¢/52/20 €£€:20:80 22-86:20 22:85:10

awiy vy /dsig ouny jejol /dsig swi] [el01

0L:¢

(W) eaLy/dsiq
ow] eBesaay
8v:8L:L
() zeauly

05:€G5:LL
Se0e/Leie0
BEZ¥iEL
S20¢/92/20
LA EATA"
§202/5¢/20

C1:65:01
§¢02/92/20
1e:le0l
§20¢/9¢/20

51:91:90
§20¢/9¢/20
cv6lEl
§¢0¢/52/20
61:50-01
§202/52/20
6€:1€:60
$20¢/S2/c0
10:20°80
§¢0¢/5¢2/20

2¢:86:20
§202/62/20

S06

506

006

506
G06

G506

S06

S06

§06

G06

606

122 4 2] SS:L

(w) (W (W) dsigssdo

aAllyfeInoIUg ejnosuz/dsiq swi] obelaay
swy] abelany awi) abesany

9€:60:9 10:¢Z:) 0zZ:eb:€

(W) eALy () @noauz (W) dsia

/dsiqg aun] Jejol /S3D awi] felol
SP1023Y [ej0L
TANHVD
LNNOW 'V1dVLINN

uG3 GOOMLINIHE 208
TANHYD LNNOW

'ay MO 919 L2k
TANNYD LNNOW
‘IAV LNOWT3g 901
JANWEYO LNNOW
‘ISNIVA I 12

| (T3WHYO LNNOW)
IVHINID dvTI0a

M L AVMHOIH
/ AAY AOOMIATONT

TAWHYD
INNOW ‘1S NIVIA

M ¥2s | I
1INNOW) S33AYVH
TINYYD

ANNOW ‘LS W13 00F
TINHEYO LNNOW
‘IAY NOSHI443r Z0Z
JANHVYD LNNOW
ANV NOSHILH3r 202
1S NIVIN

3/ 3AY ANOWWVH

1S NIVIA M
/ IAV GOOMITONT

9Ll

65¢ 10d4eY £€91900-5202

65¢ OdNIEY 190900-G202

65¢ 10d4EY L¥0900-6202

65¢ YOWEY G€0900-520¢

65¢ OS3ty 0€£0900-G¢0¢

65¢ Slev 100900-5202

6G2)YONVEY 816500-6202

65C 104y 168500-520¢
65C dH1EV €88500-5202

6G¢ SleEv 198500-5202

65¢ Sley 598500-5202



¢S'¢l S20e/81/e0 [A o) Z1  abed G91 Hoday v



00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

0¢:LE

00:0

00:0

00:0
avisq

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

000

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0
dyjuz

NS:hH awl

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

L1:G2

00:0

oLcl

00:0

60:LY

£6°1€

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

05:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

0e:s

L€:0

€2:6

Geg

00:0

6¢:0

SE:l

9¢€:0

biik

9Ll

0s:0

Jy/sgu3a/sq sa/sdo

250SIY 2NV

§20¢2/90/20

80:7¥:61
G202/50/¢0
62:15:20
6202/50/20
¢5:90:0¢2
§202/¥0/20

€eETEL
202/40/20
6L:95:0L
202170120
80:66:80
§202/%0/20
961,160
$202/€0/20
1Syl
5202/20/20
Ly:oripl
$202/20/20
6Y:6¥:10
§202/20/20
6V:€€110
§202/20/20

Ge6lile
G20¢2/10/c0
6G:ve:0¢
§20¢/10/20

92'65:L1
§20¢/10/20
128160
§202/10/¢0

ceLLw0
G¢02/10/20

paso|) §40

Ge:L0:91

80'v1:61

62:16:20

16:90:02

£eecel

61°'¥S:0L

¥0:1¥:80

9¢€:2.v:60

LSvivl

Lyovivl

6v:6¥:10

8Yee’10

Ge6lile

65:¥2:0¢

€6:G¥:91

128160

ceLlv0

1e3[)

00:40:91

6S:6¥:L0

¥1:$0:0¢

6vvlEl

96:6v:01

GG:6€:10

£g:ce Lo

Lg'¥¢:0¢ 00:60:0¢ L}:65°61

8G'¥1:60

61:8G°€0
A4 s1 )

ug

00:20:81

8¢'20:6)

6S:6%°20

¥1:¥0:0¢

6% vL€lL
96:6%:01
££:+0:80
25:.€:60
9€:6¢:v1
90:25 11
GG:6€:10

90:46:00

€€:81112

L0:.v:6)

6¥:v1:9)

6¥:€£:80

9¢:9¢'€0

§202/90/20

8€:10:61
§20¢/50/20
65:6¥:L0
§20¢/50/20
¥1:¥0:0¢
§¢02/v0/20

6vvLEL
5202/+0/20
95:61:01
§20Z/¥0/20
£0:65:20
§202/¥0/20
12:LE:60
§202/€0/20
£1:02:71
202/20/20
Le6biLL
§202/20/20
GG:6E:L0
5202/20/20
1£:95:00
§202/20/20

85:91:1¢
§202/10/20
LEOvi6L
G20¢/10/c0

8€€L91
5¢02/10/20
€€:2E'80
G20¢/10/20

9¢€:62'¢0
6¢0¢/10/c0

sQ PeAladey §49

L0e

OSOH

vee

oge

LlE

€LE

8ce

OSOH
oee

8¢e
LYE

LVE

9ee

6¥¢

8€e

8€¢

9ge
nwn

652 SINHEY

662 3TMHEY

662 SleEv

66¢ SlEy

65C ASMEY
662 ASMEY

o}
65¢ IDANEY

65¢ 3IAAEY
6SCIOANEL

66¢ OLlvey
65¢ Slevy

65¢)IONVEY

65C4NNL L6

69¢ Sldcy

6SCIDAINCL

652 INNL L6

65T IDANWEY

/ AV QOOMAYH

TAINEYD
LINNOWN ‘1S NIV
M 0€Z | 30dN0S
18¥I4 sY3aing

JAY AOOMAWH

I M L AVMHOIH
IAY AOOMITONIT
/M L AYMHOIH

TINHYD
LA '3AY ONOWWYH
eiz | INFWLEYdAq
30110d

JIWHYO LNNOW
TANHVYO INNOW

“dQ AITHSY Svl
TINEYD LNNOW '¥a
T3MNYT IATOM L22
IAY GOOMITONT

I M LLE AVMHDIH

1S aoomaszd / Iny
JONIANIJIANI
TANHYD LINNOW ‘$03
LINN N7 3470M 6E¥1L
N1 S

M/ 3AVY HVIANTTO
TANYYD

LINNOW ‘N1 SIM13 282
T3NHYO

INNOW ‘103 LINN

& N7 34TOM 6EPL
TIIH HOYNHO Na
1SN ATTIVA LEL
TIWHYD LNNOW

‘M Ll AVYMHDIH

20€ | (M LL AVMHDIR)

I ¥S 6€ W

13NEVYO

INNOW ‘LS 3NId Lz€
13NNVYO

INNOW '3AY
JONIANIA3ANI 026

Ns3 adAL (12D uoneao

NS3 Ag dnoig j9syg pesids swi| ssuodsey OS ALNNOD SNIMMVYH

056€00-6202

6G8£00-520¢2

18.£00-620¢

86.£00-520¢

¥69£00-620¢
1 L9€00-520¢
£49€00-620¢

¢0§€00-520¢

21¥€00-5¢02

90%€00-520¢

28€€00-6202

¥8€€00-5202

¥.€€00-6202

$9€£00-520¢

6¥££00-5202

96¢€00-G20¢

282€00-5¢0¢

# 40
65¢

(A3 MOT'HODIH) NI Aoud

1682€ NL ‘ ATASYIOO0Y 1S NIVIN 3 1622
@3 fQuno)H supimey



90:9%:) ZE-ve-
00:0  00:0
00:0  00:0

10:60:L 000
00:0  00:0
000  00:0
00:0  00:0
00:0  00:0
000 000
000  00:0

ZG€E 000
00:0 000
000  00:0
00:0  00:0
000 000
000  00:0
000 000

bZL 000
00:0 000
000  00:0
00:0 000
000  00:0

166
00:0

00:0

80:0

alelL

00:0

€0:0

6101

00:0

00:0

EL:GL

00:0
00:0
6961

00:0

00:0

00:0

8C:L

6181

00:0

00:0

00:0

ezey
00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0
00:0
00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

810
10:0

6¥:0

00:0
€et

il

90:0

210

00:0

00:0

€0:0

00:0
$2:0
44y

{51 20]

00:0

00:0

-0

60:¢l

00:0

00:0

seel

ceihLiee
GeozivLico
90:61-61
§c0c/vLieo
8L LGl
EHAVA AT

80:00:61
G20z/eL/eo
9¢:65:00
TAVA[A Ay

60:80-%1
§coe/1 1o
(45N
§20g/1L Lo

GE:6¥:80
Gcoc/LL/eo
LpiLS e
§202/0L/20
9GS ¥S vl
rAAV AN
L8:€C:10
§202/0L/co

8¥:9€:2¢
§¢02/60/¢0
0gigce
G20¢/60/c0
Lo LS
§202¢/60/c0
£€0:06-01
§202/60/20

8¢:8¢ele
§202/80/¢0
L$:10:02
§202/80/20
62-€€:91
§20¢/80/¢0
ceLL:S)
620z2/L0/20
Sleevl
§202/.L0/20
L0:6¥:CL
G20¢/L0/20
288l
§202/90/20
Gg:20:91

CC-L1€T 91:6€:L2 |2i1TiLT LO'E0:0C €€:9€:0C 0):€G61

90:61'61

8LiLPSGL

80:00-61

92:65:00

8E1GEL

LLiES )

G€:G¥:80

3 A8 T

99 ¥Gvl

L8€C:10

8¥'9¢g'¢e
0e:1Eee
LO:b1LSE

£0:06:04

8¢:8¢:l¢
L¥:10:02
62:€€:91
CTAVA o1
80:€€¥l
L0:6¥:C)

8€:8¢2:81

92'Sv'Sl 61:€e:G1

0Z:12:10 €eibL’L0

€:82:91 G2:GZ:91

6€:G1:6L

yxal 243

16:6%:00

oter:LlL

$5:85-L0

£2:0P:1¢

GOLSvl

1¥:¢0:10

9leeee

91:60:G1

8¥:Lcile

GG bS6L

01619}

9E:LG Pl

LEce vl
€5EPCl

6€:Gl:6)

LLiLEGL

6L:0v:v1

GE:LE:00

lotheel

eLeviil

GE8Y:L0

€c-opiLe

SO:LG¥L

8¢:Ly:00

9l:€g:¢¢
(AR VA4
FAR 24"

6¢:82:01

8y:L¢' e

SSvS61

ceLL8)

LIBEYL

Leeevl

3B A48

¥1:60:81

262661
Geociviieo
8€G161
§20z/vLico
¢Z:9e:51
Gc0z/viico

61:0v¥L
§20zc/EL/co
21:9¢€:00
ETAVAINTAY

Ll'6CEl
§c0Z/1 /20
LOEV:LL
§202/11120

8118¥:20
5202/ 1120
£2:0%:12
5202/01/20
S0:LGPh
$202/04/20
G2:L%:00
5202/04/20

IR ANAA
§¢0¢/60/20
80:90:2¢
§¢02/60/20
SS ¥yl
§¢02/60/¢0
9v:Le0l
§20¢/60/20

8yiiciie
§20¢/80/20
GG ¥G61
$¢02/80/20
8¥:0L:91
§¢02/80/20
80:LCVl
§202/,0/20
1ecevl
§20¢/.0/20
£6:evch
§202/.0/c0
6€:9G:L1
§202/90/20
00:20:91

pee

14%%

£31%%

(4%

9443

0ee

8.€

cre

[4°13

€Le

cse

[4°1>
ese

9ee

OSOH

ese

ase

LvE

L¥E

€LE

108

8ge

69¢ iSNsey

66¢ SliEv

652 dveEb

652 )NYAEY
M
652 1dNSEY

65¢ Olvey

65¢ ASMEP

6G¢ Slacy
65¢ Slevy
652 ASMEY

65¢ INOdEY

65¢ Slev
652 ISNSey

65¢ Ve

6S¢ 3TIMUEY

69¢ SlEvy
66¢ SlEv
65¢ WSiacy
65C ASMEY

65¢ ASMEY
652 ASMEY

65¢ SVEY

M 9gr | GaNdYD
LNAOW) HSYM
¥vD 9na v any
IAY IONIANIJIANI
/M LY AYMHOIH
JIWYVYD LNNOW
‘1S NOSHOVT 506
TANHYO INNOW
‘IAY AOOMAYM
901 | S1¥vd

OlNY ATN3HO
TINEYD LNNOW
“HQ 3IHOYIHD 129
TANEYD

LINNOW ‘ad AITIVA

SHILHVO 9189
T1IH HO¥NHO

‘NTSIT3 M Log
TANHVYO

LINNOW 3NV
13XONLNVN 626
AV JONIANIJIACNI
M 1L AYMHOIH
T3NHYO LNNOW
‘IAY AOOMAYH 9L¥
T1INEYO LNNOW
ANV TIVHSHVYI §22
dio

AHOMOIH TO / 3AY
JONIANI43ANI
TIWHVO LNNOW ¥a
AHOMOIH 410 055
TANHVYO LNNOW
‘IAY ANOWWVYH 0€8
M L AVMHOIH

/ AV QOOMIATONI
T13WHVYO LNNOW

‘M L AYMHOIH

20€ | (M L1 AYMHSIH)

1 YIS 6€ WIN

IAY QOOMITONT
/M L AVMHOIH
1S NIvIN

3/ 3NV ANOWNVH
T1ANEYO

LNNOW 'LS AvE 9¢p
13NEYD

INNOW 'LS MVO L22
13WAVO LNNOW
‘1S ATIOH 6¢v
T3IWAEYD LNNOW

‘IAVY NOSYHIH43r Gy

1S SS3™dAD

¥08¥00-520¢

208¥00-520¢

¥8.+¥00-5202

¢.9¥00-520¢

219¥00-6¢02

¥8¥700-5202

G.¥¥00-620C

19¥¥00-520¢

6E¥Y00-5202

26€1¥00-5202

LE€E€$00-G20C

81€v00-G202
L1€¥00-6202

18¢¥00-G20¢

992+00-620¢2

022+00-5202
¥0¢¥00-5202
681¥00-520¢
$90%00-520¢

€90¥00-5202

160¥00-5202

G96€00-520¢C



00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0
00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00-0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0
00:0

00:0

00:0

1-:0¢-

Gv:SS

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

90:0

¥0:0

¥0:0

10:8

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

6522

90:4

00:0

00:0

00:0

0g:0l

00:0

00:0

] 4

G¥'GS

00:0

628

LEeL

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

LL'€C

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

95§

£€0

00:0

00:0

§0:0

00:1

00:0

00:0

00:0

10:0

6¥:0

60:¥

[420)

00:0

0

020

6¢:C

00:1

00

00:0

00:0

6€:0

10:0

86:ccil
GeQe/1e/eo
Sc el
6202/02/20
9110 L L
§¢0¢/0¢/20
Z1:9G:01
G¢0¢c/02/20
cl:9c:0l
§202/02/20
Sh:12iL0
§202/02/20
60'LE:0)
§20¢/81/20

15:12:01
§202/81/20
Z1:90:0}
§202/81/20
12:22:10
§202/81/20
et grad
SZ0Z/LLIZ0
JLerAR:))
202/21120
eangn
§202/L1/20
6G:51L:L1
5202/91/20
LOPGGL
$202/91/20
S0:62:61
202/91/20

GC'1E:0)
§¢0¢/9L/c0
6€:¢c0l
§20¢/9L/c0
¥2:0€:20
§20¢/91/20
119161
G¢02/S1/c0

yL:L0:81
§202/51/20
¥2:€2:91
§202/51/20
1£61:20
§202/51/20

9¥'05:80
L8:62:T)
20510001
65:GG:01
¢0:9¢:01
S¥ileL0

60:1€:01

1811201

Z1:90:01

YXATAAYLY)

8€:L1:¢C

PAgAR ]S

¥ri10:LL

6G:GL:LL

10:¥SGL
G0:62:G1

¢1:80:0}
8¢:65:60
¥2:0€:20

L:oLi6l

¥i1081

veegol

1E6%:L0

¥1:85:0}

1G:6¥:04

91:0¢:0}

0¥:12:90

0¥:82:0)

62:81:01

GE:00:04

€€:€1:L0

65:€¢:¢¢

Lyiveist

GE€LLL

£6:90:G1

9%:10°10

Gl:cs8lL

YSviLL

21666l

4R ALY

L0210

0e:95:21

8bvy:80
FAA A
80:85'01
Ly:61:0)
[ 0r40]%
6€:€1:90

01:82:01

62:81:0L

Ge:00:04

EEELIL0

00:10:¢¢

GE:Le:G1

£1:8%:60

geeliLl

LG:0v:Gl

€295l

€1°50:01
65:65°60
0€:45°00

0€:95:L1

YSvyiLL

VAZVHC I

£1:62:L0

25:8€:80
202112120
1:80:21
5202/02/20
80:85:0}
$202/02/20
L6901
§202/02/20
£0:0Z:01
202/02/20
6€:21:90
$202/02/20
0v:8Z:01
$202/81/20

62:81:01
$202/81/20
G€:00:01
§202/81/20
2€€1:20
§202/81/20
11:00:22
S20Z/LLIZ0
9Z:€2:G1
§202/LL/20
LpiL160
202124120
GeElill
§202/91/20
LOOVGL
§202/91/20
£0:95:%
§202/91/20

¥¥:20:0L
§202/91/20
65:¥5:60
G202/91/20
0€:66°00
G¢02/91/20
0€:9G:L1
§20z/SL/co

R )
§202/51/20
80:06:G}
§202/51/20
Z762:20
§202/51/20

8LE

£ve
€Le

€8

€Le

£ve

08¢

08¢

08¢

1594

yee

9ge

9ge

£ee

825
€ee

(34%

OSOH
4%

1GE

pee

Lve

€ee

TINEYO LNNOW ‘93

65¢ Od4NIEy 1O N1 3410M 6Evi
TANIYO LINNOW
Hd AITHSV €51
TINYVO LNNOW ‘93
692 ASMEY  LOT N1 34TOM 6evi
1IH HOYNHD
‘N1 SITT3 M L0€
T3WEVO LINNOW
HAa AFTHSY Spi
1S HO339

/ AV INOWI38
713WHYO LNNOW
da ATHSY St
13NAYO
ANNOW ‘€ LINN
652 ASMeY  IAVY ONOWWVH €28
13WHYO LNNOW

BSZ ASMEY  'IAV VINVILV 12
IAY AOOMITONT

[ M LY AVMHOIH
13ANEVYO LNNOW
‘1S ¥va3D 8zs

J13WHVYO LINNOW

652 SIasy  ‘IAV ITNAHSY plE
T13WHEVYO LINNOW
‘18 ¥va30 8zs
1S NIviA

65¢ Sley M/ 3AV INOWI34
TANYYD LNNOW

652 0ANIEY  'IAY INOWI38 901

JIWHYD INNOW
‘1S ¥va3D g5
TANEYD INNOW

‘M L1 AVMHODIH

22s | (M 11 AVMHDIH)
I dS 8¢ NN

3AY AOOMITONIT

I M 1L AYMHSDIH
TINEYD LNNOW

‘18 ¥va3d 825
TIWNYVYD LNNOW

6SZ ASMEY  ‘IAY LNOWI3S 901
TANYYO INNOW

‘M LL AVMHDIH

20€ 1 (M L1 AVMHSDIH)
I ¥S 6€ WA

TAWHVYD LNNOW

‘1S ¥va3ad zvs
TINAYD INNOW

‘1S A0NYdS veY
RE[\}5\7e)

INNOW ‘LS NIvYW

69¢ Olvey

65¢ ASMEY

65¢ ASMEY

652 YONEPY

652 ASMEY

65C Sl1tv

65¢ OdNIEY

65¢ 104y

66C YVYHEY

65SC MASZL

652 MASZ.L

65¢ SIaey

662 Sitv¥

65¢ Svev

65C dIvEY

€99500-520¢

00¥500-5202
68€500-520¢
98€500-520C

¥8€500-6202

25€500-5202

0¥1500-520¢

6€1500-5202

9€1500-5¢0¢

¥21500-620C

601500-520¢2

9.0500-5¢02

§¥0500-G20¢

166¥00-5202

¥86¥00-5¢02

8.6¥00-5¢02

y¥6¥00-5202

¢¥6v00-520¢

L16¥00-520¢

188+00-520¢2

6.8¥00-5202

¥.8v00-5202

2L¥8¥00-6¢02



00:0

00:0

05:80°1L

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

0oeee

00:0

00:0

£¢:00°1

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

WEl-

00:0

[AVIA

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00'0

00:0

00:0

¥c6

00:0

20:¢

00:0

00:0

00:0

zsel

00:0

G0:€l

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

G0:0

00:0

00:0

50:22

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

L¢:0

00:0

Ge:0

9e:0

00:0

920

00:0

8yl

00:0

£6:0

€20

00:0

€¢:C

000

10:0

00:0

6¢:¥¥'60
G202/5¢/c0

2€:5€:80
§¢0c/Sc/co

62:¥¢:¢¢
G202/¥2/20
€0:8¥:61
§202/¥e/eco
9G:9¥'91
§20Z/v2/c0
60:8G:G1
G20¢/¥e/eo
9G:GL:EL
§¢02/ve/z0
90:L¥iLL
Geoze/ee/eo
8¥:61:01
S TAVA LA LAY
¥£:26:20
Ge0z/ee/co
celgiee
§¢0¢/ee/co

9¢:86:00
§20¢/ec/eo

€0:91:81
§20¢/eeleco

6€:¢y 9l
g¢0zc/ze/eo
80:8€:¥L
Geoz/eeleo
91:/G6:90
G¢0c/ee/co
VEH A A %4
§20¢e/1eleo

LGP 8L

§20¢/1e/eco

QA TANE
§20¢/ie/eo

62:¥¥:60 81:8¢€:60

¢g:6e:80 92:62:80

62:¥2:22 8Y:¥0:LZ SHEVOZ 22:90:02
0z:6):61
959791 91:82:9)
60:8G:51
95:GLEL
pG0P:LL L0:62:41

8v:6¥:0lL €G:¥P:0l €2:01:01 S1:G2:01
$€:25:20 80:€¥'20
(4 5=RN4 8G:¥Pi€C

92'85:00 0l:6¥-¢C 9G:1€:¢C Ly:8¥-lC

€0:91:81
6ECYr9l
GLilepl 80:¢evl
£0:69°G0
LELYLE cyiee:le
eviviigl o€ L¥LL
£€:92:EL Geveel

£0:61:0¢

b1:9¢:91L

81:8€'60

926280

86:96:61

c0:6L6}

yi:9colL

LLpEYL

20:80:€}

1062711

€2:L1:0b

80:€¥:20

€6:1EEC

Ly81:1e

vEv0:81

LELE9

80:cevl

61:8¥:G0

[42 15074

0€:iviLL

0c:veel

81:8€:60
6202/S¢/c0

9¢:62:80
§202/5¢/20

8G:0G:61
§20¢/ve/eo
LP8Li6L
§¢02/¥e/co
¥1:92:91
§c0zZ/ve/co
[4£8 584"
G20¢/¥elc0
92:L0:€l
S¢0z/ve/20
L0621
Geoe/ee/eo
LS:01:0L
§20¢/ee/eo
80:€v:20
§¢0c/Ee/c0
50:0€°€2
6202/2¢/20

Ly:8Yie
G¢0¢/cele0

Ly:e0:8lL
§20¢/2e/e0

80:1€:9)
§20¢/ec/eco
80:ceyl
G¢0e/ezeo
96:6¥°G0
Gc0¢c/ceieo
Zyi6eiLe
G20¢/12/eo

6¢:LyLL

§c0z/ie/co

0z:veel
§202/12/20

08e

€LE

cve

8€¢

€LE

cSe

ese

LGE

16€
Zve

GEE

[4

cve

1GE
LGE

8¢¢

(4%

€L€

8.€

13WHYO

ANNOW ‘€ LINN

JAV ANOWIVH €28
T3NEYD

ANNOW ‘IAY
JONIANI4IANL 902
13WHVO LNNOW
‘ANY ANOWWVH €12
| INFWLYVYL3A 3Y1d
13NYYD LNNOIW
TANHEYD

LINNOW ‘LS AvE LS¥
13NEYO LNNOW
9a AFTHSV €51
13WEYO LNNOW
‘A ATTHSY €61
ANV AOOMAWH

M LL AVMHOIH

TANHYD

INNOW ‘1S AVE 0¥¥
JAIWAYD INNOW
‘IAY ANOWWYH L£2
IAY FONIANILAANI
! M 1L AYMHDIH
TAWYYD LNNOW Na
134NV I410M £22
TINEYD

LNNOW ‘LS NIVIA
MZSE 1 (13NNYD
ANNOW) NOHLYYVYIN
TINHYD

INNOW ‘LS NIVIN

M ¥2S | aNEYD
AINNOW) S33auvH

TINHVD INNOW
‘M 1L AYMHOSIH

225 | (M Ll AVMHSIH)
| US 8€ WIN

JANHYD

652 SLE¥ INNOW ‘LS AVE vZ¥
QY SSOHD AVM / A
ATTIVA SHILEVYD
IAV SVINNTTO

/NI SITIE3 M

TANEYD INNOW

‘M 1L AYMHOIH

225 | (M 1L AVMHDIH)
L ¥S 8¢ WIN

TANSYD

LINNOW ‘IAY

652 ASMEY  IONIANALIAN! 902

652 ASMEY

652 ASMEY

65¢C 1ISNSEY

652 SY9C.

65¢ ASMeP

65¢ O4NIEY

652 Slev

65¢ Slev

65¢ 1SNSeYy
66¢ SlieEv

65¢ 1LdEY

65C Slevy

65¢ OdNIEY

652 YOWEY

652 IOANZ.L

65¢ Sley

65¢ SlEY

¥88500-G202

0.8500-G¢0¢

228500-520¢

¢¢8500-520¢

008500-5202

111500-G20¢

89/500-520¢

¥59500-G20¢2

6¥9500-5202

2£9500-5202

2£9500-520¢

129500-520¢

£19600-620¢

609500-520¢

86G500-520¢C

695500-G¢0¢2

L¥G500-G202

225500-520¢

96¥500-5202



00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

00:0

'S

(W)
1B8|DZoALY
awj abeleAy

iy

(W) zamuydsia
awi) abesany

sP:5S 00:0 o ats4 00:0
(W) eamay/dsig p) eAataydsig (W) Jugdsig (W) uzdsig
awil xew dwit Ulin QWi xXe oswi] Uiy
9€:1E8l
el 000 12:0 G202/82/20 9€1L£:8)
8¥iL12l
00:0 00:0 ¥1:0 6202/82/20 8¥:LL:Z)
12:6€:80
9L:6€ 00:0 0s:1 §¢0¢/8¢/20  1Z:6£:80
258821
00:0 00:0 00:0 G202/L2%0 2S:9E:C)
SH¥E00
00:0 00:0 90:Z S202/12/120 o¥:6Z:00
6g£:€2:01
00:0 000 000 Ge0z2/9er0  6€:€2:01
0Z:61:04
00:0 00:0 00:0 §202/S2/20  0Z:G1:01

60:L

(W) zoalaype
owl] abelaay
sezh

(w) dsiass4o
awi] xep

£0:Lz:81

G1:9€:80

3 4 HA

v1:61:04

€€:60:01

0S JH

152 95y 00-0 00:L 001
(W) W) (W) dsig/s40
(W) yeyjenlty (W) eAlyydsia aAllY[eIN0IUT ajnosugydsiq  ouwl) sbelany
oaw] ofesany awyi)] aBeseay swj] abesany sw) abelany
00:0 62:10:2 Liiwlil Sv:62:1 6€:62:1
(W) dsiars4o (W) Zoalty (W) 2a11y (W) aynoauz (W) dsia
awy] uyy /dsiqawiy [e3oj /dsiq ewll |ejoL /dsiq awi | [e10] /S0 awi| [e10)
88 Sploday jejoL
L1608l T1INHYD LNNOIW
2e:60:81 §20¢/82/20 LPE  B6GCISNSEY ‘1S "¥Va3D 919 92€900-5202
¥d
€2:50°Cl SMVO NIATS / AV
L€:60:¢C) 620¢/82/2o 9€E  6S2)ONVEPR JONIANALIANI 022800-5202
6€:65:20 T3INEVYD LNNOW
62:26:20 G202/82/c0 0€E 652 ¥Iver ‘IAY ANOWWVH 60€ €¥2900-5202
Lv-geel NT13J4T0M /O
\reech §202/L2120 €eE 692 Sier ASTIVA SH3LHYD  891900-5202
1G:80-00 REbc)0]
1101100 STOLLTIZ0  lge 652 MdSzL LINNMOW'1S 3NI8LY €£1900-5202
vi6lL:0lL JINEYO INNCW "¥ID
L6101 6202/52120 08 6GC ASMEP IIMO0HBYIHS S OLL $68500-5202
£€:60:01 TINHYO LNNOW
£€:60:01 §20¢/S2/20 08€ 652 ASMEY ‘N134T0M 6¥PL  268500-5202



(4

3o 1

%¥6-€Ll %00}-v€ %2676

*ouf “swaIsAS orjJe1], Xa[Ipay O

NV 81:€2:G §202/9/€ :UO pojelauay
NOSYV1a :Ag pajessuan

pajullg S8J1ON [el0 )]

%b6-ELL  %00L-VE  %C676L SuolejoiA paaoiddy
%90-L %000  %B0-L lejoL
[SLEIEN|
%101 %00-0 %1071 paads joe.00U| ljod
%€0-¥ %00-0 %S0-v yse|4 ON sjeld Jesy uonoUNYeN
%¢0-2 %00-0 %20-2 Aunig ejowe) ajeld Jeay elawen
s108[ay ssa
ocl ve 98 Uuoflnd8s0ld J04 a|ge|leAy
0 0 0 $591601d Ul §897
0Z1L 98 SUOHE|OIA |EI01 NS
R B2 1oL
sanss|
8¢ Sl €C sojeld Jeded uojessiboy
€ 0 [ aInjeN/Jauieapn
I 0 L ale|o ung .
€l jo74 8 9|oIUBA papuaix3 yreapn/Adlod
sjoofoy
ole GLl G6l uofaJosiq 89ijod aoljod
g ] 0 uoiaNNsSqQ 82IUsA

9l L 6 uoponysqo sield  uohoniisqo
s10]0B 9|qe||oJJuUodU Sso
99¢ 102 Go¢ SJUSpPIOU} passalold |ejo]

N ~

< <

< <

T I

2 & o

= D) 2

@) o]

= = =

% :p| 10jesadQ

G20¢-q°4-8¢ 01 GZ0¢-9°4-10

sad/A}] uonosalaq 1v (]swaes junoj) Hoday Juswabeuep Jawolsn)



*ou] ‘SwWRISAS diJel], Xo[IPoY O
¢ Joz

NV 81:€Z'S SZ0Z/S/C UOQ Pejelsus
NOS¥V1a :Ag pejessuen

JUa.LINd 3y} 81esipul Ajuo [Im podas SIy) Ul pajosjial sasniels ay) ‘1st) umop doup :yoseoiddy, auy woly ||y, Pe109|es noA §| ;810N
anneiadou| = (]) uononpoid = (d) :puabar

2 3 >
2 2 S
% :Pp| 103esadQ §20¢-d°4-8¢ 031 520¢-9d°4-10

sadA] uonoajaq lIv (jswies junojy) poday Juswabeuey Jawoysny



‘o] ‘sune}sAg o1yel], Xapay &

1 301
WV L£:1€'S SZ0Z/S/E :UO pajessuss
NOSYVIQ :Ag pejelsuss
%P6 €11 €1l L ozl 0 vy 995 Lol
%001 e e 0 e 0 191 102 20-YHLI-NOW
%26 61 6. ) 98 0 6.2 S9E  LO-VHLL-NOW
31Ivd Q3INIGd SNOILVIOIA SNOILVIOIA  NOILNO3S0ud SINIAIONI
IONVNSSI SIOIION VIOL Q3AOYddY Q3L03r3d H0d T1avIVAVY SS39908d NI SINIAIONT 3103ray d3ss300yd

G20¢-924-8¢ 01 G20c-924-10

SINTLSAS Dld4val
sadA} uonosieqd IV (1ewaed unoly) Hoday juswsbeuely 1awuoisny

X3nda3y

Ld0d3d AYVININNS LNINIAOVNVYIN 43IINOLSND



Mount Carmel Municipal Report

Report for: __ February 2025

Charge

Number of

Driver’s license to be carried 55-50-351

Driver’s license violation residency law 55-50-333

Driving left of center 55-8-120

Driving right lane except to pass 55-8-115

Driving too slow-impeding flow of traffic 55-8-154

Driving without a license 55-50-301

Due Care 55-8-136

Failure to Appear- Municipal 39-16-609

Financial responsibility 55-12-139

Light law violation 55-9-402

Move over law 55-8-132

Muffler law 55-9-202

Driving Unregistered Vehicle 55-3-102

Registration- expired plate 55-4-110

Registration — improper display 55-4-110

Registration - misuse 55-5-115

Registration — No certificate in vehicle 55-4-104

Seat belt required 55-9-603

Speeding 55-8-152

Stop sign violation 55-8-149

Traffic control signal violation 55-8-110

Texting/ Hands free law 55-8-199

A= A= -

Driving on suspended/ revoked license 55-50-504

Possession of a revoked, suspended, altered license 55-50-601

Improper left turn 55-8-140

Animal Running at large MC-10-101 Dogs (10-203)

Failure to dim tights 55-9-407

No U-turn 55-8-109

Failure to yield right of way causing accident 55-8-197

Registration- Address incorrect 55-4-131

No parking violation 55-8-160

Child restraint law 55-9-602

Following to Close 55-8-124

Written Warnings

Total

13




MOUNT CARMEL

\9{/0/1'(:6 Zo put o daall

LEGISLATIVE MEMORANDUM

TO: Honorable Mayor Gibsen, Vice Mayor Bare, and Alderman Gilliam,
Alderman Patrick, Alderman Shugart, Alderman Binstock, Alderman Cross

THRU: James Stables, Town Administrator/Manager

FROM: David Larson, Police Chief

DATE: March 27, 2025

RE: DISCUSSION & CONSIDERATION: Police Department Surplus Vehicle
Disposal

SUMMARY:

The Police Department requests consideration and approval to surplus three (3) vehicles
listed below:

Vehicle Description Vehicle Identification Number Tag No.  Mileage
2011 Chrysler Charger 2B3CLICG4BH583790 6997-GA | 89,581
2011 Chrysler Charger 2B3CLICG6BH583788 7000-GA | 124,687

2013 Ford Explorer JFM5K8AR8DGA31338 154,760

These vehicles have met their useful and expected life cycle of approximately 8 to 10 years
for a take home car, and are no longer functionally available or needed for effective use in

the Town and/or the Police Department.

REQUESTING DEPARTMENT(S):
Police Department-David Larson, Police Chief

FISCAL IMPACT:
Unknown currently.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:
Staff recommends approval

ATTACHMENTS:

None



MOUNT CARMEL

Qg/a/ace Zo /emz‘(/amu AaaZy

LEGISLATIVE MEMORANDUM

TO: Honorable Mayor Gibson, Vice Mayor Bare, and Alderman Gilliam,
Alderman Patrick, Alderman Shugart, Alderman Binstock, Alderman Cross

THRU: James Stables, Interim Town Administrator-City Manager

FROM: James Stables, Interim Town Administrator-City Manager

DATE: March 27, 2025

RE: DISCUSSION & CONSIDERATION: Interlocal Agreement with the City of

Kingsport for Residential Refuse Collection Services

SUMMARY:
The City of Kingsport contacted us a few months back to discuss our interlocal agreement

for residential refuse collection services, preparing us for proper planning for the upcoming
budget cycle.

The agreement history that was provided by Kingsport staff informed us that the City of
Kingsport has been providing these solid waste services for approximately 17 years to the
Town, and for approximately 14 years of that time no rate increases were experienced. The
last few years have resulted in increases that were justified and based on rate studies
conducted or commissioned by the City of Kingsport.

The previous interlocal agreement in effect from July 1, 2024, was set at $9.25 per month,
per cart for 2,175 carts, or $20,118.75 per month, and $241,425.00 annually. The new
interlocal agreement, which is projected to be in effect from July 1, 2025, is set at $10.50
per month. per cart for 2,175 carts, or $22.837.50 per month, and $274,050.00 annualiy.
This is a 13.5% increase, with an actual economic impact of $1.25 per cart which results in
the following increases $2,718.75 monthly, and $32,625 annually.

REQUESTING DEPARTMENTY(S):
City Manager

FISCAL IMPACT:
$10.50 per month, per cart (increase of $1.25) for 2,175 carts
$22,837.50 (increase of $2,718.75) per month, $274,050.00 (increase of $32,625) annually

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:
Staff recommends approval

ATTACHMENTS:
(1) Current Interlocal Agreement-dated: May 16, 2024 (7 pages)
(2) Proposed Interlocal Agreement-March 27, 2025 (7 pages)




Attachment (2)

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT

This Interlocal Agreement is entered into this the Jﬁday of m oy ,
2024, by and between the TOWN OF MOUNT CARMEL, hereinafter referied to as the
“Mt. Carmel”, and the CITY OF KINGSPORT, hereinafter referred to as “Kingsport”, both
chartered municipalities of the State of Tennessee.
WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the Parties are authorized to enter into this Agreement pursuant to
Tennessee Code Annotated §§ 5-1-113; 5-1-114; and 12-9-101 et seq. and to provide for
interlocal agreements and cooperation; and

WHEREAS, it is deemed in the public interest for the parties hereto to enter into
an interlocal mutual aid agreement for certain Residential Refuse collection services.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants
contained herein, the Parties agree as follows:

8 Kingsport will furnish all personnel, labor, equipment, trucks and all other items
necessary to provide Residential Refuse collection as defined herein within the corporate
limits of Mt. Carmel at a price of $20,1 18.75 dollars, which is $9.25per month for 2,175
Carts in the city limits of Mt. Carmel, subject to adjustments provided for herein. Kingsport
will provide curbside collection service for the collection of Residential Refuse to each
Residential Unit one (1) time per week. Carts will be placed at curbside by 6:00 a.m. on
the designated collection day. Residential Refuse must be placed in the ninety-six (96)
gallon Cart provided by Kingsport to be collected by Kingsport.

2. The initial term of this Agreement will commence on Jv !§f \ ., 2024 and end on
Tune 30 2025.

3. Mt. Carmel will pick up or caused to be picked up Bags, Bulky Waste, Bundled
items, Construction Debris, Dead Animals, Rubbish, and any other trash, Garbage or
items for disposal that are not Residential Refuse and that are not contained in the Cart

provided by Kingsport.

4, The work under this Interlocal Agreement does not include the collection and
disposal of any increased volume resulting from a flood, tornado, high winds, electrical
storms or other act of God over which Kingsport has no control. In the event of such a
flood, tornado, high winds, electrical storms or other act of God, Kingsport and Mt. Carmel
will negotiate the payment to be made to Kingsport. Further, if Mt. Carmel and Kingsport
reach such agreement, then Mt. Carmel will grant to Kingsport variances in routes and
schedules as deemed necessary by Kingsport.

5. Kingsport has provided 2,175 Carts at 96.gallons at no charge for the collection of
Residential Reuse hereing Only the Carts supplied by Kingsport will be used for this

My documenis/AgreemenUlnterloca| Agreement Mt. Carmel Garbage Plck Up 5-17-22 1



collection. These Carts will remain the property of Kingsport._ except as otherwise
provided in this section. Carts will be assigned to properties by serial number stamped on
each Cart.

6. The current site for the disposal of the Residential Refuse collected hereunder is
the BFI landfill in the Carter's Valley Community. This site is available pursuant to an
agreement between Hawkins County, Tennessee and BFI to which neither Kingsport or
Mt. Carmel is a party. In the event the agreement is ever modified such that it is no longer
available free of charge, the cost hereunder will be re-negotiated.

7. Each Cart will be placed at curbside for collection. Kingsport may indicate the
location for the placement of a Cart. Curbside refers to that portion of right-of-way fronting
the residential dwelling and adjacent to paved or traveled streets. Carts will be placed as
close to the roadway as practicable without interfering with or endangering the movement
of vehicles or pedestrians. When construction work is being performed in the right-of-way,
Cart will be placed as close as practicable to an access point for the collection vehicle.
Kingsport may decline to collect any Cart not placed in accordance with this section.

8. Mt. Carmel agrees to impose the same restrictions and requirements on the
citizens of Mt. Carmel who are serviced by this Interlocal Agreement as Kingsport
imposes on its citizens for Residential Refuse collection, and Mt. Carmel agrees it will
take the action necessary to enforce such requirements, including but not limited to the
requirements for automated Residential Refuse collection. This includes but is not limited
to the requirement that the customer pay ‘or a replacement Cart when the Cart is no
longer reasonable usable, damaged beyond reasonable use, stolen or lost or if the
customer wants an additional Cart.

9. Collection of garbage will not start before 6:00 a.m. or continue after 6:00 p.m. on
the same day. Exceptions to collection hours will be effected only upon the mutual
agreement of the respective public works directors of Mt. Carmel and Kingsport, or when
Kingsport reasonably determines that an exception is necessary in order to complete
collection on an existing collection route due to unusual circumstances.

10. Collection routes will be established by Kingsport. Kingsport will submit a map
designating the collection routes to Mt. Carmel for its approval, which will not be
unreasonably withheld. Kingsport may from time to time propose to Mt. Carmel changes
in routes or days of collection.

11.  Kingsport observes certain holidays that may alter the scheduled pick up days.
Kingsport has the right to alter the scheduled pick up days due to the observance of a
holiday, but Kingsport will provide collection service at least once per week. The current
holidays include: New Year's Day, Martin Luther King's birthday, Good Friday, Memorial
Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Veterans Day, Thanksgiving Day, the day after
Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day, and at the discretion of Kingsport board of mayor and
aldermen other days. Kingsport may decide to observe any or all of the above-mentioned
holidays by suspension of collection service on the holiday, but such decision in no

My documents/Agreement/interiocal Agreament Mt. Cammel Garbage Pick Up 5-17-22 2



manner relieves Kingsport of its obligation to provide collection service at jeast once per
week.

12.  The beginning Cart count for this Agreement is 2,175 Carts. A new Cart count will
be established for every twenty-five (25) additional Carts provided. The monthly charge
set out in.paragraph 1:will increase by $9.25 per Cart'per month upon {he establishment
of a new Cart.count, or at the:newly: established rate determined in accordance with
section 20 herein. In no event will the Cart count be reduced.

13.  Kingsport will bill Mt. Carmel for services rendered within ten (10) days following
the end of the month and Mt. Carmel will pay Kingsport on or before the 25th day following
the end of such month. Such billing and payment will be based on the rates set out herein
with permitted adjustments. Kingsport will be entitled to payment for services rendered
regardless of whether or not Mt. Carmel collects from the customer for such services.

14, Apartment complexes or condominiums with more than six (6) units will not be
considered residential units and the owners must make their own arrangements for
collection and disposal.

15.  All complaints will be made directly to Kingsport Streets Sanitation Division at 229-
0451 between 8:00 a.m. and 3:00 p.m. Monday through Friday. In the case of alleged
missed scheduled collections, Kingsport will investigate and, if such allegations are
verified, will arrange for the collection of the Refuse not collected within 24 hours after the
complaint is received. However, in no event will Kingsport be required to collect any item
not contained in the Cart.

16. Kingsport will provide an adequate number of vehicles for regular collection
services. All vehicles and other equipment will be kept in good repair, appearance, and
in a sanitary condition at all times. Only truck bodies specifically constructed by a
recognized manufacturer of this type of specialized equipment for handling of garbage
will be acceptable. Each vehicle will have clearly visible on each side a designation
showing the vehicle is Kingsport's vehicle.

17.  Kingsport will maintain local telephone service where it can be contacted. A person
will be available from 8:00 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. on regularly scheduled collection days.
Kingsport Streets and Sanitation Division has a present address and phone number as
follows:

609 industry Drive

Kingsport, Tennessee 37660

423-229-9451

18. Mt. Carmel will notify all Producers at Residential Units about complaint
procedures, regulations, and day(s) for scheduled refuse collection by posting such
notification on the Carts.

My documents/Agreement/Interiocal Agreement Mt. Carmel Garbage Pick Up 5-17-22 3



19.  Kingsport's employees will be the responsibility of Kingsport, although nothing
herein will be construed to waive any governmental immunity, including such as set forth
in the Governmental Tort Liability Act. Appropriate protective clothing or equipment for
Kingsport's employees is Kingsport's responsibility. Kingsport's employees will deal with
customers and citizens in a courteous manner and will avoid abusive and obscene
language or behavior.

20. In addition to the above, the fees which may be charged by Kingsport will be
increased or decreased at any time upon thirty (30) days notice to Mt. Carmel for
additional rate and price adjustments due to any changes in responsibility of bearing
disposal cost, an increase in the number-of Residential Units, such as Mt. Carmel growth
or annexation, and changes-in-the location of disposal sites. Any change in Kingsport's*
cost of operations such as revised laws; ordinances; or regulations will constitute the right
of Kingsport to negotiate with Mt. Carmel anincrease to over these additional operating

expenses..

21. Forall purposes of this Agreement unless the context shall otherwise require, the
terms set forth in this Section whenever capitalized in this Agreement will have the
indicated meanings:

Bags — Bags will mean a bag made of plastic approximately two (2) feet in diameter and
no more than four (4) feet in length and be of sufficient strength to contain the weight of
the contents without breaking open. Such plastic bags must be securely tied and will
contain only leaves and yard trimmings.

Bulky Waste — Bulky Waste will mean stoves, refrigerators (if certification is attached that
freon has been reclaimed), water tanks, washing machines, furniture and other waste
materials other than Construction Debris, Dead Animals, Hazardous Waste or Stable
Matter with weights or volumes greater than those allowed for Containers. .
Bundled ltems — Bundled items will mean tree, shrub and brush trimmings or newspapers
and magazines securely tied together forming an easily handled package not exceeding
ten feet in length or 5" inches in diameter.

Construction Debris — Construction Debris will mean waste building materials resulting
from construction, remodeling, repair or demolition operations, specifically excluding dirt
and rock.

Cart - A receptacle with a capacity of ninety-six (96) gallons supplied and owned by
Kingsport.

Dead Animals — Mt. Carmel will continue to pick up Dead Animals. Dead Animals means
animals or portions thereof equal that have expired from any cause, except those
slaughtered or killed for human use.

Disposal Site - A Refuse depository including but not limited to sanitary landfills, transfer
stations, incinerators, materials recycling facilites and waste processing/separation
centers licensed, permitted or approved to receive for processing or final disposal of
Refuse by all governmental bodies and agencies having jurisdiction and requiring such
licenses, permits or approvals.

Garbage - Every accumulation of waste (animal, vegetable and/or other matter) that
results from the preparation, processing, consumption, dealing in, handling, packing,
canning, storage, transportation, decay or decomposition of meats, fish, fowl, birds, fruits,

My documents/Agresment/interiocal Agresment Mt. Carmel Garbage Plck Up 5-17-22



grains or other animal or vegetable matter (including, but not by way of limitation, used
tin cans and other food containers; and all putrescible or easily decomposable waste
animal or vegetable matter which is likely to attract flies or rodents), except (in all cases)
any matter included in the definition of Bags, Bulky Waste, Bundle, Construction Debris,
Dead Animals, Hazardous Waste, Rubbish, Stable Matter, or Special Waste.

Hazardous Waste - Any chemical, compound, mixture, substance or article which is
designated by the United States Environmental Protection Agency or appropriate agency
of the State to be "hazardous" as that term is defined by or pursuant to Federal or State
Law.

Producer - An occupant of a Residential Unit who generates Refuse.

Refuse - This term will refer to Residential Refuse generated by a Producer at a
Residential Unit.

Residential Refuse - All Garbage generated by a Producer at a Residential Unit.
Residential Unit - A dwelling within the corporate limits of Mt. Carmel occupied by a
person or group of persons comprising not more than six dwelling units. A Residential
Unit will be deemed occupied when either water or domestic light and power services are
being supplied thereto. A condominium dwelling or an apartment complex whether of
single or multi-level construction, consisting of six or less contiguous or separate single-
family dwelling units, will be treated as a Residential Unit, except that each single-family
dwelling within any such Residential Unit will be billed separately as a Residential Unit.
Rubbish — Rubbish will mean all waste wood, wood products, tree trimmings, grass
cuttings, dead plants, weeds, leaves, dead trees or branches thereof, chips, shavings,
sawdust, printed matter, paper, pasteboard, rags, straw, used and discarded mattresses,
used and discarded clothing, used and discarded shoes and boots, combustible waste
pulp and other products such as are used for packaging, or wrapping crockery and glass,
ashes, cinders, floor sweepings, glass, mineral or metallic substances, and any and all
other waste materials not included in the definition of Bulky Waste, Construction Debris,
Dead Animals, Garbage, Hazardous Waste or Stable Matter.

Special Waste - Any solid waste which requires special processing, handling or disposal
techniques which are different from the techniques normally utilized for handling or
disposal or contains an added element of expense to transport or dispose of or requires
approval from any State agency. Examples of Special Waste may include, but are not
limited to: oil, gas, paint, paint cans, biohazardous waste, white goods, tires, mining
wastes, fly ash, combustion ash, sludges, drilling fluids and drill cuttings, asbestos,
industrial wastes, liquid wastes, infectious wastes and residue, pollution control residue,
debris or contaminated soil and water from the cleanup or a spill.

22.  Neither party will be liable to the other or be deemed to be in breach of this
Agreement for any failure or delay in rendering performance arising out of causes beyond
its reasonable control and without its fault or negligence. Such causes may include but
are not limited to, acts of God or the public enemy, terrorism, severe weather,
thunderstorms, severe wind, significant fires, floods, earthquakes, epidemics, quarantine
restrictions, strikes, freight embargoes, or Governmental Authorities approval delays
which are not caused by any act or omission by either parly. The party whose
performance is affected agrees to notify the other promptly of the existence and nature of

any delay.

My documents/Agreement/interlocal Agresment Mt. Carmel Garbage Pick Up 5-17-22



23, No amendment to this Interlocal Agreement will be made except upon the written
consent of the parties.

24. In the event that any provision or portion of this Interlocal Agreement is found to
be invalid or unenforceable, then such provision or portion thereof will be reformed in
accordance with the applicable laws. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision or
portion of any of this Interlocal Agreement will not affect the validity or enforceability of
any other provision or portion of the Interlocal Agreement.

25. Upon the occurrence of an alleged default, or a dispute or disagreement between
the parties hereto arising out of or in connection with any term or provision of this
Agreement or, the subject matter hereof, or the interpretation or enforcement hereof (the
“Dispute”), the parties will engage in informal, good faith discussions and attempt to
resolve the Dispute. In connection therewith, upon written notice of either party, each of
the parties will appoint a designated officer whose task it will be to meet for the purpose
of attempting to resolve such Dispute. The designated officers will meet as often as the
parties will deem to be reasonably necessary. Such officers will discuss the Dispute. If
the parties are unable to resolve the Dispute in accordance with this paragraph, and in
the event that either of the parties concludes in good faith that amicable resolution through
continued negotiation with respect to the Dispute is not reasonably likely, then the parties
may mutually agree to submit to nonbinding mediation. |f the matter is not resolved by
mediation either party will have the right, at its sole option, without further demand or
notice, to take whatever action at law or in equity may appear necessary or desirable o
enforce its rights including, but not limited to, the suspension or termination of this

agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement in duplicate
original counterparts, each of which constitutes an original.

TOWN OF MOUNT CARMEL,

TENNESSEE
ATTEST:

W By /{#JYLLQL,L)-’&U

EM;;:,@ . City Recorder [ — 0,_24{?’1_ , Mayor

APRROVED AS TO FORM:

My documents/Agreemant/interiocal Agreement Mt. Carmnel Garbage Plck Up 5-17-22 6



-G:! b‘é‘% CITY OF KINGSPORT, TENNESSEE

o kil 4 S ((

Angela Niarshal, fu,o,n RS corder Patrick W. Shull, Mayor
8 D N R
APPROVED AS To.f’@fgms:.if-" A7
i v, 'h' *
%Mll"‘vp,

City Attorney for Kingsport

My documents/Agreement/Interiocal Agreement Mt. Carmel Garbage Pick Up 5-17-22



Attachment (1)

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT

This Interfocal Agreement is entered into this the Z7°‘.’day of _ Marech ,
2025, by and between the TOWN OF MOUNT CARMEL, hereinafter referred to as the
“Mt. Carmel”, and the CITY OF KINGSPORT, hereinafter referred to as “Kingsport”, both
chartered municipalities of the State of Tennessee.

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the Parties are authorized to enter into this Agreement pursuant to
Tennessee Code Annotated §§ 5-1-113; 5-1-114; and 12-9-101 et seq. and to provide for
interlocal agreements and cooperation; and

WHEREAS, it is deemed in the public interest for the parties hereto to enter into
an interlocal mutual aid agreement for certain Residential Refuse collection services.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants
contained herein, the Parties agree as follows:

1. Kingsport will furnish all personnel, labor, equipment, trucks and all other ftems
necessary to provide Residential Refuse collection as defined herein within the corporate
limits of Mt. Carmel at a price of $22,837.50 dollars, which is $10.50 per month for 2,175
Carts in the city limits of Mt. Carmel, subject to adjustments provided for herein. Kingsport
will provide curbside collection service for the collection of Residential Refuse to each
Residential Unit one (1) time per week. Carts will be placed at curbside by 6:00 a.m. on
the designated collection day. Residential Refuse must be placed in the ninety-six (96)
gallon Cart provided by Kingsport to be collected by Kingsport.

2. The initial term of this Agreement will commence on J“-lj I 2025 and end on
June 30, 2026.

3. Mt. Carmel will pick up or caused to be picked up Bags, Bulky Waste, Bundled
ltems, Construction Debris, Dead Animals, Rubbish, and any other trash, Garbage or
items for disposal that are not Residential Refuse and that are not contained in the Cart

provided by Kingsport.

4. The work under this Interlocal Agreement does not include the collection and
disposal of any increased volume resulting from a flood, tornado, high winds, electrical
storms or other act of God over which Kingsport has no control. In the event of such a
flood, tornado, high winds, electrical storms or other act of God, Kingsport and Mt. Carmel
will negotiate the payment fo be made to Kingsport. Further, if Mt. Carmel and Kingsport
reach such agreement, then Mt. Carmel will grant to Kingsport variances in routes and
schedules as deemed necessary by Kingsport.

My documents/Agreement/Interlocal Agreement Mt. Carmel Garbage Pick Up 5-17-22 |



5. Kingsport has provided 2,175 Carts at 96 gallons at no charge for the collection of
Residential Reuse herein. Only the Carts supplied by Kingsport will be used for this
collection. These Carts will remain the property of Kingsport, except as otherwise
provided in this section. Carts will be assigned to properties by serial number stamped on

each Cart.

6. The current site for the disposal of the Residential Refuse collected hereunder is
the BFI landfill in the Carter's Valley Community. This site is available pursuant to an
agreement between Hawkins County, Tennessee and BFI to which neither Kingsport or
Mt. Carmel is a party. In the event the agreement is ever modified such that it is no longer
available free of charge, the cost hereunder will be re-negotiated.

7. Each Cart will be placed at curbside for collection. Kingsport may indicate the
location for the placement of a Cart. Curbside refers to that portion of right-of-way fronting
the residential dwelling and adjacent to paved or traveled streets. Carts will be placed as
close to the roadway as practicable without interfering with or endangering the movement
of vehicles or pedestrians. When construction work is being performed in the right-of-way,
Cart will be placed as close as practicable to an access point for the collection vehicle.
Kingsport may decline to collect any Cart not placed in accordance with this section.

8. Mt. Carmel agrees to impose the same restrictions and requirements on the
citizens of Mt. Carmel who are serviced by this Interlocal Agreement as Kingsport
imposes on its citizens for Residential Refuse collection, and Mt. Carmel agrees it will
take the action necessary to enforce such requirements, including but not limited to the
requirements for automated Residential Refuse collection. This includes but is not limited
to the requirement that the customer pay for a replacement Cart when the Cart is no
longer reasonable usable, damaged beyond reasonable use, stolen or lost or if the
customer wants an additional Cart.

9. Collection of garbage will not start before 6:00 a.m. or continue after 6:00 p.m. on
the same day. Exceptions to collection hours will be effected only upon the mutual
agreement of the respective public works directors of Mt. Carmel and Kingsport, or when
Kingsport reasonably determines that an exception is necessary in order to complete
collection on an existing collection route due to unusual circumstances.

10.  Collection routes will be established by Kingsport. Kingsport will submit a map
designating the collection routes to Mt. Carmel for its approval, which will not be
unreasonably withheld. Kingsport may from time to time propose to Mt. Carmel changes
in routes or days of collection.

11.  Kingsport observes certain holidays that may alter the scheduled pick up days.
Kingsport has the right to alter the scheduled pick up days due to the observance of a
holiday, but Kingsport will provide collection service at least once per week. The current
holidays include: New Year's Day, Martin Luther King's birthday, Good Friday, Memorial
Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Veterans Day, Thanksgiving Day, the day after
Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day, and at the discretion of Kingsport board of mayor and

My documents/Agreement/interlocal Agreement Mt. Carmel Garbage Pick Up 5-17-22 2



aldermen other days. Kingsport may decide to observe any or all of the above-mentioned
holidays by suspension of collection service on the holiday, but such decision in no
manner relieves Kingsport of its obligation to provide collection service at least once per

week.

12.  The beginning Cart count for this Agreement is 2,175 Carts. A new Cart count will
be established for every twenty-five (25) additional Carts provided. The monthly charge
set out in paragraph 1 will increase by $9.25 per Cart per month upon the establishment
of a new Cart count, or at the newly established rate determined in accordance with
section 20 herein. In no event will the Cart count be reduced.

13.  Kingsport will bill Mt. Carmel for services rendered within ten (10) days following
the end of the month and Mt. Carmel will pay Kingsport on or before the 25th day following
the end of such month. Such billing and payment will be based on the rates set out herein
with permitted adjustments. Kingsport will be entitled to payment for services rendered
regardless of whether or not Mt. Carmel coliects from the customer for such services.

14.  Apartment complexes or condominiums with more than six (6) units will not be
considered residential units and the owners must make their own arrangements for

collection and disposal.

15.  All complaints will be made directly to Kingsport Streets Sanitation Division at 229-
9451 between 8:00 a.m. and 3:00 p.m. Monday through Friday. In the case of alleged
missed scheduled collections, Kingsport will investigate and, if such allegations are
verified, will arrange for the collection of the Refuse not collected within 24 hours after the
complaint is received. However, in no event will Kingsport be required to collect any item
not contained in the Cart.

16. Kingsport will provide an adequate number of vehicles for regular collection
services. All vehicles and other equipment will be kept in good repair, appearance, and
in a sanitary condition at all times. Only truck bodies specifically constructed by a
recognized manufacturer of this type of specialized equipment for handling of garbage
will be acceptable. Each vehicle will have clearly visible on each side a designation
showing the vehicle is Kingsport’s vehicle.

17.  Kingsport will maintain local telephone service where it can be contacted. A person
will be available from 8:00 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. on regularly scheduled collection days.
Kingsport Streets and Sanitation Division has a present address and phone number as
follows: '

609 Industry Drive

Kingsport, Tennessee 37660

423-229-9451

18. Mt Carmel will notify all Producers at Residential Units about complaint
procedures, regulations, and day(s) for scheduled refuse collection by posting such
notification on the Carts.

My documents/Agresment/interlocal Agreement Mt. Carmel Garbage Pick Up 5-17-22 3



19.  Kingsport's employees will be the responsibility of Kingsport, although nothing
herein will be construed to waive any governmental immunity, including such as set forth
in the Governmental Tort Liability Act. Appropriate protective clothing or equipment for
Kingsport's employees is Kingsport's responsibility. Kingsport's employees will deal with
customers and citizens in a courteous manner and will avoid abusive and obscene
language or behavior.

20. In addition to the above, the fees which may be charged by Kingsport will be
increased or decreased at any time upon thirty (30) days notice io Mt. Carmel for
additional rate and price adjustments due to any changes in responsibility of bearing
disposal cost, an increase in the number of Residential Units, such as Mt. Carmel growth
or annexation, and changes in the location of disposal sites. Any change in Kingsport's
cost of operations such as revised laws, ordinances, or regulations will constitute the right
of Kingsport to negotiate with Mt. Carmel an increase to over these additional operating

expenses.

21,  For all purposes of this Agreement unless the context shall otherwise require, the
terms set forth in this Section whenever capitalized in this Agreement will have the
indicated meanings: )

Bags — Bags will mean a bag made of plastic approximately two (2) feet in diameter and
no more than four (4) feet in length and be of sufficient strength to contain the weight of
the contents without breaking open. Such plastic bags must be securely tied and will
contain only leaves and yard trimmings.

Bulky Waste — Bulky Waste will mean stoves, refrigerators (if certification is attached that
freon has been reclaimed), water tanks, washing machines, furniture and other waste
materials other than Construction Debris, Dead Animals, Hazardous Waste or Stable
Matter with weights or volumes greater than those allowed for Containers.

Bundled ltems — Bundled items will mean tree, shrub and brush trimmings or newspapers
and magazines securely tied together forming an easily handled package not exceeding
ten feet in length or 5" inches in diameter.

Construction Debris — Construction Debris will mean waste building materials resulting
from construction, remodeling, repair or demolition operations, specifically excluding dirt
and rock.

Cart - A receptacle with a capacity of ninety-six (96) gallons supplied and owned by
Kingsport.

Dead Animals — Mt. Carmel will continue to pick up Dead Animals. Dead Animals means
animals or portions thereof equal that have expired from any cause, except those
slaughtered or killed for human use.

Disposal Site - A Refuse depository including but not limited to sanitary landfills, transfer
stations. incinerators, materials recycling facilities and waste processing/separation
centers licensed, permitted or approved to receive for processing or final disposal of
Refuse by all governmental bodies and agencies having jurisdiction and requiring such
licenses, permits or approvals.

Garbage - Every accumulation of waste (animal, vegetable and/or other matter) that
results from the preparation, processing, consumption, dealing in, handling, packing,

My documents/Agreement/interlocal Agreement Mt. Carmel Garbage Plck Up 5-17-22 4



canning, storage, transportation, decay or decomposition of meats, fish, fowl, birds, fruits,
grains or other animal or vegetable matter (including, but not by way of limitation, used
tin cans and other food containers; and all putrescible or easily decomposable waste
animal or vegetable matter which is likely to attract flies or rodents), except (in all cases)
any matter included in the definition of Bags, Bulky Waste, Bundle, Construction Debris,
Dead Animals, Hazardous Waste, Rubbish, Stable Matter, or Special Waste.

Hazardous Waste - Any chemical, compound, mixture, substance or article which is
designated by the United States Environmental Protection Agency or appropriate agency
of the State to be "hazardous" as that term is defined by or pursuant to Federal or State
Law.

Producer - An occupant of a Residential Unit who generates Refuse.

Refuse - This term will refer to Residential Refuse generated by a Producer at a
Residential Unit.

Residential Refuse - All Garbage generated by a Producer at a Residential Unit.
Residential Unit - A dwelling within the corporate limits of Mt. Carmel occupied by a
person or group of persons comprising not more than six dwelling units. A Residential
Unit will be deemed occupied when either water or domestic light and power services are
being supplied thereto. A condominium dwelling or an apartment complex whether of
single or multi-level construction, consisting of six or less contiguous or separate single-
family dwelling units, will be treated as a Residential Unit, except that each single-family
dwelling within any such Residential Unit will be billed separately as a Residential Unit.
Rubbish — Rubbish will mean all waste wood, wood products, tree trimmings, grass
cuttings, dead plants, weeds, leaves, dead trees or branches thereof, chips, shavings,
sawdust, printed matter, paper, pasteboard, rags, straw, used and discarded matiresses,
used and discarded clothing, used and discarded shoes and boots, combustible waste
pulp and other products such as are used for packaging, or wrapping crockery and glass,
ashes, cinders, floor sweepings, glass, mineral or metallic substances, and any and all
other waste materials not included in the definition of Bulky Waste, Construction Debris,
Dead Animals, Garbage, Hazardous Waste or Stable Matter.

Special Waste - Any solid waste which requires special processing, handling or disposal
techniques which are different from the techniques normally utilized for handling or
disposal or contains an added element of expense to transport or dispose of or requires
approval from any State agency. Examples of Special Waste may include, but are not
limited to: oil, gas, paint, paint cans, biohazardous waste, white goods, tires, mining
wastes, fly ash, combustion ash, sludges, drilling fluids and drill cuttings, asbestos,
industrial wastes, liquid wastes, infectious wastes and residue, pollution control residue,
debris or contaminated soil and water from the cleanup or a spill.

22.  Neither party will be liable to the other or be deemed to be in breach of this
Agreement for any failure or delay in rendering performance arising out of causes beyond
its reasonable control and without its fault or negligence. Such causes may include but
are not limited to, acts of God or the public enemy, terrorism, severe weather,
thunderstorms, severe wind, significant fires, floods, earthquakes, epidemics, quarantine
restrictions, strikes, freight embargoes, or Governmental Authorities approval delays
which are not caused by any act or omission by either party. The party whose

My documents/Agreement/interlocal Agreement Mt. Carmel Garbage Pick Up 5-17-22 5



performance is affected agrees to notify the other promptly of the existence and nature of
any delay.

23.  No amendment to this Interlocal Agreement will be made except upon the written
consent of the parties.

24.  In the event that any provision or portion of this Interlocal Agreement is found to
be invalid or unenforceable, then such provision or portion thereof will be reformed in
accordance with the applicable laws. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision or
portion of any of this Interlocal Agreement will not affect the validity or enforceability of
any other provision or portion of the Interlocal Agreement.

25.  Upon the occurrence of an alleged default, or a dispute or disagreement between
the parties hereto arising out of or in connection with any term or provision of this
Agreement or, the subject matter hereof, or the interpretation or enforcement hereof (the
“Dispute”), the parties will engage in informal, good faith discussions and attempt 1o
resolve the Dispute. In connection therewith, upon written notice of either party, each of
the parties will appoint a designated officer whose task it will be to meet for the purpose
of attempting to resolve such Dispute. The designated officers will meet as often as the
parties will deem to be reasonably necessary. Such officers will discuss the Dispute. If
the parties are unable to resolve the Dispute in accordance with this paragraph, and in
the event that either of the parties concludes in good faith that amicable resolution through
continued negotiation with respect to the Dispute is not reasonably likely, then the parties
may mutually agree to submit to nonbinding mediation. If the matter is not resolved by
mediation either party will have the right, at its sole option, without further demand or
notice, to take whatever action at law or in equity may appear necessary or desirable to
enforce its rights including, but not limited to, the suspension or termination of this

agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement in duplicate
original counterparts, each of which constitutes an original.

Town of Mount Carmel, Tennessee City of Kingsport, Tennessee
Mayor, John Gibson Paul W. Montgomery, Mayor
Date Date

My documents/Agreement/Interiocal Agreement Mt. Carmel Garbage Pick Up 5-17-22 6



Attest: Attest:

Mount Carmel City Recorder, Tyler Williams Angela Marshall, Deputy City Recorder

Approved as to form: Approved as to form:

Mount Carmel City Attorney, Allen Coup Rodney B. Rowlett, lIl, City Attorney

My documents/Agreement/interlocal Agreement Mt. Camnsl Garbage Pick Up 5-17-22 7



MOUNT CARMEL

3 /J.ﬁvcc 20 ,onz‘//a,w n geals

LEGISLATIVE MEMORANDUM

TO: Honorable Mayor Gibson, Vice Mayor Bare, and Alderman Gilliam,
Alderman Patrick, Alderman Shugart, Alderman Binstock, Alderman Cross

THRU: James Stables, Interim Town Administrator-City Manager

FROM: James Stables, Interim Town Administrator-City Manager

DATE: March 27, 2025

RE: RESOLUTION NO. 25- 647 A RESOLUTION SETTING THE SEWER
RATE AND CHARGES FOR THE TOWN OF MOUNT CARMEL
EFFECTIVE APRIL 1, 2025

SUMMARY:

This resolution will address the Tennessee Comptroller’s communication and establish a
new sewer base rate and charges of $43.88 for the first 2,000 gallons of usage and a fee of
$7.08 for each additional 1,000 gallons of sewage discharged, based upon a discharge rate
equal to ninety percent (90%) of water consumed.

Both rates identified above represent a 35% increase from the previous rates established in
2015. This action will move the sewer fund closer to being solvent. The specific monetary
impact is still to be determined. However, through further staff analysis, estimation and
consultation in order to completely address the structural deficiency of the sewer fund a
75% increase would be needed at this time.

REQUESTING DEPARTMENT(S):
City Manager

FISCAL IMPACT:

Consumers would experience a $11.38 base rate increase for the first 2,000 gallons of usage,
moving from $32.50 to $43.88, and a $1.83 increase for each 1,000 gallons of sewage
discharged, based upon a discharge rate equal to ninety percent (90%) of water consumed,
moving from $5.25 to $7.08. The previous base rate charge per gallon for the first 2,000
gallons was $.01625, and the fee thereafter was $.00525, and the new base rate charge per
gallon for the first 2,000 gallons will be $.02194, and the fee thereafter will be $.00708.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:
Staff recommends approval of this resolution.

ATTACHMENTS:
(1) Resolution 15-529



MOUNT CARMEL

0@/;&@: Zo pat dayuve Aaals

RESOLUTION 25-647

A RESOLUTION TO SET THE SEWER RATE AND CHARGES
FOR THE TOWN OF MOUNT CARMEL, TN, WITH AN
EFFECTIVE DATE OF APRIL 1, 2025

BEFORE THE MAYOR AND ALDERMEN OF THE TOWN OF MOUNT CARMEL,
TENNESSEE

WHEREAS, the sewer rates in effect at the present time and effective since July 1, 2015 are
not adequate to provide revenues equal to the expenditures to operate and maintain the Town’s

wastewater plant and system, and,

WHEREAS, the Town has received a referral to the Tennessee Board of Utility Regulation,
from the State of Tennessee Comptroller to address a deficit budgeting situation for the Sewer
Fund with a recommendation to conduct a rate study and enact new rates, the earliest a rate
study can be completed is 8 months, which is unacceptable to address this situation in a timely

manner, and,

WHEREAS, in consultation with the University of Tennessee, Municipal Technical Advisory
Service-Finance Consultants, a recommendation was made for an immediate increase of at
least 30% to our current rate, through additional analysis by staff we recommend a 35%
increase to the current rate, and,

WHEREAS, to avoid future issues of this nature the town will adopt an annual review and
adoption process where the annualized inflationary rate for the water and sewage
maintenance line as identified in the CPI-U (Consumer Price Index for all Urban Consumers)
is considered and an annual increase is addressed from the data available, and,

WHEREAS, the provision of the sewer system and facility is essential to the preservation of
the public’s health and welfare, and,

WHEREAS, current budgetary requirements with respect to the operation of said facility in
addition to on-going and future projects require the proposed rates to become effective on or
about April 1, 2025, and on or about April 1 for all proceeding years, to enable the Town to
proceed as expeditiously as possible to accomplish the objectives herein cited, and,

WHEREAS, the Mount Carmel Board of Mayor and Aldermen have determined the new
sewer rate to be adequate, reasonable and just, and

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF MAYOR AN ALDERMEN
OF THE TOWN OF MOUNT CARMEL, TENNESSEE, as follows



SECTION L. The Mount Carmel Board of Mayor and Aldermen, deeming it both advisable
and necessary to increase the sewer rate for all users, hereby adopts the following rate
beginning April 1, 2025; and

SECTION II. That the minimum monthly sewer service charge of $43.88 be established for
the first 2,000 gallons of usage and a fee of $7.08 will be charged for each additional 1,000
gallons of sewage discharged based upon a discharge rate equal to ninety (90%) percent of
water consumed.

SECTION III. That on or about February 1, of every year staff will review the CPI-U for the
water and sewage maintenance line, and present to the Board of Mayor and Aldermen a
resolution to address the findings and recommended actions needed during the preceding
March Board of Mayor and Aldermen meeting for any action to take effect on April 1.

Be It Resolved, the 27" day of March 2025

This Resolution was duly considered and adopted by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen, in and
for the Town of Mount Carmel, Tennessee, this 27"t day of March 2025.

John Gibson, Mayor

Attest:

Tyler Williams, Town Recorder



Attachment (1)

RESOLUTION NO. 15-529

A RESOLUTION TO SET THE SEWER RATE
AND CHARGES FOR THE TOWN OF
MOUNT CARMEL EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2015.

WHEREAS, the sewer rates in effect at the present time are not adequate to provide
revenues to defray the increased costs of operation, maintenance and capital

projects of the Town’s sewer facility and system; and

WHEREAS, a Sewer Rate Study has been conducted for the Town of Mount Carmel to
insure that rates, charges and classification are reasonable and to insure that

undertakings are self-supporting; and

WHEREAS, the provision of the sewer system and facility is essential to the preservation of
the public’s health and welfare; and

WHEREAS, current budgetary requirements with respect to the operation of said facility in
addition to on-going and future projects require the proposed rates to become
effective on or about July 1, 2015, to enable the Town to proceed as
expeditiously as possible to accomplish the objectives herein cited; and

WHEREAS, the Mount Carmel Board of Mayor and Aldermen have determined the new
sewer rate to be adequate, reasonable and just.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MOUNT CARMEL
BOARD OF MAYOR AND ALDERMEN:

SECTIONL  The Mount Carmel Board of Mayor and Aldermen, deeming
it both advisable and necessary to increase the municipal sewer rate for all users, hereby
adopts the following rate beginning July 1, 2015; and

SECTIONIL  That the minimum monthly sewer service charge of $32.50
be established for the first 2,000 gallons of usage and a fee of $5.25 will remain the same for
each additional 1,000 gallons of sewage discharged based upon a discharge rate equal to
ninety (90%) percent of water consumed.

Duly passed and approved this the 23rd day of June, 2015.

P,

I@RRY/vhdsr, Mayor




ATTEST:

iy O

MARIAN SANDIDGE, cuy(pecorder




| FIRST READING [ AVEs | NAYS | OTHER |

Alderman Eugene Christian X
Alderman Margaret Christian X
Alderman Wanda Davidson
Alderman Chris Jones
Alderman Carl Wolfe
Vice-Mayor Paul Hale
Mayor Larry Frost

TOTALS

Absent

| x| X X

PASSED FIRST READING June 23, 2015




MOUNT CARMEL

%/J/fmc o /ml‘r/cm i see?y

LEGISLATIVE MEMORANDUM

TO: Honorable Mayor Gibson, Vice Mayor Bare, and Alderman Gilliam,
Alderman Patrick, Alderman Shugart, Alderman Binstock, Alderman Cross

THRU: Jim Stables, City Manager

FROM: Tyler Williams, Assistant City Manager/CFO

DATE: March 27, 2025

RE: RESOLUTION NO. 25-648

SUMMARY:

Discussion and Consideration of Resolution 25-648, which adopts a Public Records Policy
for the Town of Mount Carmel.

The proposed policy aims to strengthen the transparency and accessibility of public
records, ensuring that citizens have the right to access information. This policy will govern
the timely and efficient release of public records, establish clear guidelines for requests, and
implement measures to protect sensitive information.

REQUESTING DEPARTMENT(S):
Administration

FISCAL IMPACT:

None

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:
Staff recommends approval
ATTACHMENTS:

Resolution No. 25-648



MOUNT CARMEL

I place 7o prtdawn 1aa?y

RESOLUTION 25-648

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF MOUNT CARMEL, TENNESSEE
ADOPTING A PUBLIC RECORDS POLICY

WHEREAS, pursuant to Tenn. Code Ann. § 10-7-503(g), every governmental entity subject to
the Tennessee Public Records Act (“TPRA”) (Tenn. Code Ann. § 10-7-501 et seq.), must
establish a written public records policy properly adopted by the appropriate governing authority;
and

WHEREAS, the policy adopted shall not impose requirements on those requesting records that
are more burdensome than state law; and

WHEREAS, the governing body of the Town of Mount Carmel, Tennessee, desires to comply
with state law as it pertains to records management.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen meeting at
Mount Carmel, Tennessee, on this 27% day of March, 2025, that:

SECTION 1. The Public Records Policy for the Town of Mount Carmel, attached to this
Resolution and incorporated herewith, is hereby adopted to provide economical and efficient
access to public records as provided under the Tennessee Public Records Act (“TPRA”) in Tenn.
Code Ann. § 10-7-501, et seq.

SECTION 2. The Public Records Policy is to be reviewed every two years.

This Resolution shall take effect immediately, the public welfare requiring it.

ADOPTED this 27™ day of March, 2025.

John Gibson, Mayor
Attest:

Tyler Williams, Town Recorder



PUBLIC RECORDS POLICY
Town of Mount Carmel, Tennessee

Pursuant to Tenn. Code Ann. § 10-7-503(g), the following Public Records Policy for the Town
of Mount Carmel, Tennessee is hereby adopted by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen to provide
economical and efficient access to public records as provided under the Tennessee Public
Records Act (“TPRA”) in Tenn. Code Ann. § 10-7-501, et seq.

The TPRA provides that all state, county and municipal records shall, at all times during
business hours be open for personal inspection by any citizen of this state, and those in charge of
the records shall not refuse such right of inspection to any citizen, unless otherwise provided by
state law. See Tenn. Code Ann. § 10-7-503(a)(2)(A). Accordingly, the public records of the
Town of Mount Carmel are presumed to be open for inspection unless otherwise provided by
law.

Personnel of the Town of Mount Carmel shall timely and efficiently provide access and
assistance to persons requesting to view or receive copies of public records. No provisions of this
Policy shall be used to hinder access to public records. However, the integrity and organization
of public records, as well as the efficient and safe operation of the Town of Mount Carmel, shall
be protected as provided by current law. Concerns about this Policy should be addressed to the
Public Records Request Coordinator for the Town of Mount Carmel or to the Tennessee Office
of Open Records Counsel (“OORC”).

This Policy is available for inspection and duplication in the office of the City Recorder.
Additionally, this Policy is posted online at www.mountcarmeltn.gov. This Policy shall be
reviewed periodically as needed.

This Policy shall be applied consistently throughout the various offices, departments, and/or
divisions of the Town of Mount Carmel.

I. Definitions

A. Records Custodian: The office, official or employee lawfully responsible for the
direct custody and care of a public record. See Tenn. Code Ann. § 10-7-
503(a)(1)(C). The records custodian is not necessarily the original preparer or
receiver of the record.

B. Public Records: All documents, papers, letters, maps, books, photographs,
microfilms, electronic data processing files and output, films, sound recordings, or
other material, regardless of physical form or characteristics, made or received
pursuant to law or ordinance or in connection with the transaction of official
business by any governmental agency. See Tenn. Code Ann. § 10-7-503(a)(1)(A).

C. Public Records Request Coordinator: The individual, or individuals, designated in

Section 111, A.3 of this Policy who has, or have, the responsibility to ensure public
record requests are routed to the appropriate records custodian and are fulfilled in

Version 1.0- March 2025



accordance with the TPRA. See Tenn. Code Ann. § 10-7-503(a)(1)(B). The Public
Records Request Coordinator may also be a records custodian.

D. Requestor: A person seeking access to a public record, whether it is for inspection
or duplication.

IL. Requesting Access to Public Records

A. Public record requests shall be made to the Public Records Request Coordinator
("PRRC”) or his/her designee, or via online submission, in order to ensure public
record requests are routed to the appropriate records custodian and fulfilled in a
timely manner.

B. Requests for inspection only cannot be required to be made in writing. The PRRC
will request a mailing or email address from the requestor for providing any
written communication required under the TPRA.

C. Requests for inspection may be made orally or in writing on Form A at Town of
Mount Carmel City Hall, 100 Main Street East, Mount Carmel, Tennessee 37645,
by phone at (423) 357-7311, or by email to the office of the City Recorder, or by
email to citvhall@mountcarmeltn.gov.

D. Requests for copies, or requests for inspection and copies, shall be made in
writing on Form A in person or by mail at Town of Mount Carmel City Hall, 100
Main Street East, Mount Carmel, Tennessee 37645, or by email to the office of
the City Recorder, or by email to cityhall@mountcarmeltn.gov.

E. Proof of Tennessee citizenship by presentation of a valid Tennessee driver’s
license or alternative acceptable form of ID is required as a condition to inspect or
receive copies of public records.

III. Responding to Public Records Requests

A. Public Record Request Coordinator

1. The PRRC shall review public record requests and make an initial
determination of the following:

a. If the requestor provided evidence of Tennessee citizenship;

b. Ifthe records requested are described with sufficient specificity to identify
them; and

c. If the town is the custodian of the records.

Version 1.0- March 2025



2. The PRRC shall acknowledge receipt of the request and take any of the
following appropriate action(s):

a. Advise the requestor of this Policy and the elections made regarding:
i. Proof of Tennessee citizenship;
ii. Form(s) required for copies;
iii. Fees (and labor threshold and waivers, if applicable); and
iv. Aggregation of multiple or frequent requests.

b. If appropriate, deny the request in writing, providing the appropriate
ground such as one of the following:

i. The requestor is not, or has not presented evidence of being, a
Tennessee citizen;

ii. The request lacks specificity;

iii. An exemption makes the record not subject to disclosure under the
TPRA;

iv. The town is not the custodian of the requested records; or
v. The records do not exist.
c. If appropriate, contact the requestor to see if the request can be narrowed.

d. Forward the records request to the appropriate records custodian in the
Town of Mount Carmel.

3. The designated PRRCs are:
a. Name or title: Administrative Services Specialist(s)
b. Contact information: Town of Mount Carmel City Hall, 100 Main Street

East, Mount Carmel, Tennessee 37645, (423) 357-7311,
citvhall@mountcarmeltn.gov.

B. Records Custodian

1. Upon receiving a public records request, a records custodian shall promptly
make requested public records available in accordance with Tenn. Code Ann.

Version 1.0- March 2025



§ 10-7-503. If the records custodian is uncertain that an applicable exemption
applies, the custodian may consult with the PRRC, counsel, or the OORC.

2. Ifnot practicable to promptly provide requested records because additional
time is necessary to determine whether the requested records exist; to search
for, retrieve, or otherwise gain access to records; to determine whether the
records are open; to redact records; or for other similar reasons, then a records
custodian shall, within seven (7) business days from the records custodian’s
receipt of the request, send the requestor a completed Public Records Request
Response Form, based on the form developed by the OORC.

3. If arecords custodian denies a public record request, he or she shall deny the
request in writing as provided in Section III.A.2.b and may use the Public
Records Request Response Form.

4. If arecords custodian reasonably determines production of records should be
segmented because the records request is for a large volume of records, or
additional time is necessary to prepare the records for access, the records
custodian shall use the Public Records Request Response to notify the
requestor that production of the records will be in segments and that a records
production schedule will be provided as expeditiously as practicable. If
appropriate, the records custodian should contact the requestor to see if the
request can be narrowed.

5. Ifarecords custodian discovers records responsive to a records request were

omitted, the records custodian should contact the requestor concerning the
omission and produce the records as quickly as practicable.

6. The designated Records Custodian is:
a. Name or title: City Recorder
b. Contact information: Town of Mount Carmel City Hall, 100 Main Street

East, Mount Carmel, Tennessee 37645, (423) 357-7311,

citvhalli@mountcarmeltn.gov.

C. Redaction

1. Ifarecord contains confidential information or information that is not open
for public inspection, the records custodian shall prepare a redacted copy prior
to providing access. If questions arise concerning redaction, the records
custodian should coordinate with counsel or other appropriate parties
regarding review and redaction of records. The records custodian and the
PRRC may also consult with the OORC.

Version 1.0- March 2025



2. Whenever a redacted record is provided, a records custodian should provide
the requestor with the basis for redaction. The basis given for redaction shall
be general in nature and not disclose confidential information.

IV. Inspection of Records
A. There shall be no charge for inspection of public records

B. The location for inspection of records within the offices of the Town of Mount
Carmel shall be determined by either the PRRC or the records custodian.

C. When a reasonable basis exists, the PRRC or a records custodian may require an
appointment for inspection.

V. Copies of Records

A. A records custodian shall promptly respond to a public record request for copies
in the most economic and efficient manner practicable.

B. Copies will be available for pickup at Town of Mount Carmel City Hall.

C. Upon payment for postage, copies will be delivered to the requestor’s home
address by the United States Postal Service.

D. Copies may also be sent to the requestor via email.

E. A requestor will not be allowed to make copies of records with personal
equipment, except to scan or photograph records with a mobile device.
Requestors may purchase storage devices from the town upon which the records
will be downloaded.

VI. Fees and Charges and Procedures for Billing and Payment

Fees and charges for copies of public records should not be used to hinder access to
public records.

A. Records custodians shall provide requestor(s) with an itemized estimate of the
charges prior to producing copies of records and may require pre-payment of such
charges before producing requested records.

B. When fees for copies and labor do not exceed $10.00, the fees may be waived.
Requests for waivers for fees above $10.00 must be presented to the PRRC, who
is authorized to determine if such waiver is in the best interest of Town of Mount
Carmel and for the public good. Fees associated with aggregated records requests
will not be waived.

Version 1.0- March 2025



C. Fees and charges for copies are as follows:

1.

2.

3.

4.

o

$0.15 per page for letter- and legal-size black and white copies.
$0.50 per page for letter- and legal-size color copies.

The actual cost of any other medium upon which a record/information is being
produced.

Labor when time exceeds one hour.

If an outside vendor is used, the actual costs assessed by the vendor.

D. Payment is to be made in cash, by personal check, orby credit card payable
to the town and presented to the City Recorder.

E. Payment in advance will be required when costs are estimated to exceed $10.00.

F. Aggregation of Frequent and Multiple Requests

1.

The Town of Mount Carmel will aggregate record requests in accordance with
the Frequent and Multiple Request Policy promulgated by the OORC

VII. Severability

If a part of this policy is invalid, all valid parts that are severable from the invalid part
remain in effect. If a part of this policy is invalid in one or more of its applications, the
part remains in effect in all valid applications that are severable from the invalid
applications.

VIII. Effective date

This policy shall become effective upon passage, the public welfare requiring it.

Passed on: , 2025
SIGNED:

John Gibson, Mayor
ATTEST:

Tyler Williams, City Recorder
APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Allen Coup, City Attorney

6

Version 1.0- March 2025



PUBLIC RECORDS REQUEST FORM

The Tennessee Public Records Act (TPRA) grants Tennessee citizens the right to access open public records that exist at the time of the
request. The TPRA does not require records custodians to compile information or create or recreate records that do not exist.

(Governmental Entity Name and Name and Contact Information jor the Public Records Request Coordinaior)

To:
(Insert Requestor’s Name and Contact Information (include an address for any TPRA required written response))

From:

Is the requestor a Tennessee citizen? O Yes [0 No

Request: [ Inspection (The TPRA does not permit fees or require a written request for inspection only".)

O Copy/Duplicate

If costs for copies are assessed, the requestor has a right to receive an estimate. Do you wish
to waive your right to an estimate and agree to pay copying and duplication costs in an

amount not to exceed $ ? If so, initial here:
Delivery preference: [ On-Site Pick-Up [0 USPS First-Class Mail
[ Electronic [ Other:
Records Requested:

Provide a detailed description of the record(s) requested, including: (1) type of record; (2) timeframe or
dates for the records sought; and (3) subject matter or key words related to the records. Under the TPRA,
record requests must be sufficiently detailed to enable a governmental entity to identify the specific records
sought. As such, your record request must provide enough detail to enable the records custodian responding

to the request to identify the specific records you are seeking.

Signature of Requestor and Date Submitted Signature of Public Records Request Coordinator and Datc Received

Print Form Reset Form

i Note, Tenn. Code Ann. § 10-7-504(a)(20)(C) permits charging for redaction of private records of a utility.



MOUNT CARMEL

%/;/hcc e /J(.?f//pzuvz tecl?y

LEGISILIATIVE MEMORANDUM

TO: Honorable Mayor Gibson, Vice Mayor Bare, and Alderman Gilliam,
Alderman Patrick, Alderman Shugart, Alderman Binstock, Alderman Cross

THRU: Jim Stables, City Manager

FROM: Tyler Williams, Assistant City Manager/CFO

DATE: March 27, 2025

RE: RESOLUTION NO. 25-649

SUMMARY:

Discussion and Consideration of Resolution 25-649, which adopts a Cybersecurity Policy
for the Town of Mount Carmel.

The purpose of this policy is to provide a baseline for managing and reducing cybersecurity
risks to the Town of Mount Carmel’s infrastructure, information systems, data, and

services. This policy aligns with the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST)
Cybersecurity Framework to ensure consistency, resilience, and effective risk management.

This poelicy will make the Town compliant with T.C.A. § 7-51-2302 and address a prior vear
audit finding for lack of a cybersecurity plan.

REQUESTING DEPARTMENT(S):
Administration

FISCAL IMPACT:

None

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:
Staft recommends approval
ATTACHMENTS:

Resolution No. 25-649



MOUNT CARMEL

ﬂ/)/efrc 70 ,u/«Z':/a/d n dae?s

RESOLUTION 25-649

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF MOUNT CARMEL, TENNESSEE
ADOPTING A CYBERSECURITY POLICY

WHEREAS, pursuant to T.C.A. § 7-51-2302, utilities are required to prepare and implement a
cybersecurity plan to protect their facilities from unauthorized use, alteration, ransom, or destruction of
electronic data; and

WHEREAS, the Town of Mount Carmel desires to comply with state law and is committed to
maintaining the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of its information systems and technology
assets; and

WHEREAS, the cybersecurity policy establishes the minimum requirements for securing the Town’s IT
assets and aligns with the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) Cybersecurity
Framework to ensure consistency, resilience, and effective risk management; and

WHEREAS, this policy applies to all IT assets owned, leased, or operated by the Town of Mount Carmel
and governs all employees, contractors, and third-party service providers who access or use the Town’s
IT systems, data, or infrastructure; and

WHEREAS, all Town departments are required to implement this policy in conjunction with industry-
specific regulations and applicable state and federal laws.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen meeting at Mount
Carmel, Tennessee, on this 27% day of March, 2025, that:

SECTION 1. The Cybersecurity Policy attached hereto as Exhibit A is hereby adopted and shall be
implemented by all Town departments and personnel.

SECTION 2. Town Administration shall monitor adherence to this policy and enforce compliance
through regular assessments and disciplinary actions consistent with the standard procedures outlined in
the Personnel Policies and Procedures document.

SECTION 3.  The policy shall be reviewed bi-annually and updated as needed to address changes in
technology, regulations, or risks.

This Resolution shall take effect immediately, the public welfare requiring it.

ADOPTED this 27" day of March, 2025.

John Gibson, Mayor

Attest:
Tyler Williams, Town Recorder




MOUNT CARMEL

A plece 7o patdewn aealt

Cybersecurity Policy

1. Policy Statement

The Town of Mount Carmel, Tennessee, is committed to maintaining the
confidentiality, integrity, and availability of its information systems and technology
assets. This cybersecurity policy establishes the minimum requirements for securing
the Town’s IT assets.

2. Purpose

The purpose of this policy is to provide a baseline for managing and reducing
cybersecurity risks to the Town of Mount Carmel’s infrastructure, information
systems, data, and services. This policy aligns with the National Institute of
Standards and Technology (NIST) Cybersecurity Framework to ensure consistency,
resilience, and effective risk management.

3. Scope

This policy applies to all IT assets owned, leased, or operated by the Town of Mount
Carmel. It governs all employees, contractors, and third-party service providers who
access or use the Town’s IT systems, data, or infrastructure.

All Town departments are governed by this policy. The following specific departments
are required to implement this policy in conjunction with industry-specific regulations
and applicable state and federal laws.

Administration

Fire Department

Police Department

Animal Control

Public Works

Wastewater Treatment Plant
Library

Version 1.0- March 2025



MOUNT CARMEL

A pluce To patdewn iaels

Cybersecurity Policy

4. Framework

The Town of Mount Carmel adopts the core functions of the NIST Cybersecurity
Framework

a. ldentify

« Maintain an inventory of Town-owned IT assets, including hardware, software,
and data.

« Prioritize critical assets and systems requiring protection based on risk
assessments.

b. Protect

« Implement safeguards such as access controls, encryption, and secure
configurations to protect IT assets and data.

o Establish and enforce user authentication mechanisms and role-based access
controls.

c. Detect

» Deploy continuous monitoring tools to identify cybersecurity threats and
anomalies.
o Perform regular vulnerability assessments and penetration tests to

identify and address potential risks.

d. Respond

« Develop and maintain an incident response plan to mitigate the impact of

cybersecurity incidents.
« Establish a communication process to notify relevant stakeholders in the event of

an incident.

e. Recover

o Implement a business continuity and disaster recovery plan to ensure timely

restoration of critical services.
« Conduct regular backups of critical data and verify the effectiveness of restoration

processes.

Version 1.0- March 2025



MOUNT CARMEL

ﬂﬂﬁn 7 /mt/suu FIT

Cybersecurity Policy

5. Roles and Responsibilities

Designate cybersecurity roles or teams responsible for implementing this policy.
Department Directors are responsible for ensuring compliance with this

policy within their departments
Ensure all employees complete cybersecurity awareness training and

follow established guidelines.

6. Compliance and Enforcement

The Town of Mount Carmel Administration will monitor adherence to this

policy and enforce compliance.
Regular assessments will be conducted to ensure alignment with

applicable regulations.
Disciplinary action related to violations of this policy shall be consistent with

the standard procedures outlined in the Personnel Policies and Procedures
document.

7. Review and Updates

This policy will be reviewed annuaily and updated as needed to address changes in
technology, regulations, or risks.

8. Reference Documents

National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) Cybersecurity
Framework (Public Document).

Version 1.0- March 2025



MOUNT CARMEL

A place 70 prldomet d0als

Cybersecurity Policy

Approval and Signature Page

Date

John Gibson, Mayor

Date

Tyler Williams, Town Recorder

Date

Allen Coup, Town Attorney

Version 1.0- March 2025



MOUNT CARMEL

%/J/ﬁ(:é o /1(42‘//(:(4/41 Y X X1

LEGISLATIVE MEMORANDUM

TO: Honorable Mayor Gibson, Vice Mayor Bare, and Alderman Gilliam,
Alderman Patrick, Alderman Shugart, Alderman Binstock, Alderman Cross

THRU: Jim Stables, City Manager

FROM: Tyler Williams, Assistant City Manager/CFO

DATE: March 27, 2025

RE: RESOLUTION NO. 25-650

SUMMARY:

Discussion and Consideration of Resolution 25-650, which adopts a Fund Balance Policy
for the Town of Mount Carmel.

The purpose of this policy is to provide guidelines during the preparation and execution of
the annual budget to ensure that sufficient reserves are maintained for unanticipated
expenditures or revenue shortfalls. The main objective of establishing and maintaining a
Fund Balance Policy is for the Town to be in a strong fiscal position that will allow for
better position to weather negative economic trends.

The Fund Balance policy establishes 2 minimum General Fund Unassigned fund balance
equal to 25% of General Fund Expenditures. The Town will strive toward maintaining the
General Fund Unassigned fund balance, at a range between twenty-five (25%) and fifty
(50%) percent of the following year's budgeted expenditures as an appropriate level of
unassigned fund balance in order to cover unexpected expenditures and revenue.

REQUESTING DEPARTMENT(S):
Finance

FISCAL IMPACT:

None

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:
Staff recommends approval
ATTACHMENTS:

Resolution No. 25-650



MOUNT CARMEL

._’7«,061(4 7o puZ dasarn taa?s

RESOLUTION 25-650

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF MOUNT CARMEL, TENNESSEE
ADOPTING A FUND BALANCE POLICY

WHEREAS, the Town of Mount Carmel desires to establish a Fund Balance Policy to provide
guidelines during the preparation and execution of the annual budget to ensure that sufficient
reserves are maintained for unanticipated expenditures or revenue shortfalls; and

WHEREAS, the Fund Balance Policy is intended to preserve flexibility throughout the fiscal
year to make adjustments in funding for programs approved in connection with the annual
budget; and

WHEREAS, the Town of Mount Carmel aims to maintain a minimum General Fund Unassigned
fund balance equal to 25% of General Fund Expenditures, striving to maintain a range between
25% and 50% of the following year's budgeted expenditures; and

WHEREAS, the Fund Balance Policy includes guidelines for the investment of fund balances,
prioritization of fund usage, and procedures for replenishment of reserves if the unassigned fund

balance falls below the minimum required level; and

WHEREAS, the Fund Balance Policy will be reviewed annually as part of the budget adoption
process and subsequent closing of the financial books at year-end.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen meeting at
Mount Carmel, Tennessee, on this 27% day of March, 2025, that:

SECTION 1. The Fund Balance Policy attached hereto as Exhibit A is hereby adopted.

SECTION 2. The Town Manager and CFO are authorized to implement the provisions of this
policy and to make recommendations for amendments as necessary.

This Resolution shall take effect immediately, the public welfare requiring it.

ADOPTED this 27% day of March, 2025.

John Gibson, Mayor

Attest:
Tyler Williams, Town Recorder




MOUNT CARMEL

%/)ﬁirc %o puZ dawn doall

Town of Mount Carmel
Fund Balance Policy

Purpose
The Fund Balance Policy is intended to provide guidelines during the preparation and execution

of the annual budget to ensure that sufficient reserves are maintained for unanticipated
expenditures or revenue shortfalls. It also is intended to preserve flexibility throughout the fiscal
year to make adjustments in funding for programs approved in connection with the annual
budget. The Fund Balance Policy should be established based upon a long-term perspective
recognizing that stated thresholds are considered minimum balances. The main objective of
establishing and maintaining a Fund Balance Policy is for the Town to be in a strong fiscal
position that will allow for better position to weather negative economic trends.

The Fund Balance consists of five categories: Non-spendable, Restricted, Committed, Assigned,
and Unassigned.

» Non-spendable Fund Balance consists of funds that cannot be spent due to their
form (e.g. inventories and prepaids) or funds that legally or contractually must be
maintained intact.

o Restricted Fund Balance consists of funds that are mandated for a specific purpose
by external parties, constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

o Committed Fund Balance consists of funds that are set aside for a specific purpose by
the Town’s highest level of decision-making authority (BMA). Formal action must be
taken prior to the end of the fiscal year. The same formal action must be taken to
remove or change the limitations placed on the funds.

o Assigned Fund Balance consists of funds that are set aside with the intent to be used for
a specific purpose by the BMA. Assigned funds cannot cause a deficit in unassigned fund
balance.

o Unassigned Fund Balance consists of excess funds that have not been classified in
the previous four categories. All funds in this category are considered spendable
resources. This category also provides the resources necessary to meet unexpected
expenditures and revenue shortfalls.

10f3
Version 1.0- March 2025



Scope
The Fund Balance Policy shall apply to the Town’s General Fund.

Guidelines for Investment of Fund Balance

The Town shall invest the Fund Balance in a manner that prioritizes the preservation of capital,
maintains sufficient liquidity to meet operational needs, and achieves a reasonable return on
investment. (LGIP, savings account(s), CDs, etc.) Investments shall be made in accordance
with applicable state laws and regulations.

Prioritization of Use
When both restricted and unrestricted funds are available for expenditure, restricted funds

should be spent first unless legal requirements disallow it.

When committed, assigned and unassigned funds are available for expenditure, committed
funds should be spent first, assigned funds second, and unassigned funds last.

Minimum Level of Unassigned General Fund Balance

Unassigned Fund Balance is the residual amount of Fund Balance in the General Fund. It
represents the resources available for future spending. An appropriate level of Unassigned Fund
Balance shall be maintained in the General Fund in order to cover unexpected expenditure and
revenue shortfalls. Such fund balance shall serve cash flow needs, protect against unforeseen
emergencies and enhance the credit worthiness of the Town.

Unassigned Fund Balance may be accessed in the event of one-time capital expenditures, or
unexpected expenditures, up to the minimum established level upon approval of a budget
amendment by the BMA, or as adopted in the annual budget.

The Fund Balance policy establishes a minimum General Fund Unassigned fund balance equal
to 25% of General Fund Expenditures. The Town will strive toward maintaining the General Fund
Unassigned fund balance, at a range between twenty-five (25%) and fifty (50%) percent of the
following year's budgeted expenditures as an appropriate level of unassigned fund balance in
order to cover unexpected expenditures and revenue.

The minimum level of unassigned fund balance shall be reviewed as part of the annual budget
process and the Town Manager or CFO may amend the policy at that time and submit it to the
BMA for approval.

Replenishment of Reserve

If, at the end of any fiscal year, the actual amount of unassigned fund balance falls below the
minimum required fund balance level set forth herein, the Town Manager or CFO shall prepare
and submit a plan to replenish the fund balance to the established minimum level.

20of3
Version 1.0- March 2025



Annual Review

Compliance with the provisions of this policy shall be reviewed as part of the annual budget
adoption process and subsequent closing of the financial books at year-end (June 30) and the
amounts of restricted, committed, assigned and non-spendable fund balance will be
determined. Any residual general fund balance amounts will be classified as unassigned.

Approval and Signatures

Date

John Gibson, Mayor

Date

Tyler Williams, Town Recorder

Date

Allen Coup, Town Attorney

30f3
Version 1.0- March 2025



MOUNT CARMEL

%/}/ﬁ(‘d Ze /)(4’(,‘//1: it 4ee

LEGISLATIVE MEMORANDUM

TO: Honorable Mayor Gibson, Vice Mayor Bare, and Alderman Gilliam,
Alderman Patrick, Alderman Shugart, Alderman Binstock, Alderman Cross

THRU: Tyler Williams, Assistant City Manager/CFO

FROM: Mayor Gibson and Vice-Mayor Bare

DATE: March 27, 2025

RE: DISCUSSION/CONSIDERATION: Parks Committee Meeting

SUMMARY:

Discussion and Consideration of a request by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen to call a
Parks Committee Meeting pursuant to the Parks Committee bylaws adopted by Ordinance
24-531

REQUESTING DEPARTMENT(S):
Mavor and Vice-Mayor
FISCAL IMPACT:

None

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:
N/A

ATTACHMENTS:

None





